RESEARCH CENTER BORSTEL LEIBNIZ-CENTER FOR MEDICINE AND BIOSCIENES DEPARTMENT OF LUNGPHARMACOLOGY

The role of caveolae in the regulation of endothelial cells barrier function

DISSERTATION

zur Erlangung des Akademischen Grades des Doktors der Naturwissenschaften an der Naturwissenschaftlich-Technischen Fakultät der Universität Lübeck

> VORGELEGT VON Eike Reppien aus Rostock

IM DEZEMBER 2006

ICH KANN, WEIL ICH WILL, WAS ICH MUSS.

Immanuel Kant

Danksagung

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde in der Zeit von Januar 2003 bis Dezember 2006 am Forschungszentrum Borstel in der Laborgruppe Lungenpharmakologie angefertigt.Prof. Dr. Ernst T. Rietschel möchte ich besonders für das hervorragende wissenschaftliche Forschungsumfeld in Borstel danken, sowie für sein stetes persönliches Interesse am Fortgang meiner Arbeit.

Mein besonderer Dank gilt Prof. Dr. Stefan Uhlig. Nicht nur für die geduldige Betreuung dieser Arbeit während der gesamten Zeit, sondern vor allem für die Möglichkeit, meine Doktorarbeit in seiner Arbeitsgruppe anfertigen zu können. Durch seine fachliche Kompetenz, die er mit mir in Diskussionen und Gesprächen teilte, gab er mir viele Anregungen und Ideen zum Thema und, über das Thema hinaus, viele Einblicke in die wissenschaftliche Forschung.

Ein besonderen Dank schulde ich meinen Kollegen der Laborgruppe Lungenpharmakologie, speziell Dr. Ulrike Uhlig und Kerstin Viertmann, die mich durch ihre wertvollen praktischen Ratschläge und durch ihre konstruktive Kritik an meiner Arbeit, sowie durch ihre Hilfsbereitschaft und Freundschaft bei der Anfertigung meiner Doktorarbeit unterstützt haben.

Besonders bedanke ich mich auch bei Martina und Dag ("Wir sitzen im selben Boot"), die mich durch ihre Freundschaft auch in schwierigen Situationen im Laboralltag immer wieder aufgemuntert und motiviert haben.

Danken möchte ich weiterhin allen Mitarbeitern der Laborgruppe von Prof. Dr. Helmut Brade und des FZ Borstel für die freundliche Arbeitsatmosphäre und Unterstützung.

Der wichtigste Dank gilt jedoch meinem Freund Jens. Er hat mich bestärkt, wenn ich selbst an der erfolgreichen Fertigstellung meiner Doktorarbeit gezweifelt habe und hat mir den Rücken freigehalten, damit ich mich ganz auf meine wissenschaftliche Arbeit konzentrieren konnte.

Vielen Dank

Eike Reppien

Publications

Publications related to this thesis

Uhlig S., Reppien E., The role of sphingolipids in pulmonary disorders.

Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin 43: 247-251, 2006

Reppien E., Yin J., Kasper M. Kübler WM., Uhlig S., Platelet-activating factor decreases NO levels in pulmonary endothelial cells by sphingomyelinase dependent recruitment of caveolin-1. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Lindner K., Winoto-Morbach S., Reppien E., Drab M., Martin Ch., Dombrowsky H., Ochs M., Schütz S., Uhlig S.,

Thrombin-induced transcellular albumin transport in human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells is mediated by sphingomyelinase-induced caveolin recruitment into lipid rafts. *Manuscript in preparation*

Parts of this work has been presented at conferences

Reppien E., Yin J., Kübler WM., Uhlig S.

PAF-induced sphingomyelinase- dependent regulation of endothelialen NO-synthase in caveolae.

Gemeinsame Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Internistische Intensivmedizin und Notfallmedizin, Saarbrücken 14.07-16.07.2006 (Poster)

Reppien E., Uhlig S.,

Sphingomyelinase-dependent recruitment of caveolin-1 in platelet-activating factor (PAF) induced edema.

International Conference of the American Thoracic Society, San Diego, USA, 20.05-27.05. 2006, Am Thor Soc (2): A 685 (Poster)

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 The lungs	1
1.1.1 Morphology of the lungs	1
1.1.2 Lung endothelium	2
1.1.3 The alveolar-capillary unit	3
1.2 Vascular permeability in lungs	4
1.2.1 Physiology of endothelial permeability	4
1.2.2 Regulation of endothelial permeability	6
1.2.3 Pulmonary edema formation	7
1.3 Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)	8
1.3.1 ARDS	8
1.3.2 Pathophysiology	9
1.4 Platelet-activating factor (PAF)	10
1.4.1 PAF synthesis	11
1.4.2 PAF receptor and signal transduction	13
1.4.3 PAF-induced biochemical effects and mediator release	13
1.4.4 PAF actions in lungs	14
1.5 Thrombin	16
1.6 Sphingolipids	17
1.6.1 Ceramide	18
1.7 Membrane microdomains	19
1.7.1 Cell membrane	19
1.7.2 Ceramide in membrane microdomains	19
1.7.3 Caveolae	20
1.7.4 Caveolin	22
1.7.5 Functional roles of caveolae/caveolin	24
1.7.5.1 Transcytosis, endocytosis and pinocytosis (potocytosis)	24
1.7.5.2 Nitric oxide synthase signaling mechanisms	27
1.7.5.3 Ion channel regulation	28
1.7.6 Models to study edema formation	29
2 Aim of the study	31

3 Material and Methods	32
3.1 Material	32
3.1.1 Animals	32
3.1.2 Cells and cell culture reagents	32
3.1.3 Antibodies	32
3.1.4 Silica beads	34
3.1.5 Inhibitors and substances	34
3.1.6 Buffers and chemical solutions	35
3.1.7 Plastics material	
3.1.8 Equipment	36
3.2 Methods	37
3.2.1 Isolated perfused rat lung (IPL)	
3.2.1.1 Preparation of isolated, ventilated and perfused rat lung (IPL)	37
3.2.1.2 Experimental design of the perfused lung studies	37
3.2.1.3 In situ perfusion of rat lung with cationic colloidal silica beads	
3.2.1.4 Purification of endothelial cell membrane	
3.2.1.5 Isolation of caveolae from silica-coated endothelial cell membrar	ne 38
3.2.1.6 Determination of protein concentration by bicinchoninic acid prot	ein
assay (BCA assay)	39
3.2.1.7 Sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	39
3.2.1.8 Immunoblotting	40
3.2.1.9 Coating of silica-beads with aluminium hydroxide (chlorohydrol)	41
3.2.2 In vitro experiments	41
3.2.2.1 Cell culture	41
3.2.3 Permeability experiments	
3.2.3 1FITC-albumin diffusion	42
3.2.4 Measurement of caveolin-1 levels in HMVEC-L	42
3.2.4.1 Preparation and treatment of HMVEC-L cells for caveolin-1 meas	srument
	42
3.2.4.2 Isolation of membrane microdomaines	43
3.2.4.3 Caveolin-1 content in whole cells	43
3.2.4.4 Caveolin-1 transcription and translation-inhibition	43

3.2.4.5 Ceramide content	44
3.2.4.6 Acid sphingomyelinase activity	44
3.2.5 Microscopic investigation	45
3.2.5.1 In situ fluorescence microscopy	. 45
3.2.5.2 Immunhistochemical analysis of caveolin-1 membrane distribution	. 46
3.2.5.3 Electron microscopical analysis of caveolin-1 in cells	.46
3.2.6 Statistics	46
4 Results	48
4.1 Experiments in isolated perfused rat lungs	48
4.1.1 Role of caveolae	48
4.1.1.1 Prepration and characterisation of caveolae	48
4.1.1.2 PAF increases caveolin-1	50
4.1.2 Role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS)	52
4.1.3 Role of calcium	55
4.1.3.1 Intracellular calcium	55
4.1.3.2 Extracellular calcium	. 56
4.1.4 Role of MAPK	58
4.1.5 Mannose-6-phosphate receptor (M6P-R) is present in caveolae	.59
4.2 In vitro experiments	61
4.2.1 Thrombin effects in human microvascular endothelial cells from lungs	. 61
4.2.1.1 Thrombin stimulates transendothelial FITC-albumin diffusion	. 61
4.2.1.2 Sphingomylinase activity and ceramide content in HMVEC-L cells	.62
4.2.1.3 Thrombin-induces transcytosis by the acid sphingomylinase pathway.	.62
4.2.1.4 Thrombin increase caveolin-1	. 64
4.2.1.5 Thrombin-induced albumin transport in caveolin-1 containing vesicles	65
4.2.2 Thrombin regulates caveolin-1 content	. 65
4.2.2.1 Inhibition of ASM blocks caveolin -1 increase	65
4.2.2.2 Blocking transcription and translation during thrombin stimulation	. 67
4.2.3 Thrombin contributes transport in intact vessels	
	. 69
4.2.4 Extracellular acid sphingomyelinase	. 69 . 69
4.2.4 Extracellular acid sphingomyelinase 4.2.4.1 Ceramide measurement after extracellular ASM treatment in cells	. 69 . 69 . 70

4.2.4.3 External ASM increase FITC-albumin diffusion	71
5 Discussion	73
5.1 PAF in isolated perfused rat lung	
5.1.1 Regulation of caveolin-1 by PAF	73
5.1.2 Caveolin-1 regulates eNOS activity	74
5.1.3 Role of NO in edema formation	75
5.1.4 Role of the mitogene-activated protein kinase (MAPK)	78
5.1.5 Caveolae are sites of calcium entry	80
5.1.6 Hypothetical mechanism of how PAF reduces NO production and inc	reases
calcium by the ASM-ceramide pathway	82
5.2 Thrombin mediated transcytosis	84
5.2.1 Thrombin activates albumin transcytosis	84
5.2.2 Thrombin activates ASM and causes ceramide production	
5.2.3 Thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis via caveolae	87
5.2.3.1 Caveolae and albumin transcytosis	87
5.2.3.2 Thrombin increase caveolin-1	
5.2.3.3 Thrombin-induced activation of caveolin-1 de novo synthesis	90
5.2.3.4 Thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 is mediated by ASM-c	eramide
pathway	90
5.2.4 (Patho)physiological importance of thrombin activates albumin trans	cytosis
	91
5.2.5 Hypothetical mechanism of thrombin induced transcytosis	94
6 Summary	96
7 Deutsche Zusammenfassung	
8 References	100

Abbreviations

ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrom
ASM	acid sphingomyelinase
BPAE	bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cells
Ca ²⁺	calcium
CaSR	calcium sensing receptor
Cav-1	caveolin-1
Cer	ceramide
COP	colloid oncotic pressure
CPAE	calf pulmonary artery endothelial cells
CHX	cycloheximinde
EC	endothelial cells
fdr	false discovery rate (multiple-comparisons) procedure
eNOS	endothelial Nitric-oxide synthase
ERK	extracellular-regulated protein kinases
GPCR	G protein-goupled receptor
HES	hydroxyethylstarch
HMVEC-L	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung
HMVEC-L Imi	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine
HMVEC-L Imi IP3	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
HMVEC-L Imi IP₃ IPL	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung
HMVEC-L Imi IP ₃ IPL MAPK	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases
HMVEC-L Imi IP₃ IPL MAPK MLCK	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases
HMVEC-L Imi IP₃ IPL MAPK MLCK min	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes
HMVEC-L Imi IP ₃ IPL MAPK MLCK min NO	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide
HMVEC-L Imi IP ₃ IPL MAPK MLCK min NO PAF	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor
HMVEC-L Imi IP ₃ IPL MAPK MLCK min NO PAF PAR	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor
HMVEC-L Imi IP3 IPL MAPK MLCK MICK MIC NO PAF PAR PLC	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor phospholipase C
HMVEC-L Imi IP3 IPL MAPK MLCK MICK MICK PAF PAR PLC PI3K	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor phospholipase C phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase
HMVEC-L Imi IP3 IPL MAPK MLCK MICK MICK PAF PAF PAR PLC PI3K SEM	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor phospholipase C phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase standard error
HMVEC-L Imi IP3 IPL MAPK MLCK MICK MICK PAF PAF PAR PLC PI3K SEM SM	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor phospholipase C phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase standard error sphingomyelinase
HMVEC-L Imi IP3 IPL MAPK MLCK min NO PAF PAR PLC PI3K SEM SM SOC	human microvascular endothelial cells from lung imipramine inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate Isolated perfused rat lung mitogen activated protein kinases myosin light chain kinases minutes nitric oxide platelet-activating factor proteinase-activated receptor phospholipase C phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase standard error sphingomyelinase store-operated channel

1.1 The lungs

The lungs are the essential organ of respiration in air-breathing vertebrates. Its principal function is to transport oxygen from the atmosphere into the bloodstream, and to excrete carbon dioxide (CO_2) from the bloodstream into the atmosphere. The lungs are a target for airborne infectious, microbial particles and toxic gases. On the vascular side, the lungs receive the whole cardiac output and therefore the lungs are also a target for blood-borne pathogens and toxins.

1.1.1 Morphology of the lungs

The lungs are located inside the thoracic cavity, protected by the bony structure of the rib

cage and enclosed by a double-walled sac called pleura. In humans, the left lung is smaller than the right one to give way for the heart. The lungs are divided into lobes. The right lung has three lobes and the left lung has two. Figure 1.1 shows a picture from the lungs and its anatomy, which is described below.

The lungs are connected to the upper airways by the trachea and bronchi. The trachea runs down the neck and divides into left and right bronchi. The bronchi enter the lungs and branch out to form the bronchial tree. The bronchi divide into smaller bronchioles, which terminate into alveoli. An alveolus is composed of respiratory tissue and is the site of gas exchange in the lung. The bronchi split up, depending upon species through up to 25 generations into the bronchioles of decreasing diameter. With each generation, the number of



Figure 1.1: Anatomy of the lungs. For more details see text. Adapted from: www.mydr.com.au

airways increases expotential, while the diameter of each single airways decreases. The last seven generations end blindly in the alveoli. The blind ending alveoli are 0.2 to 0.3 mm in diameter and surrounded by a net of capillaries (5 μ m in diameter) with a surface area of up to 300 m² in humans.

Two different blood systems supply the lungs: the pulmonary and the bronchial vessels. The pulmonary circulation, a low pressure system, starts at the right ventricle leaving the heart through the pulmonary artery where it gets enriched with oxygen and ends in the left heart ventricle. The bronchial circulation supplies the central airways and vessels as well as the lungs lymph nodes with oxygen.

The lungs are a complex cellular system, consisting of more than 40 highly organised cells types. The alveolar wall is built up mainly of flat alveolar type I pneumocytes and thicker type II pneumocytes. The functions of these cells in the lungs are different. The main function of type I cells, which have a low number of organelles, is to facilitate gas exchange. The type II cells synthesise, store and release the pulmonary surfactant, a complex mixture of 90% phospholipids and 10% proteins. In addition, these cells are rich in organelles, which indicates a high metabolic activity.

To protect the body from particles, toxins and organisms transported by the incoming air, the lungs possess a variety of defense mechanisms. The ciliary epithelium and mucus secreting glands in the upper airways clear most of the air, while alveolar macrophages clean the alveolar surface. Inflammatory defense mechanims can be triggered by type II, endothelial and epithelial cells and lead to neutrophil migration and subsequent activation of specific immune responses. Specific immune cells like lymphocytes are found mainly in the upper airways.

1.1.2 Lung endothelium

The endothelium is the layer of thin, flat cells that lines the interior surface of blood vessels, forming an interface between the intravascular space and the vessel wall. Its permeability is selective and can be regulated by the organism. The lung endothelium is composed of the macrovascular and microvascular endothelium. The macrovascular endothelial cells are involved in vasoconstriction and vasodilation. And therefore in regulating the vascular tone. The microvascular endothelium controls the exchange of metabolic substances and cells from the blood with the surrounding tissue. The endothelial cells are connected through thight junctions.

The large surface area of the lungs makes them a major target for microorganisms, toxins and other pathogenic patricles out of the environment penetrating the lungs capillaries. Therefore the pulmonary endothelium plays a central role in the induction of inflammation processes. Its functions can be altered by a variety of circulating vasoactive proteins, hormones, cytokines and inflammatory mediators. The activation of endothelial cells promotes the adhesion of leukocytes and migration into the lungs. The same processes that allow defensive reactions in order to protect the organism from the environment can also result in barrier dysfunction and lung edema development.

1.1.3 The alveolar-capillary unit

The major function of lungs are to transport O_2 from the atmosphere into the bloodstream and excrete CO_2 from the bloodstream into the atmosphere. This exchange of gases is accomplished in the alveolar-capillary unit. This blood-air barrier, with a diameter of 0.2-0.6 µm, is built up by several thin cell membrane layers: the endothelium, facing the blood compartment, the interstitial space and the alveolar epithelium, lining the air spaces. The total alveolar surface area sums up to 50-100 m² and is about 50 times bigger than the whole outer body surface area [238].

Each aveolus is covered with a fine capillary network. One capillary segment has a diameter of 10-14 μ m, each alveolus holds up to 100 segments. The surface area of the lung capillaries has been estimated at 70 m², whereas the combined surface area of arteries, arterioles, veins and venules is only about 5 m².

An electron microscopic images of the alveolar-capillary unit is shown in figure 1.2. It shows an erythrocyte in the position to exchange blood gases (O_2 and CO_2) with the air in the alveolar space. The alveolar-capillary membrane has to be thin enough to allow gas diffusion, but still has to provide protection against the environment. All cells involved have a flat shape and a low number of organelles. The inner alveolar surface is covered by the surface active surfactant, which among other functions seals the lung almost completely against salty solutions.



Figure 1.2: The alveolar-capillary unit: electron microscopic image. A (alveolus), C (capillary), E (endothelial cell), I (interstitium, R (ery-throcyte), COL (collagen fibers). Adapted from K. Lindner

The diffusion of oxygen into the body is driven by the difference of the partial gas pressure in the air and the blood. The amount of oxygen that is taken up in a certain time can be determined from artial and venous oxygen concentrations and the passing blood volumina (Fick's principle):

$V_{O2}/t = V_{blood} \times (C_a-C_v)$

 $V_{\mbox{\scriptsize O2}}/\,t\,$ is the volume of oxygen taken up per time

V_{blood} is the volume of blood passing per time

 C_a - C_v is the difference of arterial and venous oxygen concerntration [2].

1.2 Vascular permeability in lungs

1.2.1 Physiology of endothelial permeability

The vascular endothelium lining the intima of the blood vessels regulates a variety of functions. The maintencance by the endothelium of a semi-permeable barrier is important in controlling the passage of macromolecules and fluid between blood and interstitial space.

The characteristic permeability of transported macromolecules is dependent on molecular radii as well as the barrier properties of particular endothelium.

The barrier properties of the different endothelial membranes in the pulmonary microvasculatur are not uniform: macromolecular diffusion in postcapillary venules is greater than in arterioles, when measured in whole lung model [221]. Cultured microvascular endothelial cells exhibit tenfold higher barrier properties than macrovascular cells when measured by electrical resistance across the monolayer [26]. Differences in vascular permeability can be explained, when two main physiological mechanims for permeability of endothelium are considered. First, vascular leakage due to the endothelial gap formation leads to increased diffusion rates across the endothelial barrier (Fig. 1.3) [14, 178].



Figure 1.3: Endothelial gap formation: Comparison of a normal endothelial cell junction and one with an endothelial gap formation from McDonald et al. 1999 [178]

One driving force for liquid flow is the transmicrovascular osmotic gradient. This gradient can be actively established by protein transport across vascular wall through gap formation between the endothelial cells. Theoretical analysis together with experimental findings indicate that protein convection together with basal diffusion must be the primary mechanism, and not transcellular transport [184].

A pathway for proteins with effective diameter of 3 to 4 nm is provided by pores in the endothelium [182]. Also, size dependent passing of macromolecules through endothelial junctions has been reported, but electron microscopic data show no evidence for albumin located within the junctions [106]. A second route for liquid and proteins across the endothelial barrier is transcellular transport via caveolae. Small vesicles can be formed out of membrane invaginations called caveolae. One of the initial observations of caveolae me-

rol-binding agent is an inhibitor of caveolae formation. Therefore, filipin can reduce the transcytosis of albumin and insulin without affecting chlathrin-dependent pathways, the classic mechanism by which macromolecules are transported via vesicles across the cells [247]. The mechanisms of the transcellular transport via caveolar vesicles is poorly understood.

1.2.2 Regulation of endothelial permeability

The integrity of endothelial barrier is usually maintained by a healthy organism. This is a critical requirement for preservation of pulmonary function. During inflammation, the endothelium can be activated to allow fluid, proteins and polymorphonuclear neutrophils to migrate from the vascular space into the interstitium and subsequently into the surrounding tissue. This is regulated by a variety of inflammatory mediators and intracellular signalling cascades.

Regulation of endothelial cell gap formation and therefore permeability is a function of a dynamic balance between competing adhesive, barrier-promoting tethering forces and contractile, tension-producing forces. Both events have been linked to changes of the actin-based cytoskeleton.

The most intensively studied model of endothelial barrier dysfunction is the thrombin-induced increase of cell monolayer permeability in cell culture. Thrombin evokes numerous endothelial cell responses which contributes to hemostasis, thrombosis, vessel wall pathophysiology and also the development of intercellular gap formation. Thrombin induces rapid cytoskeletal rearrangement and contractile force in the cell, dependent on actomyosin interaction. This mechanism leads to stress fiber formation and cell contraction. It is mediated by phosphorylation of myosin light chains (MLC) by Ca²⁺/calmodulin (Ca²⁺/CaM) dependent myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) activity [278, 313]. The MLCK activity was shown to depend on tyrosine phosphorylation of the protein [92]. In addition, the small GT-Pase Rho and its downstream effector Rho kinase regulates stress fiber formation and subsequent endothelial barrier dysfunction [2, 141]. Rho kinase phosphorylates the myosin binding subunit of MLC phosphotase, which leads to inhibition of its phosphatase activity. In addition, direct phosphorylation of MLC by Rho kinase is possible.

Adhesive forces between cells exist in a dynamic equilibrium with the described contractile

forces in order to maintain and reestablish barrier integrity. The primary adhesive protein present in human endothelium is vascular endothelial (VE) cadherin [55]. Blocking of VE-cadherin increases endothelial permeability as shown in cultured endothelial cells (human umbilical vein endothelial cells, HUVEC) [139] and in vivo (mouse) [50].

The transcellular pathway is generally considered to be of less significance for fluid transport. It was shown that this pathway is tyrosine kinase dependent and gp60 mediated, but its regulation and function is still unclear [248, 281].

1.2.3 Pulmonary edema formation

Pulmonary edema is defined by the accumulation of serous fluid by transsudation from the pulmonary vascular space into the interstitium and the alveolar space. This condition may causes hypoxemia and hypercapnia [29]. Pulmonary edema is either due to direct damage to the tissue (non-cardiogenic edema) or a result of inadequate functioning of the heart or the circulatory system (cardiogenic edema). The cause of cardiogenic or hydrostatic edema is a high lung capillary pressure. The edema which is independent of enhanced hydrostatic pressure is called high permeability or non-cardiogenic edema. The cause of this edema formation is altered permeability of the endothelial cells for water and proteins. Non-cardiogenic edema and hypoxemia represent the hallmarks of ARDS. Table 1.1 shows some causes of cardiogenic and non-cardiogenic edema formation.

Cardiogenic causes:	Non-cardiogenic causes
Heat failure by left heart insufficiency	Inhalation of toxic gases
Severe cardiac arrhythmia (Tachycardia/fast	Blood transfusions
heartbeat or bradycardia/slow heartbeat)	Severe infection
Severe heart attack	 Pulmonary contusion i.e. high-energy
Hypertensive crisis	trauma
• Excess body fluids, e.g. from kidney failure	• Multitrauma, e.g. severe car accident
 pericardial effusion with tamponade 	Aspriation of gastrine contents
Eluid overload, e.a. from kidnev failure	Certain types of medication
	Upper airway obstruction
	• Reexpansion, i.e. postpneumonectomy or
	large volume thoracentesis

Table 1.1: A range of several causes of pulmonary edema

The liquid flux between the vessels and the interstitial space is affected by several parameters. The total liquid flux can be described by the modified Starling equation of Pappenheimer and Soto-Rivera [210]:

$Jv = Kf,c [(Pc - Pi) - \sigma (\pi p - \pi i)]$

Where J_v represents the filtrations rate, $K_{f,c}$ the capillary filtration coefficent, Pc-Pi the difference between capillary blood and hydrostatic tissue pressure, σ the reflection coefficent of the plasma proteins and (πp - πi) the difference between oncotic and interstitial pressure. Under physiological conditions the forces in this system are in balance and small amounts of excess water are drained by the lymphatic system. Imbalances in the "Starling system" lead to an accumulation of fluid in the interstitial space causing problems in gas exchange. Depending on the extent of interstitial fluid accumulation and the integrity of the epithelial barrier interstitial edema may develop into alveolar edema. The cause of edema formation in non-cardiogenic or high permeability edema is altered permeability for water ($K_{f,c}$ enhanced) and/or proteins (σ enhanced).

1.3 Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)

1.3.1 ARDS

ARDS is a clinical manifestation of severe, acute lung injury. It is characterised by the acute onset of diffuse, bilateral pulmonary infiltrates and later by development of non-cardiogenic pulmonary edema, refractory hypoxia (defined as the ratio of partial oxygen tension (PaO₂) as fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂); PaO₂:FiO₂ < 200 mmHg) and decreased lung compliance. Acute respiratory distress syndrome occurs most frequently in the setting of direct or indirect lung injury. Table 1.2 shows an overview of conditions associated with ARDS. Its complex pathophysiology involves an inciting local or systemic event that initiates pulmonary endothelial and epithelial damage and subsequent increased permeability. Tachypnea, hypoxia, and respiratory alkalosis are typical early clinical manifestations, and they are usually followed by the appearance of diffuse pulmonary infiltrates and respiratory failure within 48 hours.

This condition is life-threatening and often lethal. The mortality of ARDS ranges between

40-60%. A less severe form is called acute lung injury (ALI, see below).

Direct lung injury	Indirect lung injury
• Pneumonia	• Sepsis
Aspiration of gastric contents	Multiple trauma
Pulmonary contusion	Multiple blood transfusion
• Fat emboli	Cardiopulmonary bybass
Inhalation injury	• Burns
• Near-drowning	Acute pancreatitis
Reperfusion pulmonary edema	Drug overdose

Table 1.2: Conditions associated with ARDS. Ware et.al. 2000 [306]

The first description of ARDS appeared in 1967 by Ashbaugh and colleagues [11]. Initially, there was no general definition, resulting in controversy over incidence and mortality. In 1988 an expanded definition was proposed that guantified the physiologic respiratory impairment through the use of a four point lung-injury scoring system that was based on the level of positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP), the ratio of the partial pressure of arterial oxygen to the fraction of inspired oxygen, the static lung complaince, and the degree of infiltration evident on chest radiographs [11, 192]. Other factors included in the assement were the inciting clinical disorder and the presence or absence of no-pulmonary organ dysfunction [11, 192]. In 1994 a new definition was recommended by the American-European Consensus Conference Committee [18]. The consensus definition has two advantages. First, it recognizes that severity of clinical lung injury varies: patient with less severe hypoxemia (is defined by a ratio of partial pressure of arterial oxygen to the fraction of inspired oxygen of 300 mmHg or less) are considered to have acute lung injury (ALI), and those with more severe hypoxemia (as defined by a ratio of 200 mmHg or less) are considered to have the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Second, the definition is simple to apply in the clinical setting [18].

1.3.2 Pathophysiology

The development of ARDS is characterised by biological and clinical complexity. A major characteristic is the initially occuring high permeability edema [267]. The lungs histology shows denudation of epithelial lining cells, endothelial cell swelling and marked neu-

trophilic inflammation.

The clinical and physiological manifestations of ARDS appear to arise from lung cell injury like structural damage of cells that may lead to necrosis or apoptosis, cell denudation, ischemic cell death, or metabolic dysfunction. The injury to the endothelium results in increased capillary permeability and the influx of protein-rich fluid into the alveolar space. Injury to the alveolar lining cells also promotes pulmonary edema formation. Damage to type I cells increases entry of fluid into the alveoli and decreased clearance of fluid from the alveolar space. Damage to type II cells results in decreased production of surfactant. Thogether this results in decreased compliance and alveolar collapse.

The neutophils (also some T-lymphocytes) quickly migrate into the inflamed lung parenchyma and can release oxidants, proteases, LTC₄, and other proinflammatory molecules, such as platelet-activating factor (PAF) [18, 192]. Neutrophils are also present in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) [215].

Cytokines secreted by local epithelial and endothelial cells, such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα), interleukin-1, 6, 8 and 10 (IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10), leukotrienes (LTC), macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF), and numerous others, along with platelet sequestration and activation, also are important in the development of ARDS [176, 215].

The mechanisms of ARDS and edema formation have been intensively investigated, but many questions are still open. It is known that the pathological changes seen in ARDS are mediated by a variety of inflammatory mediators participating in complex networks of interactions. In this respect, products of cyclo- (COX) and lipooxygenase (LOX) [31, 73], as well as cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [276] have been discussed. One particularly important mediator is the platelet-activating factor (PAF) [175, 188, 193].

1.4 Platelet-activating factor (PAF)

PAF (1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine) is a biologically active lipid mediator that is thought to contribute to a variety of inflammatory lung diseases. After discovery of PAF in rabbit platelets in 1972 by Benveniste *et al* [17] it has been shown that is produced by a variety of different cells. The three dimensional model and chemical structure of PAF is show in figure 1.4. PAF is one of the most potent proinflammatory mediators and in

some instances PAF is effective at concentrations as low as 10⁻¹²M [287]. In addition, PAF has been implicated in asthma, sepsis, ALI and ischemia/reperfusion injury [4, 111, 112, 263].



Figure 1.4: A typical molecule of PAF (1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine)

1.4.1 PAF synthesis

PAF is synthesised by two different pathways (Fig. 1.5), the remodelling pathway and the *de novo* pathway [190]. The remodelling pathway for PAF synthesis is show in figure 1.5.a. and described below. The PAF synthesis is initiated by the activation of phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂), which may act on 1-O-alkyl-2-arachidonoyl-glycerolphosphocholine to yield lyso-PAF and free arachidonic acid (AA). The lyso-PAF is acetylated by a specific lyso-PAF acetyltransferase using acetyl coenzyme A (Co~A) as a donor. Alternatively PLA₂ may act on arachidonate-containing plasmalogen phosphatidylethanolamine to release free arachidonate.



Figure 1.5: The remodelling pathway for PAF synthesi (a), PLA2 cleaves AA from 1-O-alkyl-2-arachidonoyl glycerophosphocholine to yield lyso-PAF. Lyso-PAF is acetylated using acetyl Co~A as a donor. Alternatively PLA2 acts on plasmalogen phosphatidyl-ethanolamine to release arachidonate. The generated lysophosphatidylethanolamine acts as an acceptor for arachidonate from the PAF-precursor with formation of lyso-PAF. The de novo pathway for PAF synthesis (b): 1-O-alkyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphate is acetylated by 1-O-alkyl-sn-glycero-3phosphate:acetyltransferase and then transformed into 1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycerols. The latter gets converted to PAF by CDP-cholinephosphotransferase

The lyso-phosphatidylethanolamine may act as an acceptor for arachidonate in a transacylation reaction from the PAF precursor with formation of lyso-PAF. Therefore, the activation of PLA₂ is essential for generation of lyso-PAF and triggering the remodelling pathway. The activation of lyso-PAF acetyltransferase, which is modulated by a phosphorylation/dephosphorylation cycle, is a limiting factor for generation of biologically active PAF. Figure 5.1.b shows the *de novo* pathway of PAF synthesis and is described below. In brief, the direct precursors of PAF (1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycerols, formed via an acetylation-dephosphorylation sequence catalysed by acetyl Co~A: 1-alkyl-2-lyso-sn-glycero-3-phosphate acetyltransferase and 1-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphate phosphohydro-lase) are converted to PAF by a specific CDP-choline: 1-alkyl-2-sn-acetyl-sn glycerol cholinephospho-transferase. This pathway is mainly involved in the constitutive PAF synthesis and is regulated only by the availability of substrates [35, 226, 257]. In addition, PAF

catabolism is mainly due to PAF acetylhydrolase (PAF-AH) action by cleavage of the short acetyl chain at the 2-sn position to form the biologically inactive lyso-PAF.

1.4.2 PAF receptor and signal transduction

In various cells and tissues a wide variety of physiological and pathophysiological effects are triggered by PAF. PAF signals through specific receptors and a variety of signal transduction systems to elicit its diverse biochemical responses. In many different tissues including lung, heart and liver the PAF receptor (PTAFR, encoded by the human *PTAFR* gene) is expressed on the cell surface [197, 287]. The PTAFR consists of seven transmembrane domains, a characteristic of the G protein-coupled receptor superfamily (GP-CRs). Although it is generally accepted that the PTAFR is coupled to various cellular effector systems such as PLA₂ and PLC through G-proteins, the particular of proteins involved in signal transduction is sometimes unclear and probably differs depending on the cell type. For example, it has been shown that PAF stimulates PLC via G_q and G_p, whereas adenylate cyclase is inhibited via G_i [41]. The identity and properties of the G-protein regulating the activity of PLA₂ remains uncertain [41]. One key factor in PAF-induced signal transduction is the polyphosphoinositide turnover [41, 257]

1.4.3 PAF-induced biochemical effects and mediator release

PAF causes phosphorylation of PTAFR, tyrosine phosphorylation of various proteins, activation of PLA₂ and PLC and of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and Akt, increased phosphatidylinositol turnover, activation of mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and increased cytosolic calcium levels [71, 115]. The G_{i/q}-protein dependent phosphatidylcholine specific phospholipase C (PI-PLC) mediates the hydrolyses of phosphatidylcholine and leads to generation of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP₃ mobilises intracellular calcium via IP₃ receptors (IP₃-R) whereas DAG mediates protein kinase C (PKC) activation [41, 257]. In addition to the formation of DAG and IP₃, PTAFR activation also induces the generation of arachidonic acid [287] a precursor of eicosanoids. These lipid mediators play an important role in many physiological and pathophysiological processes such as bronchoconstriction, vasoconstriction and lethal shock [214, 242, 269, 318].

1.4.4 PAF actions in lungs

The platelet-activating factor plays a central role in many pulmonary disorders [286, 287]. In the past years, our group investigated and characterised the mechanisms by which PAF causes airway hyperresponsiveness, bronchoconstriction, pulmonary vasoconstriction and edema formation. All these actions of PAF start within minutes and are mediated by lipid mediators. On the next page figure 1.6 summarises the established PAF actions in lungs.



Figure 1.6: Mechanisms of PAF-induced bronchoconstriction, vasoconstriction and edema. TXA = thromboxane, LT = Leukotriene, ASM = acid sphingomyelinase, PGE = prostaglandine E, PTGER3 = prostaglandine E recptor 3. For futher details see text. Adapted from Uhlig S and Reppien E. 2005 [287]

The airway hyperresponsiveness is mediated by thromboxane [108], the vaso- and bronchoconstiction by both thromboxane and leukotrienes [64, 286, 289, 292] that contract bronchial and vascular smooth cells largely by activation of Rho-kinase [173].

Rho-kinase appears to play a dual role, because it regulates both thromboxane release and thromboxane action. Leukotrienes, particularly LTC₄/ LTD₄, are synthesised from arachidonic acid (AA) by 5-lipooxygenase, and do also mediate the effects in PAF-induced vaso- and bronchoconstriction [64, 292]. Inhibition of leukotriene (with AA861) alone or in combination with thromboxane receptor antagonism (SQ29548) prevents the vaso- and bronchoconstriction, but does not affect edema formation in isolated perfused rat lung [64].

Thus edema formation induced by PAF occurs independent from changes in hydrostatic pressure. Also, in our model of the isolated perfused rat lung hydrostatic pressure as a cause of pulmonary edema is excluded by constant pressure perfusion [287]. The fact that PAF causes edema by increasing vascular permeability is supported by measurements of the capillary filtrations coefficient [64, 291]. Over the past years, our group observed that the PAF-induced edema formation is blocked independently and additively by cyclooxy-genase inhibition and by quinolines [94, 95]. Therefore our group began to examine these pathways.

One pathway is cyclooxygenase-dependent and mediated by PGE₂ [94]. PGE₂ is a mediator that has long been suspected of playing a critical role in many models of edema formation [9, 170] The first direct evidence for PGE₂ as a mediator of edema formation was described in *in vivo* model (rat) that used a neutralizing anti-PGE₂ antibody to prevent carrageenan-induced paw edema [216]. In isolated perfused rat lung it was shown that PAF administration stimulates release of PGE₂ and that the perfusion with a neutralizing anti-PGE₂ antibody attenuated the PAF-induced edema formation [94]. Further investigations showed that PGE₂ triggers pulmonary edema by activation of EP3 receptors [94, 268]. The oedematogenic properties of EP3 receptors may be explained by their ability to decrease intracellular cAMP levels and increase cellular calcium concentration, two phenomena that are frequently linked to increased vascular permeability [191, 252].

The other pathway was subsequently shown to involve activation of acid sphingomyelinase and ceramide formation [96]. The conclusion, that ASM and ceramide contribute to PAF-induced edema, was based on the following findings in mice *in vivo* and in isolated perfused rat lung experiments [96]: in isolated perfused rat lung perfusion with C₂-ceramide (long chain ceramide such as C_{16} or C_{18} (natural forms) are insoluble) caused severe edema and application of ceramide-specific antibodies in mice *in vivo* and the IPL reduced the extent of PAF-induced edema. Inhibition of ASM by pharmacological (D609, inhibitor of ceramide biosynthesis [252] or imipramine that induces proteolytic degradation of ASM [1, 118]) or genetic means (Smpd1^{-/-} mice) prevented the increase in ceramide and attenuated pulmonary edema formation in response to PAF. A complete inhibition was only achieved by combining ASM deficiency or D609 with the cyclooxygenase inhibitor acetyl salicylic acid (ASA). This simultaneous blockade of ASM and cyclooxygenase

demonstrated that PAF-induced edema through ASM/ceramide independent of cyclooxygenase mechanisms [96]. How PAF induces edema by ASM dependent production of ceramide is largely unknown. There are reasons to believe that ceramide may be generated in the outer leaflet of the cell membrane by extracellularly active ASM:(i) an extracellular form of ASM is now well established [178], (ii) vascular endothelial cells are rich and regulated source of secretory ASM [178], (iii) 95% of sphingomyelin, the substrate of ASM, is present in the outer leaflet of the membrane [147, 273] and (iv) PAF increases the activity and the amount of extracellular ASM [96]. How ASM-derived ceramide causes pulmonary edema was partly investigated by Lindner *et al* [156]. They observed that ceramide increases transendothelial permeability by a non-apoptotic mechanism, which is independent of cytoskeletal rearrangement [156]. The mechanism by which ASM-metabolites regulate vascular permeability are unknown and subject of the present thesis. One hypothesis is that ceramide may be simply necessary to form lipid rafts (caveolae) [99, 100] which are required as a platform for signalling molecules of several cascades.

1.5 Thrombin

Thrombin is a serine protease that is generated in circulating plasma by the cleavage of prothrombin, via the prothrombinase. It converts fibrinogen to fibrin in the blood coagulation complex and activates factor X, V, Ca^{2+} and membrane phospholipids [98], other components of this complex, which are essential for the proteolytic reaction. The proteolytic active form is called α -thrombin.

The thrombin receptors (protease-activated receptor, PAR-1, 2, 3, 4) are present on many different cell types, including endothelial cells, platelets, fibroblasts, mast cells, macrophages and leukocytes [199]. In addition to this, thrombin activates G protein-coupled protease activated receptors (PAR-1, PAR-3, and PAR-4) and promotes numerous cellular effects. Also, thrombin induces the release of specific inflammatory mediators, which are involved in tissue repair and inflammatory and proliferative processes. Thrombin is chemotactic for monocytes and lymphocytes [15, 23] and mitogenic for vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts and epithelial cells [43, 180, 225]. It also plays a role in other biologic processes, for example carcinogenesis [110].

Thrombin has a variety of effects on the endothelium and endothelial cells possess high-

affine receptor sites that bind thrombin in a reversible manner. It is also described that human endothelial cells in culture produce PAF when stimulated with thrombin [114, 220]. Concerning its interaction with endothelial cells, thrombin also increases transendothelial permeability in cell monolayer [36, 87]. The mechanism involved Rho-kinase (RhoK) [36, 63] and the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent MLCK [80, 81, 82]. Activated RhoK and MLCK activation enhances actin-myosin interaction, central stress fibre formation, EC contraction and gap formation. These are indicators of barrier disruption, and increased vascular permeability [60, 82]. However, when applied to isolated perfused lung, edema is only at constant flow prefusion [308] and thrombin does not cause permeability alteration in the vasculature.

1.6 Sphingolipids

Sphingolipids are a class of lipids, which are essential for the structure and function of cells in particular in the membrane. There are three main types of sphingolipids: ceramide, sphingomyelins and glycosphingolipids, which differ in the substituent on their head group. On the next page figure 1.7 shows chemical structure of all three noted sphingolipids. Formerly considered to serve only as structural components, sphingolipids are emerging as an important group of signaling molecules involved in many physiological and (patho)physiological cellular events, including proliferation, apoptosis, stress and inflammation responses [13, 96, 108, 315].



Figure 1.7: **Overview of sphingolipids**: Sphingomyelin has a phosphocholine or phosphoethanolamine head group (red) and is a common constituent of plasma membranes. Ceramide has a polar "head group", esterified to the terminal hydroxyl of sphingosine. Glycosphingolipide, that including cerebrosides and gangliosides, are commonly found in the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. The lipid cerebroside has a monosaccharide such as glucose or galactose as the polar head group (red border) and ganglioside has a polar head group that is a complex oligosaccharide.

1.6.1 Ceramide

Ceramide is a sphingosine-based lipid signalling molecule involved in the regulation of many biological processes, including cellular differentiation [20], proliferation [205], apoptosis [144, 145, 200] and growth inhibition [21]. The amount of ceramide within cells is regulated by intracellular production and degradation, is triggered by various stresses and controlled by ceramide-associated enzymes such as sphingomyelinase isoforms (two different forms exist: acid- and neutral sphingomyelinase; ASM and NSM), ceramidase, glucosylceramide synthase (GCS) and sphingomyelin synthase (SMS). The activity of each form of sphingomyelinase is dependent on the local pH. The ASM acts extracellularly as well as in acidic compartments like lysosomes whereas NSM generates ceramide intracellularly close to the inner membrane. Ceramide can be also generated by *de novo* synthesis, catalysed by the enzyme ceramide synthase [106]. The *de novo* pathway of ceramide has been implicated in chemotherapy-induced apoptosis of some cancer cells [207].

Other mediators which activate sphingomyelinase are TNF α , IL1 β , nerve growth factor, FAS and CD40 which are typical mediators of inflammation, stress, heat shock, irradiation, UV light, bacterial or viral infections [102, 104, 120, 144, 145, 252]. The mechanisms by which these mediators stimulate ASM and ceramide remain poorly understood. In order to explain the effect of ceramide, different mechanisms were disscused such as ceramide-binding proteins [119, 203], channel formation by C₂ and C₁₆ ceramides [264] and the

organisation of membranes into microdomaines [57, 78, 161].

1.7 Membrane microdomains

1.7.1 Cell membrane

The cell membrane is a selectively permeable bilayer which forms the outer layer of a cell. It consists of, among other components, phospholipids and protein molecules which separate the cell interior from its surroundings and control the input and output.

The membrane as a whole is often described as a *'fluid mosaic model'* a two-dimensional fluid of freely diffusing lipids, embedded with proteins. This membrane-model was first proposed by Singer *et al.* (1971) [262] and extended to include the fluid character in a publication of Nicholson *et al.* in 1972 [195]. The biological membrane is now better described as a *'mosaic of lipid domains'* rather than as homogeneous fluid domains. A growing body of evidence has shown that specialized lipid domains exist in membranes. Until now two different classes of lipid microdomains were characterized in the cell membrane: lipid rafts and caveolae [78].

The lipid rafts, which are believed to be floating substructures on the cell surface, contain primarily sphingolipids such as sphingomyelin (SM) and glycosphingolipids (GSL), and cholesterol. Caveolae represent a subset of lipid rafts and contain the marker protein caveolin, which is essential for invagination of the membrane and involved in a variety of cellular processes.

1.7.2 Ceramide in membrane microdomains

Many references support the notion that ceramide is synthesised in lipid-microdomains where it is involved in several signalling events [57, 78, 161]. Liu *et al.* reported that in response to IL1 β , ASM locates to caveolae of human fibroblasts and generates ceramide within the membrane microdomains [161]. A variety of cell receptors were shown to require clustering within lipid rafts for their activation. For example, FAS (CD95) mediates programmed cell death via clustering of the Fas-ligand receptor that involves translocation of ASM to the extracellular membrane surface and depends on ceramide generation within

membrane rafts [66, 102]. Recently, a clinical relevant finding supported the model of ceramide-induced changes within membrane microdomains. *Pseudomaona aeruginosa* infection of epithelial cells triggers activation of ASM and the release of ceramide in sphingolipid-rich rafts. Ceramide reorganizes these rafts into larger signalling platforms that are required for the internalization of pathogen and essential for host defense against it [101].

1.7.3 Caveolae

Caveolae were first identified by electron microscopic examination in the mid 50' by Palade and Yamada, as 50-100nm '*flask shaped*' invagination of the plasma-membrane [207, 314]. A electron microscopic images of caveolae was shown in figure 1.8.a and b. Yamada *et al.* found these vesicle like structures in communication with the extracellular space in gall bladder epithelium [314]. Palade and another group described the same discovery in endothelial cells [32, 207].

Since then, caveolae have been identified in a wide variety of tissues and cell types. Particularly, caveolae have been well described in adipocytes, fibroblasts, where they are extremely abundant, endothelial cells (10.000-30.000 caveolae/cell) [8], type I pneumocytes, striated and smooth muscle cells. Ultrastructural analysis of adipocytes has shown that as much as 20% of the total plasma membrane is occupied by caveolae [49, 65].

Caveolae are distinctive organelles which are rich in lipids, such as sphingolipids, glycosphingolipids and cholesterol [8]. Figure 1.8.c shows the structural and chemical composition of caveolae. The high cholesterol and sphingolipid content of caveolae leads to insolubility in non-ionic detergents such Trition X-100 at 4°C. These properties are the basis for their purification and biochemical characterisation. Caveolae contain a large number of signalling molecules, enzymes and receptors. Table 1.3 shows a selection of proteins associated with caveolae.



Figure 1.8: Electron micrograph of an endothelial cell showing caveolae, 50-100 nm structures that are either direct invaginations or in close proximity to the plasma membrane, a) bottom view and b) side view of caveolae. c) The structural and biochemical composition: Lipid rafts formed via a coalescence of cholesterol and sphingolipids; as a result, these microdomains have vastly different biochemical properties than the bulk phospholipid bilayer. Caveolae are generally considered to be 'invaginated' lipid rafts primarily due to enrichment in a family or proteins known as the caveolins. Adapted from Galbiati et al. 2001 [78]

Protein	Function and reference		
Structural proteins			
• Caveolin-1, 2, 3	Major strutural protein [8, 158]		
Flotellin-1 and 2	Signalling and structur [19, 301]		
• Actin	Involved in cell motility [158, 201]		
Annexin II and VI	Promotes membrane fusion, involved in exocytosis [158, 201]		
• Dynamin	Involved in vesicular trafficking [109, 201]		
• SNAP	Involved in vesicular transport [245]		
• VAMP-2	Involved in the targeting/fusion of transported vesicles to their		
	target membrane [245]		
G proteins			
• $G_{\alpha s}, G_{\alpha i 1}, G_{\alpha i 2},$	Regulates G protein–coupled receptor activity [158]		
• G _{B Y}	Regulates G protein–coupled receptor activity [158]		
• <i>G</i> _q	Regulates G protein–coupled receptor activity [158, 202]		
Transmembrane receptor			
 IP₃ receptor (IP3R) 	Involved in calcium flux [75, 246]		
Mannose-6-phosphate	Receptor for mannose 6-phosphate, also definied as insulin-like		

Table 1.3 Proteins associated with caveolae in endothelial cells. Adapted from Frank et al. 2003 [70]

Protein		Functi	on and reference
	receptor (M6PR)		growth factor receptor typ II (IGF II-R) [39]
•	60 kDa glycoprotein	•	Albumin-binding protein [243, 244, 248]
	(gp60)		
•	EGF receptor	•	Endothelail growth factor [186]
•	VEGF receptor	•	Vascular endothelial growth factor[67]
Non-re	eceptor		
Tyrosi	ine kinases		
•	Src	•	Regulation of growth factor response [158, 160]
•	Fyn	•	Regulation of growth factor response [158, 160]
•	STAT3	•	Signal transducers and activators of transcription [131, 160]
Non-re	eceptor		
Ser/Th	nr kinases		
•	MEK	•	Signal transduction of mitogenic signals [62]
•	PI3 kinase	•	Phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol [158, 160, 322]
•	PKC α, ß	•	Protein kinase C, a Ser/Thr kinase [158, 160]
•	ERK 1/2	•	Mitogen activated protein kinase [70, 137, 316]
•	Other		
•	eNOS	•	Production of NO, endothelial form [86, 256]
•	nNOS	•	Production of NO, neuronal form [54, 299]
•	PLC γ	•	Phospholipase C [160]
•	Cox 2	•	Cyclooxogenase, AA metabolism [157]

With so many different molecules, proteins and receptors located in this membrane structure, it is clear that caveolae must play an important role in many cellular processes [70]. Examples are transport of macromolecules (albumin [91], insulin [16] and native LDL [140, 297]), generation of nitric oxide (NO) by eNOS [183, 256], ion-channel regulation [3, 47, 283]. regulation of angiogenesis [103], shear stress [228] and regulation of vascular permeability [59, 224].

1.7.4 Caveolin

One of the first members of this protein family, caveolin-1 was identified as a v-src phosphorylation substrate in *Rous Sarcoma Virus*-transformed fibroblasts and independently cloned as VIP21, a component of the trans-Golgi-derived vesicles [93, 150]. The 21 to 24 kDa protein caveolin-1 is together with cholesterol and sphingolipids the major structural component of caveolae. Therefore, caveolin-1 is essential for the formation and the stabil-

ity of caveolae. In its absence no caveolae are present, conversely, when this molecule is expressed in cells that lack caveolae, they induce formation of caveolae [30, 59, 212].

Molecular cloning studies have identified three distinct caveolin (CAV) genes caveolin-1, 2 and 3 [204]. Cav-1 the first gene which was discovered, is derived by alternative translational initiation and/or mRNA splicing of two different isoforms [74], termed caveolin-1 α consisting of residues 1-178 and the caveolin-1 β containing residues 32-178, resulting in a protein of ~ 3 kDa smaller size. Cav-2 has three identified isoforms, the full-length caveolin-2 α and two truncated variants, termed caveolin-2 β and -2 γ [142]. Caveolin-2 is closely related to caveolin-1 as it colocalizes and heterooligomerizes with caveolin-1. In absence of caveolin-1, caveolin-2 is not transported to the plasma membrane [142, 204].

The caveolin isoforms have been identified in a wide variety of tissues and cell types. Caveolin-1 and 2 are coexpressed in many different tissues. They are most abundantly expressed in endothelial cells, type I pneumocytes, adipocytes and fibroblasts. Caveolin-3 is present in all muscle cell types (cardiac, skeletal, smooth muscle), but is also found in other cells like astrocytes and condrocytes [198, 250].

Many cellular functions of caveolin-1 have been discovered. Important for this diversity of caveolin-1 is its particular structure. On the next page figure 1.9 shows a schema of the structure of caveolin-1, which is described below. Caveolin-1 protein has a central 33 amino acid (AA) long hydrophobic domain that is thought to adopt a hairpin conformation into the membrane, leaving both NH₂- and COOH-termini (N- and C-terminus) of the facing the cytoplasm [109]. The C-terminus of caveolin protein is palmitoylated on three conserved cyteine residues (133, 143 and 156 AA) and the N-terminus is tyrosine phosphorylated. Both are post-translational and reversible modification that may be regulated and that in turn may regulate conformation, membrane association, protein-protein interactions, and intracellular localization of the target protein.



Figure 1.9: Structure of caveolin-1. N-NH2-terminus, C-COOH-terminus. For further details see text.

Caveolin-1 has also different functional domains; the oligomerization domain and a scaffolding domain [52]. The oligomerization domain (residues 61-101 AA) can form oligomers or heterooligomers. These oligomers can interact with lipids like glycosphingolipids or cholesterol, which is required for insertion into model lipid membranes [69]. Within the oligomerization domain, there also exists a short cytosolic domain called scaffolding domain (residues 82-101 AA). The scaffolding domain was originally defined by a series of experiments, including deletion mutagenensis of caveolin-1 GST fusions proteins. By using a GST-fusions protein containing the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain as a receptor to select peptide ligands from a bacteriophage display library, two related but distinct caveolin-binding motifs were identified in most proteins (including heterotrimeric G-proteins, Src family tyrosine kinases and eNOS). These different signalling proteins, on the other hand, contain the caveolin binding motif (FxxxxFxxF, or FxFxxxxF, where F is aromatic amino acid: tryptophan (Trp), phenylalanine (Phe), or tyrosine (Tyr)) and association with caveolin-1 leads to inhibition of their activity [204].

1.7.5 Functional roles of caveolae/caveolin

1.7.5.1 Transcytosis, endocytosis and pinocytosis (potocytosis)

The observation that caveolae can exist as invaginations of the plasma membrane, as completely enclosed vesicles, or as aggregates of several vesicles suggests that this structures are involved in the vesicular transport of micro- and macromolecules (or fluids)

into the cells via endocytosis/potocytosis and across the cells via transcytosis [5, 7, 69, 189, 212, 219, 261, 275]. Figure 1.10 shows a schematic overview of the different mechanisms of caveolar vesicle transport.



Figure 1.10: Caveolar vesicular trafficking: transcytosis, endocytosis and potocytosis. Caveolae appear to mediate the selective uptake and transport of several molecules via different processes. Adapted from Razani B. et al., 2002 [223]

Traditionally, endocytosis has been almost entirely associated with clathrin-coated vesicle [7, 275]. Numerous receptors and their cognate ligands are taken up via this pathway leading to termination or desensitization of signalling cascades. However, it has become clear that certain receptors and extracellular macromolecules are exclusively transported via caveolae rather than clathrin-coated pits. This alternative caveolar pathway was first recognised by the observation that cholera toxin was preferentially bound and internalized via caveolae [189]. Additional observations suggest a role for caveolae in the process of endocytosis included first the identification of several molecules involved in vesicle docking and fusion (SNARE protein, GM1) and later the detection of the small GTPase dynamin, which is known to be involved in internalization process [109, 177, 245]. Perhaps the best documented infectious agent that selectively uses caveolae to enter cells is *Simian Virus 40* (SV40) [5, 266]. A growing list of pathogens, including viruses (e.g. SV40, HIV, *respiratory* *syncytial virus* (RSV)) bacteria (e.g. *Eschericha coli* [61], *Chlamydia trachomatis, Mycobacterium bovis*) and their associated toxins [49], fungi (e.g. *Pneumocystis carnii*) and even prions [49], can interact with caveolae membrane domaines and be taken up by internalization [109].

Further biochemical studies demonstrated that caveolae are include in transcytosis. This transport is rapid (~ 30 sec) and shows macromolecules transported in caveolae from the luminal side of blood vessels to the subendothelial space (first described by Simionescu et al. [261]). Transcytosis can be both constitutive (fluid-phase transport) or receptor-mediated (the molecule transported requires the presence of its cognate receptor in caveolae). The transport of many macromolecules such as albumin [228, 250], insulin [16], native LDL (as well as modified LDL) [297] has been associated with caveolae-mediated transcytosis. Some of the inital observations for transcytosis by caveolae was performed with inhibitiors of caveolae formation, specific gold-labelled antibodies and gold-labelled albumin. For example, by using filipin, a sterol binding agent, the transcytosis of albumin and insulin was reduced without affecting clathrin-dependent pathways [247]. McIntosh et al. used a specific antibody targeted against lung endothelial caveolae [179]. After injection with this specific gold-labelled antibody, particles were observed first at the surface of lung endothelial cells. Subsequently, particles were observed within internalized caveolae (plasmalemmal vesicles) inside the cells and finally, within the subendothelial space [179]. The first direct evidence supporting a role of caveolin-1 and caveolae in transcytosis were shown by perfusion with gold-labelled albumin in wild type and caveolin-1 deficient mouse lungs. The wild type endothelial cells associated with gold-labelled albumin, internalized and transferred it to the subendothelial space through caveolae, but no uptake or transfer was observed in caveolin-1 deficient animals [250].

Caveolae have also been implicated in a unique form of solute uptake, termed potocytosis (or 'cellular drinking'). The potocytic transport was described by Anderson *et al.* [6]. They observed the potocytosis of folate (form of a water soluble B vitamin) as a process by which cells can transport small molecules (< 1 kDa), without endocytotic vesicles, in caveolae to internal endosomal/lysosomal compartments [6]. In previous studies Rothberg *et al.* [265] observed by microscopy that the GPI-linked folate receptor internalizes folate without entering the clathrin-coated pit endocytose pathway. Kamen *et al.* observed that

caveolae facilitate the uptake of folate by closing their necks, albeit remaining associated with the plasma membrane [134]. In this way, a highly concentrated pool of folate is created, which is subsequently fluxed to the cytoplasm by a three-step process:(i) lowering of caveolar pH by a caveolae-localized proton pump, (ii) low pH dissociation of folate from its receptor, and (iii) flux into the cytoplasm by an anion carrier present in caveolae [134]. At present, the mechanism of the dynamic closing and opening of the caveolar '*mouth*' is poorly understood. More detailed analysis of the general applicability of caveolae to the uptake of other small molecules needs to be conducted before potocytosis can be considered a process distinct from caveolar endocytosis.

1.7.5.2 Nitric oxide synthase signaling mechanisms

Endothelium-derived nitric oxide (NO) has a profound effect on vessel tonicity and permeability. The endothelial enzyme responsible for the generation of NO is known as endothelial NO-synthase (eNOS). This membrane associated enzyme is one of three NOS isoforms (iNOS, nNOS and eNOS).

Endothelial NO-synthase is found enriched in caveolae, where it associates with the caveolin-1 by interacting with the scaffolding domain. Binding of eNOS to caveolin-1 holds in the inactive state [70, 86, 256]. After increased intracellular Ca²⁺ [Ca²⁺]_i, eNOS complexes with Ca²⁺/calmodulin (Ca²⁺/CaM) and dissociates from caveolin-1, thereby increasing eNOS activity and NO production [77, 183]. Endothelial NO-synthase is also regulated by phosporylation mediated by the Ser/Thr kinase Akt [84]. Phosphorylation was found to both increase and decrease eNOS activity; that is phosphorylation of serine (Ser¹¹⁷⁹) increases eNOS activity and sensitivity to Ca²⁺/CaM, whereas phosphorylation at threonine (Thr⁴⁹⁷) negatively regulates eNOS activity [77, 84]. Thus caveolin-1 is a major regulator of eNOS activity and thereby of vascular tone and permeability.

The role of caveolin-1 as a mediator of eNOS activity was demonstrated in mouse models [33]. Bucci and coworkers observed eNOS colocalisation and coimmunoprecipitation with caveolin-1 and its enrichment in caveolae. Overexperssion of caveolin-1 or delivery of the antennapedia-conjucated caveolin-1 scaffolding domain peptide (AP-cav) decreased eNOS-dependent NO release [85, 132], indicating that binding of eNOS to the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain serves to inhibite the enzyme. To further characterise this phenome-
Introduction

non, the scaffolding domain peptide (AP-cav) was tested in a mouse inflammation model induced carageenan [33]. Delivery of the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain reduced the vascular permeability response and tissue edema formation by sequestering eNOS [33] indicating that the eNOS activation and NO production are important determinants of the inflammation response. The blockade of the vascular permeability response was similar to that observed in eNOS knockout mice [76]. Fukumura *et al* observed in eNOS and iNOS-deficient mice that eNOS plays a predominat role in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-induced angiogenesis and vascular hyperpermeability [76]. In addition, VEGF is also known to increase vascular permeability of microvessels to cirulating macromolecules [38, 42, 296] and it indues vasculo- and angiogenesis *in vivo* [68].

Zhu *et al.* demonstrated increased eNOS activity might be a reaction to inflammatory stimuli (PAF) [320]. This study also demonstrated that the eNOS-derived NO is one signalling pathway for inflammatory mediators increases in mesenteric artery permeability. Furthermore, Zhu and his coworkers showed that the scaffolding domain of caveolin-1 plays an important role in PAF-increased eNOS activity, because application of AP-cav had a significant inhibitory effect on the permeability increase during acute inflammation [320].

In line with this observation it was shown that loss of caveolin-1 markedly increases the vascular permeability [251]. Importantly, this permeability is reversed by L-NAME (a important NOS-inhibitor) injection, thus demonstrating the necessity of caveolin-1 for inhibition of eNOS activity.

1.7.5.3 Ion channel regulation

Several ion channels and receptors, which regulate Ca^{2+} concentration, have been shown to be associated with caveolae (e.g. Ca^{2+} channels; store operated channel (SOC) [47], transient receptor potential channel (e.g. TRPC-1 and 4) [3, 37] and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R) [75, 122]). These channels and receptors play an important role in the regulation of endothelial barrier dysfunction. They are involved in the regulation of endothelial cell permeability and transcytosis [196]. Preliminary studies have suggested an important role for intact caveolae in the regulation of proper signaling after the activation of channels, such as the volume-regulated anion channel [283]

Introduction

It is also important to note that several calcium channels are localized to caveolae and, as a consequence, they might play an important role in the regulation of eNOS activation [123]. In fact, recent work by Isshiki *et al.* has shown that Ca²⁺ waves originate in caveolin-rich regions of endothelial cells and can move with caveolae to the trailing edge of migrating endothelial cells [122, 123].

1.7.6 Models to study edema formation

To study the molecular mechansims by which pro-inflammatory mediators trigger pulmonary edema formation several model systems have been used.

In vitro experiments, using endothelial cell (EC) monolayer are considered useful system to study mechansims of edema formation. The advantages are (i) easy of use, because parameters, such as composition of culture medium and other factors can be easily changed and (ii) the enhanced permeability of EC-monolayers after stimulation with different substances such as thrombin [82, 87], thromboxane [277], hydroperoxide (H_2O_2) [272] or TNF [233] are well established. However, in intact organs most of these mediators do not contribute to permeability edema [51, 308], thus questioning the cell culture model. Another critical point to studying permeability changes in EC-monolayers is that some substances known to induce edema *in vivo* or in isolated perfused lung such as PAF have no effect on permeability in EC-monolayer experiments [283, 58].

One physiologically relevant model that can be used to study edema formation is the isolated perfused rat lung (IPL) [294, 295]. It is a distinct advantage that studies are performed in an intact organ, with physiological cell-to-cell contacts and native intracellular matrixes. Another advantage is that physiological parameters such as airway and pulmonary vascular resistances, edema formation, gas exchange, tidal volume, pulmonary compliance, can be determined by continuous monitoring [288]. Also, interactions with other organs can be excluded, allowing to investigate the responses solely generated by the lungs. In perfusion experiments the investigator may retain control over several experimental parameters such as perfusion pressure and flow or composition of the perfusate. Thus, depending on the perfusions protocol used it is possible to distinguish hydrostatic from permeability edema. In addition, the IPL preperation also offers the opportunity of investigating administration of multiple agents by different routes and in physical forms. The principal limitation imposed by the IPL is the short duration of study, since lung mechanics deteriorate with time.

To investigate the effect of PAF-induced edema formation in pulmonary endothelial cells, we established a method to purify these cells from the intact organ. In previous studies, an enzymatic mixture (including collagenase, deoxyribonuclease, chymopapain, pronase, and elastase) was used for the purification of cells from intact lungs. For example, Bundschuh *et al.* [34] isolated primary lung cells by recirculating perfusion through the pulmonary artery of intact lungs with enzymatic solution. After perfusion lung tissue was microdissected, resuspended and primary lung cells were cultured for 5 days [34]. Ugele *et al.* also used a proteolytic enzyme mixture and a typical endothelial cell marker (Willebrand factor (vWf)) to purify EC from intact organ [285]. The disadvantages of both methods are (i) the small yield, (ii) the fact that cells must be cultivated before investigations can starts and (iii) that EC are difficult to separate from the many other cell types of the lungs.

To overcome these problems, we used the well established isolated perfused rat lung (as described before) [294, 295] and purified EC from intact lungs by perfusion through the pulmonary artery with cationised colloidal silica beads solution [125]. The positive charged beads bind on the negative surface of the endothelial cell membranes. Therefore it is possible to isolate only EC from the micovasculature of the rat lungs [126]. To purify a high yield of EC, the isolated lungs are perfused after bead solution with natriumpolyacrylate, to generate a strongly adhering coat to the pulmonary EC [124]. Endothelial cells can be used directly, after seperation from the other cell types of the lung, and do need to be cultivated before investigation. Because the EC purification is performed in IPL, the (patho)physiological changes of EC can be directly investigated.

2 Aim of the study

The acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is characterised by permeability edema in the lungs. One of the most important endogenous mediators of pulmonary edema is the platelet-activating factor (PAF). PAF increase vascular permeability partly through acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) dependent generation of ceramide in a poorly understood manner.

Since membrane microdomains (caveolae) are particularly rich in sphingolipids, it was the aim of the present study to investigate whether PAF acts in the realm of caveolae and which role caveolin-1, the scaffolding protein of caveolae, plays in PAF induced edema formation. Therefore, it was one goal of this thesis to establish a method for purification of caveolae from intact endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lung (IPL) and characterise these caveolae in PAF-treated lungs.

In the last years it has been recognized, that caveolae are involved in the transcellular transport of albumin (transcytosis). Since transcytosis may increase oncotic pressure and thus increase edema formation, it was the other major aim to investigate the regulation of transcytosis by proinflammatory mediators and the role of ASM-ceramide pathway in this process. For these studies we used thrombin, a mediator that activates ceramide generation by ASM and alters vascular permeability in endothelial cells (EC) monolayers.

3 Material and Methods

3.1 Material

3.1.1 Animals

Female Wistar rats (weight 220 to 250 g) were obtained from Charles River Laboratories, Inc. (Sulzfeld, Germany) and kept under controlled conditions (22°C, 55% humidity, 12 h day/night rhythm) on a standard laboratory chow and water *ad libitum* were used as lung doners for experiments with isolated perfused rat lungs. Pentobarbital sodium (Nacoren[®], 400 μ l/kg) was purchased from the Wirtschaftsgenossenschaft Deutscher Tierärzte (Garbsen, Germany).

3.1.2 Cells and cell culture reagents

Human Microvascular Endothelial Cells-Lung (HMVEC-L) were obtained from Cambrex Bioscience (Verviers, Belgium). HMVEC-L cells are primary endothelial cells, prepared from human lung tissue by Clontics (San Diego, USA). Cells were grown in Endothelial Cell Basal Medium-2 (EGM-2-MV) complete growth medium with cell specific reagents from Cambrex Bioscience (Verviers, Belgium). Calf Pulmonary Artery Endothelial Cells (CPAE-cells) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas , USA) CCL-209 and CRL-1730. Cells were grown in Minimal Essential Medium (MEM) without L-glutamine. Medium were added with Earle'salts; 1% 1.0 mM sodium pyruvat and 1% 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids and supplemented with 20% foetal calf serum. All substances were obtained from PAA Laboratories (Cölbe, Germany)

3.1.3 Antibodies

All primary antibodies used in the experiments are listed in the table 3.1 below. Secondary antibodies, Alexa-fluorochrome labelled were obtained from Moleculare Probes (Eugene, USA). It was used in a dilution of 1:10.000.

Primary Antibody	Dilution used	Secondary Antibody	Supplier
Rabbit-anti-rat-acid-sphingomyelinase (ASM)	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Piscataway, USA)
Anti-ASM	1:250	Alexa-Fluor 800 nm Donkey-anti-goat 800 nm	Gift from K. Sandhoff (Bonn, Germany)
Goat-anti-rat-ACE	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 800nm Donkey-anti-goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Heidelberg, Europe)
Rabbit-anti-rat-cP450 reductase	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Heidelberg, Europe)
Mouse-anti-rat-Caveolin-1	1:2000	Alexa-Fluor 680 nm Goat-anti-mouse	BD Transduction Laboratories (Heidelberg, Europe)
Rabbit-anti-rat-Ganglioside GM1	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Calbiochem (Bad Soden, Europe)
Mouse-anti-rat-Flotillin-1	1:250	Alexa-Fluor 680 nm Goat-anti-mouse	BD Transduction Laboratories (Heidelberg, Europe)
Goat-anti-rat-LAMP-2	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 800 nm Donkey-anti-goat	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Heidelberg, Europe)
Rabbit-anti-rat-eNOS	1:1000	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	BD Transduction Laboratories (Heidelberg, Europe)
Mouse-anti-rat-peNOS	1:1000	Alexa-Fluor 680 nm Goat-anti-mouse	Serva GmbH (Heidelberg, Europe)
Mouse-anti-rat-Phospho-Caveolin-1	1:2000	Alexa-Fluor 680 nm Goat-anti-mouse	BD Transduction Laboratories (Heidelberg, Europe)
Mouse-anti-rat-IGF-IIR	1:500	Alexa-Fluor 680 nm Goat-anti-mouse	BD Transduction Laboratories (Heidelberg, Europe)
Rabbit-anti-rat-Phospho-p38	1:1000	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology (Boston, USA)
Rabbit-anti-rat-Phospho-ERK 1/2	1:1000	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Cell Signaling Technology (Boston, USA)
Rabbit-anti-rat-TRPC-1	1:250	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Alomone (Jerusalem, Israel)
Rabbit-anti-rat-TRPC-4	1:250	Alexa-Fluor 700 nm Goat-anti-rabbit	Alomone (Jerusalem, Israel)

Table 3.1: Overview of antibodies that were used in immunoblot analysis

3.1.4 Silica beads

Silica-beads, with a diameter of 0.5 µm, were obtained from Bangs Laboratories, Inc. (Fishers, USA). Aluminium chlorohydroxide for coating of silica beads was obtained from PFATZ & BAUER Inc. (Waterbury, USA) and all other used substances (see 3.2.1.) were obtained from Sigma (Taufkirchen, Germany)

(Eschwege,

3.1.5 Inhibitors and substances

All pharmacological agents used are listed in the following table.

Substances	solution in	Concentration	Supplier
α-thrombin (human)	glycerol/water 1:1	50 U/ml	MP-Biomedicals (Eschwe
			Europe)
Acid sphingomyelinase (ASM)	PBS	1 U/ml	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)
Platelet-activating factor	ethanol	0.05 µM	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)
(PAF,1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-			
glycero-3-phosphocholine)			
Inhibitor	Solution in	Concentration	Supplier

Table 3.2 Overview of used inhibitors, substances and suppliers

Inhibitor	Solution in	Concentration	Supplier
1400W	ethanol/water 1:1	0,66 mg/250 g rat	Axxora GmbH (Grünberg, Europe)
Acetyl salicyl acid (ASA)	PBS	500 μM	Grünthal (Aachen, Europe)
Actinomycin D (ActD)	DMSO	2 μg/ml	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)
Cyclohexemide (CHX)	ethanol	1 μg/ml	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)
D609 (Tricyclodecan-9-yl xanthate potassium Salt)	water	300 µM	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)
Imipramine hydrochloride (Imi)	water	10 μΜ	ICN-Biomedicals (Ohio, USA)
L-NMMA (L-N ^G -monomethyl Arginine citrate)	water	100 μM	Cayman chemicals (Michigan, USA)

Material and Methods

Inhibitor	Solution in	Concentration	Supplier	
L-NAME (L-N ^G -Nitroarginine methylester (hydrochloride))	water	100 μΜ	Cayman chemicals (Michigan, USA)	
Ly 294002	DMSO	50 µM	Alexis Biomedicals (San Diego, USA)	
Mannose-6-phophate Sodium salt	PBS	1000 μM	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)	
NPS 2390	buffer	10 μΜ	Sigma (Taufkirchen, Europe)	
SB 203580	DMSO	20 µM	Calbiochem (Darmstadt, Europe)	
SKF-96365, hydrochloride	water	30 µM	Calbiochem (Darmstadt, Europe)	
U 0126	DMSO	20 µM	Cell Signaling Technology (Boston, USA)	
Y-27632	water	10 μΜ	Tocris Cookson Inc.(St. Louis, USA)	

3.1.6 Buffers and chemical solutions

- · Destilled water
- Dimethylsulfoxid; DMSO (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- Ethanol (96%)
- Fluorescein isothiocyante (FITC)-labelled albumin (1 mg/ml, water) (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany)
- TBS; Tris-Buffered Saline buffer contains 10 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl (pH 7.6 (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany)
- TBS-T, Tris-Buffered Saline buffer contains 10 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl and 0.1% Tween 20 (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany)
- PBS; Phosphate-Buffered saline solution contains 8 g NaCl, 0.2 g KCl, 0.2 g KH₂-PO₄, 1.42 g Na₂HPO₄ x H₂O), (pH 7.2) (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany)

- MBS; MES-Buffered Saline solution contains 125 nM NaCl and 20 mM MES (pH 6) (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany)
- HBS; HEPES-Buffered Sucrose solution contains 0.25 mM Sucrose, 25 mM HEPES (Sigma, Taufkirchen, Germany) and 2 mM PefaBloc as a protease inhibitor (Roche, Nutley, USA), (pH 7.2)
- Electrophoresis Buffer (Tris-Glycine SDS Buffer, TGS) (Biorad, Munich, Germany)
- Immunoblotting Buffer (Tris-Glycine Buffer, TG + 20% methanol) (Biorad, Munich, Germany)

3.1.7 Plastics material

Cell culture flasks were obtained from Sarstedt (Nürmbrect, Germany). Costar Transwell membrane inserts (12 mm diameter, 0.4 µm pore size, polycarbonate) from Corning Incorporated (Corning, USA). Beckman SW55Ti or SW28 rotor tubes were obtained from Beckmann Instruments, Inc. (Palo Alto, USA).

3.1.8 Equipment

- Isolated perfused rat lung from Hugo Sachs Electronics (March-Hugstetten, Germany)
- Centrifuge Biofuge from Heraeus (Hanau, Germany)
- Centrifuge Megafuge 1.0 R from Heraeus (Hanau, Germany)
- Beckmann L5-77 Ultracentrifuge and SW55Ti rotor and SW28 rotor (Palo Alto, USA)
- Cell culture incubator from Heraeus (Hanau, Germany)
- Beckmann TL-100 Ultracentrifuge (Palo Alto, USA)
- Polytron PT 1200 from Kinematica AG (Littau Luzern, Switzerland)
- Hoefer Electrophoresis system SE660 (Germany) and SemiPhor blotting system from Pharmacia Biotech (Uppsala, Sweden)
- · Odyssey[®] Infrared Imaging system and software from LI-COR Biosciences (Bad

Homburg, Germany)

- Fluorescence Reader FL600 from Bio-Tek Instruments (Winooski, USA)
- Microplate Reader Titertek Multiscan Plus MK II (Pisley, UK).
- Phase contrast microscopes from Leica Mikrosysteme (Bensheim, Germany)

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Isolated perfused rat lung (IPL)

To study the role of membrane microdomains (caveolae) by PAF induced edema formation in lung we used isolated perfused rat lung (IPL) for purification of membrane microdomains from intact endothelial cells under different conditions.

3.2.1.1 Preparation of isolated, ventilated and perfused rat lung (IPL)

The rat lungs were prepared and perfused essentially as described by Uhlig *et al.* [294, 295]. Lungs were perfused through the pulmonary artery with Krebs-Henseleit buffer (37°C) as a perfusate medium, which contained 1% rat serum, 2% bovine serum albumin (Serva, Heidelberg, Germany), 0.1% glucose and 0.3% HEPES at a constant hydrostatic pressure of 12 cm H_2O . Edema formation was assessed by measuring the weight gain of the lungs.

3.2.1.2 Experimental design of the perfused lung studies

After preparation and 30 minutes perfusion, 5 nmol PAF (dissolved in ethanol) was injected as a bolus directly into the perfusate. Stock solutions of imipramine (10 μ M), D609 (300 μ M) and several inhibitors (concentration in table 3.2.) were added into the buffer reservoir 10 minutes before PAF was added.

3.2.1.3 In situ perfusion of rat lung with cationic colloidal silica beads

Silica perfusion was accomplished by a method, described by Schnitzer *et al.* [246]. The method was slightly modified. After a 30 minutes perfusion, 5 nmol PAF was injected as a bolus directly into the perfusate. Then the flow rat was reduced from 20 ml/min to 2-3 ml/min and the lungs were perfused with the following solutions: MBS buffer for 90 sec at

room temperature (RT) and 1 % colloidal silica beads in MBS buffer (10°C); MBS buffer for 90 sec (10°C), to clear free silica beads from lung; 1% sodium polyacrylate in MBS buffer for 90 sec (10°C), to crosslink and shield membrane-bound silica; and finally with 8-10 ml HBS buffer (10°C).

3.2.1.4 Purification of endothelial cell membrane

After silica perfusion lungs were removed and immersed in cold HBS. The lungs were minced with a cutter to small pieces on ice and then transfered to 10 ml HEPES buffer. Minced lungs were homogenized on ice using a Polytron PT 1200 and a Teflon pestleglass homogenizer (15 strokes) with a high speed motor running at 425 x g. After filtration through a 0.65 µm and 0.45 µm Nytex net (GE Osmononics Inc, Minnetoka, USA) the homogenate was mixed with an equal volume of 1.02 g/ml Nycodenz (Axis-Shield PoC AS, Oslo, Norway) containing 20 mM KCl and then layered over 0.5-0.7 g/ml Nycodenz containing 60 mM sucrose in a centrifuge tube. After centrifugation (5.700 x g, 30 minutes, 4°C in a Beckman SW 28 rotor) the floating tissue debris were removed and the pellet, which contained the silica-coated endothelial membranes fragments was resuspended with 1 ml MBS buffer. Subsequently, the suspension was homogenized by Polytron PT 1200.

3.2.1.5 Isolation of caveolae from silica-coated endothelial cell membrane

The caveolae from purified pulmonary endothelial cell membrane were isolated as described by Melkonian *et al.* [181], and Arni *et al* [10]. 10% cold Triton X-100 (final concentration of 1 %, Boehringer-Mannheim GmbH, Germany) were added to the membranes for 60 minutes at 4°C. After incubation the suspension was homogenized and the homogenate mixed with 80% sucrose to a achieve a 40% membrane-sucrose-solutions. A 30-5% sucrose gradient was layered over the samples in a Beckman SW55Ti rotor tube and centrifuged at 4°C overnight at 14.000 x g for 16-18 h. Fractions of 150 µl were removed from the top to the bottom and collected as five membrane fractions (A-E); the pellet was dissolved in 150 µl MBS (pellet-fraction, P). Figure 5.1 shows an experimental design of the isolation of caveolae from intact pulmonary endothelial cells by the *in situ* perfusion of isolated perfused rat lung with cationic silica bead solution as described in chapter before.



Figure 3.1: Experimental design of the isolation of caveolae from intact pulmonary endothelial cell. In situ perfusion of isolated perfused rat lung (1) with cationic colloidal silica beads (2), purification of endothelial cells and isolation of caveolae from silica bead-coated endothelial cell membrane (3). (black border marked the in situ perfusion, EC (endothelial cells)

3.2.1.6 Determination of protein concentration by bicinchoninic acid protein assay (BCA assay)

The protein concentrations of all membrane fraction samples were determined with a BCA assay (Pierce, Rockford, USA). This BCA assay is a biochemical assay similar to the Lowry or Bradford protein assay. A volume of 25 μ l from each sample was mixed with 200 μ l BCA working solution. The working solution contain BCA-reagent A (1 mg sodium bicinchoninate (BCA), 2 mg sodium carbonate, 0.16 mg sodium tartrate, 0.4 mg NaOH, and 0.95 mg sodium bicarbonate) and 2 volumes BCA-reagent B (0.4 mg cupric sulfate (5 x hydrated) in 10 ml distilled water). Samples were incubated 30 minutes at 37°C. The amount of protein presented in the solution was quantified by measuring the optical intensity at 562 nm and comparing with protein solutions with known concentrations.

3.2.1.7 Sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

The proteins from membrane fractions samples were separated according to their molecular weight under reducing conditions by electrophoresis as described by Laemmli (Laemmli,1970) in 12% discontinuous polyacrylamide-gels in the presence of 0.02% sodium-dodecyl-sulfate (SDS). The composition of stacking and resolving gels are listed in table 3.3

Solutions	Resolving gel (12%)	Stacking gel (4 %)
30% : 0.8% w/v acrylamide:bisacrylamide	7.0 ml	0.66 ml
1.5 M Tris-Cl pH 8.8	8.0 ml	-
0.5 M Tris-Cl pH 6.8	-	1.26 ml
10% SDS	0.2 ml	0.050 ml
H_2O	7.1 ml	3.0 ml
10% ammoniumpersulfate (APS)	0.1 ml	0.025 ml
TEMED	0.010 ml	0.005 ml

Table 3.3: The composition of SDS-PAGE gels

Equal amounts of protein (5 μ g) for each sample were mixed with a reducing 4 x loading buffer (Biorad, Munich, Germany) and boiled for 5 minutes at 95°C. Samples were added to the stacking gel and run by 100 V for 40 minutes. To separated the proteins in the resolving gel the voltage was increased to 200 V (100 min). The SDS-PAGE was performed of RT in 1 x electrophoresis buffer solution. (1 x TRIS-Glycine SDS Buffer, Biorad, Munich, Germany)

3.2.1.8 Immunoblotting

After SDS-PAGE separation, proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher&Schuell, Marienfeld, Germany). The protein transfer on nitrocellulose membranes was performed with the SemiPhor blotting system (Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala Sweden) at 0.8 mA/cm² for 75 minutes. The blots were washed with 1 x TBS-T buffer (1min) and blocked by Roti[®] Block (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) for 1 h at RT. The nitrocellulose membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with different primary antibodies. After washing, nitrocellulose membranes were incubated with a secondary infrared fluorochrome labelled antibody for 1 h at RT and protein bands were detected at 680 or 800nm wavelength with the Odyssey[®] Infrared Imaging system (LI-COR, Bad Homburg, Germany).

The isolation of caveolae fractions was verified by SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis

Material and Methods

with the specific marker protein caveolin-1. All fractions were tested in immunoblotting system of contamination by proteins from extra-caveolar / extra-rafts membrane. The samples were incubated with specific antibodies of several cell compartments. We used anti-P450 cytochrome, as a microsomal marker, anti-angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), as a non-caveolar plasma membrane protein marker and anti-LAMP-2, as a lysosomal marker. All specific protein-bands were visualized and quantified as described below.

3.2.1.9 Coating of silica-beads with aluminium hydroxide (chlorohydrol)

The coating of silica particales were accomplished essentially as described of Jacobson *et al.* [124, 125, 126]. Silica beads, with a diameter of 0.5 μ m, were coated with aluminium hydroxide (chlorohydrol, PFATZ & BAUER Inc. Rochester, USA) to generate a positively loaded surface. 10.5 g chlorohydrol was mixed with 90 ml distilled water and blended with 1.5 g beads for 2 min in a high speed blender. The mixture was then stirred manually and incubated in a water bath at 80°C for 30 min. Silica beads were chilled down to RT for 16h. After cooling the pH was adjusted to pH 5.0 with 1 M NaOH. Beads were incubated again for 24h and the pH was once more adjusted to pH 5.0 with 1 M NaOH. Silica bead suspensions were stored at 4°C. Before the coated beads were used for perfusion, bead solution was diluted to 10% silica with attachment buffer (140 mM sorbitol, 20 mM MES) and centrifuged for 5 min at 800 x g. The beads cake was washed and resuspended in MBS-buffer and centrifuged for 5 min at 800 x g for three times. The washed beads were then used for purification of caveolae from intact pulmonary endothelial cells.

3.2.2 In vitro experiments

3.2.2.1 Cell culture

HMVEC-L (Human Microvascular Endothelial Cells from lung) primary cells were passaged once a week with change of medium every second day at 37°C and 5.0% CO₂. HM-VEC-L cells were used for experiments from the 3rd-8th passage after thawing. For endothelial permeability experiments, all cells were seeded on Costar Transwell membranes inserts (12 mm diameter, 0.4 mm pore size, polycarbonate membrane) at a density of 40.000 cells per cm². Media were changed every day, cells were maintained two more days before using them for experiments. For experiments, which included the isolation of membrane microdomains, HMVEC-L cells were grown to confluence (2.5-3.0 x 10^6 cells/tissue flask) in T175 tissue flasks.

3.2.3 Permeability experiments

3.2.3.1 FITC-albumin diffusion

HMVEC-cells were disseminated and grown (72-96 h) on Transwell membranes at a density of 40.000 cells per cm². For measuring permeability, growth media was changed to low serum media containing normal medium supplemented with 2% heat inactivated foetal calf serum (FCS) 1 h before adding any substance. Cell cultures were preincubated for 1 h at 37°C before adding the inhibitors. After pretreatment, cell monolayers were treated for 2 h at 37°C with α -thrombin (50 U/ml) or in simultaneously with ASM (1 U/ml). In the presence of α -thrombin and other inhibitors, 1 mg/ml fluorescein isothiocyanate bovine-albumin (FITC-labelled albumin) was added into the upper chamber of the Transwell. After diffusion times of 45, 120, 180 and 240 min, the FITC-labelled albumin content of the lower chamber was detected by fluorescence measurement (485 nm excitation wavelength and 530 nm emission wavelength). FITC-labelled albumin diffusion rate across an empty membrane was set to 100% permeability. Diffusion rate across an untreated control cell-monolayer was set to 0% permeability. These two values were determined on every experimental day. Duplicates of every data point were obtained on one day and counted as n=1.

3.2.4 Measurement of caveolin-1 levels in HMVEC-L

3.2.4.1 Preparation and treatment of HMVEC-L cells for caveolin-1 measrument

To measure the caveolin-1 content in total cells and cell membrane fractions, cells were grown confluently in T-175 tissue flasks. For measuring caveolin-1 content, growth medium was changed to low serum medium containing normal medium supplemented with 2% heat inactivated foetal calf serum (FCS). After 1h incubation at 37°C cells were treated with imipramine for 20 h (10 μ M) and D609 for 30 min (300 μ M) before stimulation with human α -thrombin (50 U/ml) for 2 h. Other cells were treated with ASM

(1 U/ml) for 2 h. Subsequently, the cells were harvested, detached and lysed. The caveolin-1 content was measured after isolation of the membrane microdomains as

described in 3.2.4.2. For determination of the total cell content of caveolin-1 cells were prepared as described in 3.2.4.3.

3.2.4.2 Isolation of membrane microdomaines

Membrane microdomains were isolated essentially as described [10, 181]. Cells were harvested and detached with accutase as detachment agent. The cells (2.5-3.0 10^{6} /tissue flask) were lysed in lysisbuffer (42 mM KCl, 10 mM HEPES, 5 mM MgCl and protease inhibitors, pH 7.4) for 10 min on ice and by sonification (duty cycle: 30-40, output cont.: 6 strokes). After centrifugation (314 x g, 4°C, 5 min) supernatants were ultracentrifuged (12000 x g, 4°C, 30 min) to purificate membranes. An aliqot of 150 µl supernatant was collected as the cytosolic fraction (C) and the rest of the supernatant was removed. The pellet was suspended in 100 µl Triton X-100 and incubated at 4°C for 60 min. The pellet-triton-suspension was mixed with 100 µl 80% and overlayered with 800 µl 30% sucrose and 200 µl 5% sucrose as a sucrose density gradient to isolate the membrane microdomain. Samples were ultracentrifuged overnight (14.000 x g, 4°C, 16-18h) and 8 samples with volumes of 150 µl were collected as membrane fractions samples (1-8). Pellet fraction (P) was suspended in 150 µl PBS. All fractions were mixed with 50 µl reducing 4x loading buffer and boiled at 95°C for 5 min for SDS-PAGE. The caveolin-1 contents in membrane fractions were measured after SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting by quantifying the protein bands (intensities) of caveolin-1 as described before (3.2.1.8).

3.2.4.3 Caveolin-1 content in whole cells

The amount of caveolin-1 in total cells were determined. 2.5-3.0 x 10^6 cells were stimulated and harvested using accutase for dissolution of cells from tissue flasks. Cells were lysed in lysis-buffer for 10 min on ice and by sonification (duty cycle: 30-40, output cont.: 6 strokes). A volume of 30 µl from each sample was added with 10 µl of 4x loading buffer and incubated at 95°C for 5 min for SDS-PAGE. The total content of caveolin-1 in whole cells was determined after SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting as described in 3.2.1.8.

3.2.4.4 Caveolin-1 transcription and translation-inhibition

The HMVEC-L cells were grown to confluence and treated either with a transcription- or translation-inbititor of caveolin-1. Actinomycin D (ActD, 2 μ g/ml) was added as transcription- on-inhibitor 20h before cells were treated with α -thrombin (50 U/ml) for 3h. Cyclohexemide

Material and Methods

(CHX, 1 μ g/ml) was added as inhibitor of caveolin-1 synthesis to α -thrombin for 3h. Cells (2.5-3.0 x 10⁶ /tissue flask) were harvested, detached and lysed with lysis-buffer and membrane microdomains were isolated as described (3.2.4.2). The content of caveolin-1 measured after isolation of caveolae from endothelial cell membrane and the amount in single fractions and total cells of caveolin-1 were dispositived by caveolin-1 immunoblotting after SDS-PAGE as described before (3.2.1.8).

3.2.4.5 Ceramide content

Lipids were extracted from cell pellets modified to Bligh and Dyer [24], ceramide content was measured by charring densitimetry [234]. In brief, treated and control cell pellets were solved in methanol water emulsion and sonified to extract lipids from the membrane. The lipids were seperated from other membrane components by chloroform/methanol extraction and dried. Subsequently lipids were solved in chloroform and brought onto a high-performance thin layer chromatography (HPTLC) plate (silica gel 60 precoated plate; Merck, Germany). Ceramide Darmstadt, was resolved by running with dichlormethane/methanol/acetate (100:2:5). Thin-layer chromathography (TLC) plates (Merck, Germany) were dried at 180°C, cooled and put into 10% cupric sulfate, 8% phosphoric acid solution. After heating for 2 min at 110°C, lipids bands was made visible with the Fujix-1000 Bioimager (Raytest, Straubenhardt, Germany)

3.2.4.6 Acid sphingomyelinase activity

Acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) activity was determined by modified of the method by micellar *in vitro* assay using ¹⁴ C-labelled sphingomyelin as a substrate [311]. The volume of the supernantants were reduced from 3 ml to 300 µl using 10 kDa filters, protein content was determined using BCA assay [265]. Cells were suspended in ASM-extraction buffer (250 mM sodiumacetate, 1 mM EDTA, 0,1% Triton X-100, pH 5,0) and homogenized. Samples were centrifuged (20.000 x g, 10 min, 4°C), supernatant was used for the assay, protein content was determined. For all samples, 20 µg protein diluted to 10 µl was incubated at 37°C for 2 h with 40 µl substrate (73 nmol ¹⁴ C-labelled sphingomyelin + 400 nmol sphingomyelin). Lipids were seperated by chloroform/methanol extraction, 4 ml scintillation liquid was added and radioactivity counted in a β -counter.

3.2.5 Microscopic investigation

3.2.5.1 In situ fluorescence microscopy

In situ imaging of endothelial NO production was performed in cooperation with W. Kuebler and his laboratory as described [148].

In brief, lungs were excised and continuously perfused with 14 ml/min autologous blood at 37° C. Lungs were constantly inflated with a gas mixture of 21% O₂, 5% CO₂, balance N₂ at a positive airway pressure (P_{AW}) of 5 cm H₂O. Left atrial pressure (P_{LA}) was set to 3 cm H₂O, yielding pulmonary artery pressure (P_{PA}) of 10±1 cm H₂O. P_{AW}, P_{LA}, and P_{PA} were continuously monitored and recorded (DASYIab 32; Datalog GmbH, Mönchengaldbach, Germany). Lungs were positioned on a custom-built vibration-free microscope stage and superfused with normal saline at 37°C.

For *in situ* imaging of endothelial NO production, membrane-permeant DAF-FM diacetate (5 mol/L), which de-esterifies intracellularly to cell-impermeant, NO-sensitive DAF-FM was infused for 20 min into pulmonary capillaries via a venous microcatheter (SIMS Portex Ltd., Hythe, UK). Intracellular DAF-FM is converted by an NO-dependent, irreversible reaction to an intensely fluorescent benzotriazole derivative with fluorescence intensity linearly reflecting NO concentration. Single venular capillaries were viewed at a focal plane corresponding to maximum diameter (17-28 µm). Endothelial DAF-FM fluorescence was excited at 480 nm by a near monochromatic beam generated by a digitally controlled galvanometric scanner (Polychrome IV; TILL Photonics, Puchheim, Germany) from a 75watt xenon light source. Fluorescence emission was collected through an upright microscope (Axiotech^{vario} 100HD; Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) equipped with an apochromat objective (UAPO 40x W2/340; Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) and dichroic and emission filters (FT 510, LP 520; Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) by a CCD camera (Sensicam; PCO, Kehlheim, Germany) and subjected to digital image analysis (TILLvisION 4.0; TILL Photonics, Graefelfing, Germany). Exposure time for each single image was limited to 5 milliseconds. Fluorescence images obtained in 10 sec intervals were background-corrected and fluorescence intensity (F) was expressed relative to its individual baseline (F₀). Since the conversion of DAF-FM to the benzotriazole derivative is irreversible, NO production is reflected by changes of the ratio F/F_0 ($\Delta F/F_0$) over time and was determined in 5 min intervals. At the end of experiments, the exogenous NO donor SNAP (1 mmol/L) was added to test whether endothelial cells still contained unconverted DAF-FM.

3.2.5.2 Immunhistochemical analysis of caveolin-1 membrane distribution

Cells grown on gelatinized glass cover slips to confluence and stimulated with α-thrombin on the next day, untreated control layers were prepared, too. Glasses were washed and cells fixed with aceton/methanol 1:1 at -20°C. After washing with PBS, cells were incubated with anti-caveolin-1 antibody for 45 min at 37°C in a humid chamber. Washing and incubation was repeated with an Alexa fluorescence labelled secondary anti-goat andibody. All cell layers were embedded in Dabco and visualized with the fluorescence microscope to compare fluorescence intensity of treated and untreated cells.

3.2.5.3 Electron microscopical analysis of caveolin-1 in cells

HMVEC-cells were seeded and grown (24-48 h) on Thermanox coverslips[™] (Nunc GmbH, Wiesbaden, Germany) at a density of 50.000 cells per cm². For experiments with α-thrombin, growth media was changed to low serum media containing normal medium supplemented with 2% heat inactivated foetal calf serum (FCS). Subsequently, cells were incubated for 1 h at 37°C. After incubation cell cultures were treated for 2 h at 37°C with αthrombin. Then Thermanox coverslips were washed in PBS buffer and fixed with 4% formaldehyde solution (contains 0.1% glutaraldehyde in 0.2 M HEPES buffer). The following investigations of caveolin-1 distribution and the albumin-transport by caveolae/caveolin-1 in HMVEC-L cells were performed in cooperation with M.Ochs. The detailed procedure for the electron microscopical images was described previously by H. Fehrenbach and M.Ochs [294]. In brief, the fixed HMVEC-L cells were incubated with caveolin-1 antibody conjugated with 1nm gold particale and with albumin antibody conjugated with 10nm gold particale and observed on a Zeiss EM912 transmission electron microscope and photographed.

3.2.6 Statistics

Unless otherwise stated, all data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data were analysed by unpaired Student's t-test to test statistical significance. The p-values were corrected for multiple comparisons according to the false discovery rate procedure using the multcomp

module in R 2.1.1 (R Development Core Team, 2005).

4 Results

4.1 Experiments in isolated perfused rat lungs

4.1.1 Role of caveolae

Since sphingolipids in general and ceramide in particular are enriched in caveolae, we started to investigate whether PAF alters the composition of caveolae in pulmonary endothelial cells. Therefore we established a method originally described by Schnitzer *et al.* [246] that permits isolation of caveolae from the endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs. We also investigated the hypothesis that ASM-dependent ceramide production in PAF-induced edema formation is located in the realm of caveolae and that caveolin-1 is involved in signal transduction mediating permeability alterations.

4.1.1.1 Prepration and characterisation of caveolae

Caveolae were isolated from intact endothelial cell of isolated perfused rat lungs (IPL) after perfusion with colloidal silica beads as described in 3.2.1.

Immunoblotting of the resulting fractions showed the typical distribution of caveolin-1 known from caveolae (Fig. 4.1.a) [124, 126, 246]. To increase the amount of material available for subsequent analysis, we pooled the 14 fractions into 6 fractions labeled A-E and P (pellet) (Fig. 4.1.b). Subsequent analysis also showed the presence of flotellin-1, another marker of lipid rafts, in fractions B-E. (Fig. 4.1.c), the presence of flotellin-1 was also demonstrated by mass spectrometry (data not shown). In these fractions we were unable to detect P450 (a microsomal marker), angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE, a non-caveolar plasma membrane protein) or lysosomal-associated marker protein-2 (LAMP-2, a lysosomal marker) (Tab. 4.1), thus conforming that the membrane fractions prepared by silica coating procedure are not contaminated by proteins from extra-caveolar/extra-rafts membrane.

The presence of other structural proteins, membrane lipids, transmembrane receptors and components of signalling transdruction in caveolae was also tested and the results are shown in table 4.1.

Results



Figure 4.1: Isolated caveolar membrane fractions of intact endothelial cells from untreated rat lungs. Representative immunoblots with anticaveolin-1 in membrane fractions before (a) and after pooling of samples (b) from 10 independent isolation and immunoblots with antibody against flotellin-1, another marker of caveolae from 5 independent isolations (c).

Table 4.1: Summary of all components, which were tested of there presence in caveolae after SDS-PAGE by immunoblots with specific antibodies. All in caveolae detected components were labelled with + and non-detected components were labelled with -.

Marker-protein	Relevance	Cell compartment	Present in caveolae	Figure
ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme	non-caveolar plasma membrane	-	
β-Actin	structural protein of cytoskelet	cytoskeleton	+	
ASM	acid sphingomylinase	lysosomales, rafts	+	4.4
Caveolin-1	major protein of caveolae	cell membrane, caveolae	+	4.1.a
Cox-1	cyclooxygenase I,	endoplasmatic reticulum	+	
Cox-2	cyclooxygenase II,	endoplasmatic reticulum	-	
Cytochrome P450	microsomal enzyme	endoplasmatic reticulum	-	
cPLA ₂	cytoplasmatic phospholipase A2	cytoplasma	-	
eNOS	endothelial NO-synthase	cytosol, caveolae	+	4.5
Flotillin	integral membrane protein	cell membrane, rafts	+	4.1.c
GM1	membranelipide	cell membrane, rafts	+	
IP3-R	intrazellular receptor	endoplasmatic reticulum	-	
LAMP-2	lysosomal-associated membrane protein-2	lysosomes	-	
M6P-R	mannose 6-phosphate receptor	cell membrane,non-rafts	+	4.17
PAF-R	platelet-activating factor receptor	cell membrane,non-rafts	-	
P-caveolin-1	phosphocaveolin-1	caveolae	+	
PGE₂-R	external receptor for prostaglandine E_2	cell membrane, non-rafts	-	

4.1.1.2 PAF increases caveolin-1

Because PAF activates the ASM within minutes [287], caveolae were isolated only 10 min after infusion of 5 nmol PAF into the pulmonary artery. Compared to untreated lungs (Fig. 4.2.a), PAF increased the amount of caveolin-1 in the caveolar fractions B-D of pulmonary endothelial cells; the strongest increase was noted in fraction D (Fig. 4.2 b). The caveolar fractions also contained ASM, but its amount did not change in response to PAF (Fig. 4.3.a, b). However, blocking the ASM pathway with imipramine or D609 prevented the PAF-induced recruitment of caveolin-1 into caveolae (Fig. 4.4.a). In line with our previous study [96], we confirmed that both imipramine and D609 reduce PAF-induced edema (Fig. 4.4.b)



Figure 4.2: Caveolin-1 content in caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells in control lungs (a) and lungs perfused with PAF for 10 min (b). Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs and probed by immunoblotting for caveolae. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6 independent experiments.



Figure 4.3: ASM content in caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells in control lungs (a) and lungs perfused with PAF for 10 min (b). Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs and probed by immunoblotting for ASM. Data are mean \pm SEM from 6 independent experiments.



Figure 4.4: Imipramine and D609 reduced caveolin-1 content and prevented PAF-induced edema formation. Lungs were pretreated with imipramine (10μ M) or D609 (300μ M) 10min before PAF (5nmol) was added as a bolus injection. (a) The content of caveolin-1 in caveolae isolated from pulmonary endothelial cells (b) Edema formation were measured by weight gain of isolated perfused rat lungs; controls, n=22; PAF, n=30; imipramine/PAF, n=4; D609/PAF, n=5. Data represent mean ± SEM. Data were analysed by unpaired Student's test and corrected by the fdr procedure

4.1.2 Role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS)

Because caveolin-1 is known to bind and to downregulate eNOS activity in endothelial cells [33, 84], we investigated the effect of PAF on eNOS and NO formation. Caveolae contained eNOS, and its amount inside the caveolar fractions was not altered in PAF treated lungs (Fig. 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Endothelial NO-synthase (eNOS) is present in caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells in control lungs (a) and PAF perfused lungs (b). Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs and probed by immunoblotting for eNOS. Data are mean ± SEM from 5 independent experiments.

Imaging of DAF-FM loaded lung capillary endothelial cells *in situ* revealed stable and continuous NO production in control lungs (Fig. 4.6.a) that was completely blocked after addition of the NO-synthase inhibitor L-NAME (data not shown). PAF-treatment markedly reduced basal endothelial NO production for >30 min, while pretreatment with imipramine significantly attenuated this inhibition and thus, reconstituted NO production (Fig. 4.6.a). Imipramine alone had no effect on basal NO production, as demonstrated by similar NO production rates baseline (t = 0 min) (Fig. 4.6.b). The NO production were defined as described in Material and Methods 3.3.5.1. These experiments were performed in cooperation with W. Kübler.



Figure 4.6: Nitric oxide synthesis in endothelial cells in situ. Fluorescence imaging of the NO-sensitive dye DAF-FM in lung endothelial cells in situ was performed as described before (see ref. 148). Images show NO synthesis before (a, left) and after (a, right) treatment with PAF in the presence (bottom) or absence (top) of imipramine (Imi). Time-dependent of NO production (b) expressed on fluorescence intensity (F) relative to baseline (FO). PAF alone (white circle), imipramine pretreated cells (black circle)

Next we investigate the effect of several inhibitors of NO-synthases on PAF-induced edema formation in isolated perfused rat lungs. Lungs were pretreated with the following NOS-inhibitors; L-NMMA, L-NAME and 1400W 10 min before PAF was added. Figure 4.7 shows that inhibition of NO-synthases by L-NMMA, L-NAME and 1400W had noeffect on PAF-induced edema.



Figure 4.7: Effect of NO-synthases inhibition by L-NMMA, L-NAME or 1400W on PAF-induced edema. L-NMMA (100 μ M), L-NAME (100 μ M) and 1400W (100 μ M) was given 10 min before PAF was added as a blous injection of 5nmol. Edema formation were measured by weight gain of lungs; controls, n=22; PAF, n=30; L-NMMA/PAF, n=6; L-NAME/PAF, n=6; 1400W/PAF, n=9. Data are mean \pm SEM and were analysed by unpaired Student's test and corrected by the fdr procedure

Results

To investigate the involvement of the calcium independent signalling cascade, the phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K)/Akt-dependent activation of eNOS, we examined the presence of PI3K and Akt in isolated caveolae and blocked PI3K/Akt by Ly294002 [300] perfusion in isolated perfused rat lungs. We identified PI3K (Fig. 4.8.a) and Akt (Fig. 4.8.b) in caveolae and observed that both molecules were attenuated after PAF stimulation (black bar). However in isolated perfused rat lungs pretreatment with Ly294002 had no effect on the PAF-induced weight gain (Fig. 4.9).



Figure 4.8: PI3-kinase and Akt contents in caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells in control lungs and PAF perfused lungs. Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs and probed by immunoblotting for PI3K (a) and Akt (b). Data are mean \pm SEM from 5 independent experiments. control (grey bar), PAF treated (black bar)



Figure 4.9: Effect of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase inhibition by Ly294002 (Ly29) on PAF-induced edema in rat lungs. Lungs were pretreated with Ly29 (50 μ M) 10 min before PAF was added as a bolus injection of 5nmol. Weight gain was measured of isolated, perfused rat lungs; control, n=22; PAF, n=30; Ly29/PAF, n=3. Data are mean ± SEM and analysed by unpaired Student's test and corrected anccording to the fdr procedure.

4.1.3 Role of calcium

4.1.3.1 Intracellular calcium

The important role of calcium for PAF-induced edema formation was described by Göggel *et al.* [95]. He and his co-workers suggested that edema formation is partly dependent on an increase in intracellular calcium concentration and that mechanism is mediated by IP_3R , calcium and MLCK [95]. Since this mechanism is independent of cyclooxygenase inhibition we surmised that this calcium response is evoked by ceramide. We observed that PAF increased intracellular endothelial calcium *in situ* and that this response was prevented by imipramine (Fig 4.10.). These experiments were performed in cooperation with W. Kübler. The intracellular calcium concentration were defined as described by W. Kübler *et al.* [148].



Figure 4.10: Intracellular calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) in endothelial cells in situ. Fura-2 ratio imaging of endothelial $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in situ was performed as described before (see ref. 148). (a) Images show endothelial $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ before (left) and after (right) treatment with PAF in the presence (bottom) and absence (top) of imipramine (Imi). (b) Intracellular endothelial calcium concentration was measured by Fura-2 intensity over the time. [PAF alone (white circle, imipramine pretreated cells (black circle)

4.1.3.2 Extracellular calcium

The rise in calcium is controlled at least in part by both IP₃-dependent Ca²⁺-release from intracellular stores and influx of extracellular Ca²⁺; this was also demonstrated for PAF [95]. Recently, TRP channels (some of which may also be regulated by IP₃) have been identified as the long sought calcium channels responsible for the store-operated calcium entry. Also caveolae have been implicated as calcium entry ports and in some instances it was suggested that this might be regulated by TRP channels [3, 47]. In line with this, we identified TRP channel protein-1 (TRPC-1) and TRP channel protein-4 (TRPC-4) inside caveolar fractions by immunoblotting analysis. Figure 4.11 shows representative immunoblots of TRPC-1 and TRPC-4 in caveolae from pulmonary endothelial cells of control and PAF perfused lungs. In fraction B-D protein bands of anti-TRPC-1 and anti-TRPC-4 were detected. However, PAF did not appear to alter the expression of TRPC-1 or TRPC-4 protein in the caveolae.



Figure 4.11: Transient receptor potential channels (TRPC) protein 1 and 4 are expresse in caveolae. Representative immunoblots with antibody against TRPC-1(a) and TRPC-4 (b) in caveolae, after purification from endothelial cells membrane from control lungs (left) and PAF perfused lungs (right).

To investigate the effect of inhibition of TRP channels on PAF-induced edema formation, we blocked TRP channels by SKF 96365 (1-[b-[3-(4-Methoxyphenyl)propoxy]-4-meth-oxyphenethyl]-1H-imidazole, HCl). SKF 96365 was described as a non-selective inhibitor of store operated channels (SOC) and TPR channels in cell culture [235, 236]. It was described that SKF 96365 inhibits receptor-mediated Ca²⁺ entry in activated endothelial cells [236]. In this study, however, blocking of the TRP channels by SKF 96365 had no effect on

Results





Figure 4.12: Effect of SKF 96365 (SKF) - TRP-channel inhibitor - on PAF-induced edema formation in isolated perfused rat lungs. PAF was given as a bolus injection of 5nmol 30 min after beginning perfusion. SKF (30μ M) was given 10 min before injection of PAF. Weight gain was measured in lungs of the following groups: control, n=22; PAF, n=30; SKF/PAF, n=3. Data are mean ± SEM. Data were analysed by Student's t-test and corrected to fdr procedure.

The calcium sensing receptor (CaSR) plays an important role for local changes in the extracellular calcium concentration and using confocal microscopy the colocalization of CaSR and caveolin-1 at the plasma membrane were demonstrated [133, 235]. Therefore we investigated the role of CaSR on PAF-induced edema formation. We used NPS 2390 (2-quinoxaline-carboxamide-N-adamantan-1-yl), a CaSR antagonist, to blocked CaSR in isolated perfused rat lungs. Figure 4.13 shows that the pretreatment with NSP 2390 had no effect on PAF-induced edema formation in lungs.



Figure 4.13: Effect of CaSR inhibition by NSP 2390 (NSP) on PAF induced edema formation in perfused rat lungs. PAF was given as a bolus injection of 5nmol 30 min after beginning of the perfusion. NSP 2390 ($10\mu M$) was given 10 min before PAF. Weight gain was measured in control lungs, n= 22; PAF-treated lungs,n=30 and lungs pretreated with NPS 2390, n=3. Data are mean ± SEM and were analysed by unpaired Student's t-test. The p-values were corrected according to the fdr procedure.

4.1.4 Role of MAPK

MAP kinases were identified by virtue of their activation in response to growth factor stimulation of cells in culture, hence the name mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK). MAPK may be associated with caveolae and have been implicated in the regulation of vascular permeability [137, 293, 316]. In this study we showed the presence of extracellular signalrelated kinases 1 and 2 (ERK-1/2) (Fig. 4.14.a) and its amount inside the caveolar fractions was only slightly altered in PAF treated lungs. The caveolar fractions also contained the phosphorylated form, P-ERK-1/2. Compared to untreated lungs, PAF decreased the amount of caveolin-1 inside the caveolar fractions B-D of pulmonary endothelial cells (Fig. 4.14.b).To investigate the functional significance of ERK-1/2 in the mechanism of PAF-induced edema formation a selective inhibitor of MEK, U0126, was used in isolated perfused rat lungs. Figure 4.15 showed that no significant reduction of weight gain was measured in U0126 pretreated lungs. Also, higher concentrations of this inhibitor had no effect (data not shown).



Figure 4.14: Extracellular signal-related kinases 1 and 2 (ERK-1/2) and its phosphorylated form (P-ERK) are present in caveolae isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs (control and PAF treated lungs) and probed by immunoblotting for ERK-1/2 (a) and P-ERK-1/2 (b). Data are mean±SEM from 3-5 independent experiments. control (with bar), PAF treated (black bar)



Figure 4.15: Effect of MEK inhibition by U0126 on PAF-induced edema formation in perfused rat lungs. PAF was given as a bolus injection of 5 nmol 30 min after beginning of the perfusion. U0126 (20μ M) was given 10 min before PAF was added. Weight gain was measured in control lungs, n=22; PAF perfused lungs,n=30 and lungs pretreated with U0126, n=3. Data are mean ± SEM and were analysed by unpaired Student's t-test and corrected according to the fdr procedure.

4.1.5 Mannose-6-phosphate receptor (M6P-R) is present in caveolae

It has been suggested that extracellular ASM binds to the cells through M6P-R [83, 107]. To investigate the involvement of this receptor in PAF-induced edema Göggel *et al.* perfused isolated rat lungs with M6P to block free receptor binding sits and observed that lungs were partly protected against PAF-induced edema formation. Therefore we investigated the localisation of M6P-R in isolated membrane microdomaines of pulmonary endothelial cells. Figure 4.16 shows that M6P-R was present in samples C-D in caveolae

Results

of isolated membrane fractions from endothelial cells from control lungs (Fig. 4.16.a) and PAF perfused lungs (Fig. 4.16.b). However PAF had no significant effect on the expression of M6P-R.



Figure 4.16: Mannose-6-phophate receptor (M6P-R) content in caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells in control (a) and lungs perfused with PAF for 10 min (b). Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs and probed by immunoblotting for M6P-R. Data are mean \pm SEM from 3 independent experiments each.

4.2 In vitro experiments

4.2.1 Thrombin effects in human microvascular endothelial cells from lungs

In our hands, PAF has no effect on endothelial permiability in cell culture model. To obtain further insights in cellular signalling events, which are involved in vascular permeability alterations, we used thrombin as an inducer of increase endothelial permeability in cultured cells. Thrombin was used because it is widely used, so new data can be integrated into a large body of research.

4.2.1.1 Thrombin stimulates transendothelial FITC-albumin diffusion

Before, the mechanisms of thrombin-induced alterations of endothelial cell monolayer permeability were described as vascular leakage mediated by endothelial cell contration [27, 63, 169]. Most of these data were obtained by measuring the electrical resistance of monolayers as a measured of permeability [283]. But this elegant method disregards transcellular transport. In this study, FITC-albumin diffusion (3.4.2.1) was used to investigate thrombin-induced permeability in endothelial monolayer. Figure 4.17.a shows that HMVEC-L responded to thrombin stimulation in a concentration-dependent manner. A thrombin concentration of more than 100 nM produced an increase of the permeability index higher than 100% (Fig. 4.17.b). This finding suggstes that thrombin induces permeability by active transcellular transport of albumin.



Figure 4.15: Thrombin increase FITC-albumin diffusion across endothelial cell monolayers. Dose-dependent increase in thrombin stimulated cells of FITC-albumin concentration into the bottom chamber below after 240 min (n=3) (a). The permeability index; defines albumin transport across cell monolayers. 0 % denotes untreated intact cell monolayer and 100% denotes empty cell-free monolayer (b).

4.2.1.2 Sphingomylinase activity and ceramide content in HMVEC-L cells

Next we investigated the involvement of ASM and ceramide in the response of endothelial cells to thrombin. In HMVEC-L cells, ASM activity in the cell pellet was elevated from 18.8 nmol (control level) to 24.7±0.35 nmol/2h (SEM, n=3) and 24.5±0.30 nmol/2h (SEM, n=5) substrate turnover after 30 min of thrombin stimulation (Fig. 4.18.a). We observed no increase of ASM activity in the subernatants of HMVEC-L cells (data not shown). The ceramide content after thrombin stimulation was also increased in HMVEC-L cells (Fig. 4.18.b). The ceramide content was highest after 30 min at 2.15±0.23 nmol/10⁶ cells. This value corresponds to an increase of 45% compared to control levels.



Figure 4.16: ASM activity and ceramide content of HMVEC-L cell monolayers after stimulation with thrombin. ASM activity of HMVEC-L after stimulation with thrombin for 0, 5, 30 min (a).* significantly higher than contol (t=0 min), p<0.01 Dunett-test (n=2-5). Ceramide content of HMVEC-L cells after stimulation with thrombin for 0, 5, 30 min (b).* significantly higher than contol (t=0 min), p<0.05 Dunett-test (n=3-5). Cell numbers was 2 x 10⁶.

4.2.1.3 Thrombin-induces transcytosis by the acid sphingomylinase pathway

To investigate wether ceramide and ASM contributes to increase of albumin transport, we added different inhibitory substances, that interfere with the ceramide pathway, before stimulating the cells with thrombin. Both, imipramine and D609 have repeatedly been shown to block the sphingomylinase pathway. In HMVEC-L cells, both substances signifigantly inhibited the increase in FITC-albumin diffusions rate induced by thrombin (Fig. 4.19.a). Imipramine inhibited the albumin transport about 85% and D609 about 150%. Note, that in these experiments FITC-albumin diffusion induced by thrombin was over 200% of the diffusion rate across empty membranes (fig. 4.19.a). These findings suggest that thrombin-

Results

induced increase of albumin transport mediated by ASM-ceramide. To confirm this we used Y27632 (Y27) a specific inhibitor for Rho/Rho kinase (which is involved in the mechanism of thrombin-induced paracellular leakage) togehter with imipramine and antibody against ceramide (cer-Ab). Figure 4.19.b shows that the increase of albumin diffusion rate was partly reduced by preincubation with imipramine, cer-Ak and Y27632 alone. But if cell monolayers were simultaneously pretreated with imipramine and Y27 or cer-Ab and Y27, FITC-albumin diffusion was almost complete reduced. The thrombin increased of FITC-albumin diffusion was attenuated more than 150%. These findings confirmed that thrombin-induced albumin transport beside the established mechanism of thrombin-induced permeability by cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell contraction.



Figure 4.17: Effect of ASM pathway and Rho-kinase inhibiton on thrombin-induced increase of FITC-albumin diffusion across endothelial cell monolayers. 4 x 105 HMVEC-L cells were preincubated with imipramine (10μ M) for 20h or with D609 (300μ M) for 30 min alone (a) and simultaneous with imipramine and Y27 (10μ M) or ceramide antibody (50μ g/ml) and Y27 for 30min, before thrombin was added for 180min (b). The permeability was detected by FITC-albumin transmigration from the upper chamber of the Transwell insert system to the lower chamber across the cell monolayer. Permeability index: 0% denotes intact untreated monolayers and 100% denotes cell-free monolayers: >100% indicates transcellular transport. * Significant lower to thrombin; imipramine p<0.007, imi/Y27 and cer/Y27 p<0.0005. Data are mean±SEM from 6 independent experiments. Data analysed by unpaired Students t-test and corrected by the fdr procedure (n=6). imi (imipramine), cer-Ab (antibody against ceramide), Y27 (Y27632)
4.2.1.4 Thrombin increase caveolin-1

Transcellular transport of albumin commences in caveolae [182, 217]. Two molecules are required for this process, caveolin-1 and gp60. Caveolin-1 is needed for formation of caveolae and gp60 acts as a receptor for albumin [243, 244]. Therefore we investigated the presence of the caveolae-signature molecule caveolin-1 in detergent-resistant membrane fractions (caveolae). Figure 4.20.A shows representative immunoblots of caveolin-1 in cell membranes isolated from untreated cells (a) and thrombin stimulated cells (b). Compared to control cells, thrombin increased the amount of caveolin-1 in the membrane fractions 1-4 of pulmonary endothelial cells (c). The increased amount of caveolin-1 in the plasma membrane was confirmed by immune histochemnistry (Fig. 4.20.B) as well as by electron microscopy (Fig. 4.20.C). Electron microscopy was performed in cooperation with Ch. Mühlfeld and M. Ochs as described [294].



Figure 4.18: Thrombin induced enrichment of caveolin-1 in the plasma membrane. 2.5 x 10^6 cells were treated with 500nM (50U/ml) thrombin for 120 min. (A) Caveolin-1 content in detergent-resistant membrane fractions. Immunoblots of the cytosol (c), membrane fractions 1-8 and pellet (P) with anti-caveolin-1 antibodies of detergent-resistant membrane fractions from (a) control cells and (b) thrombin stimulated cells. (c) Quantification of caveolin-1 amount in caveolae-fractions. Thrombin is significantly higher to control (p < 0.0431). Data are mean \pm SEM and analysed by unpaired students t-tests (n=4) corrected by the fdr procedure. (B) Representative fluorescence microscopic images (1:400) of HMVEC-L cells stained with an anti-caveolin-1 antibody and an Alexa fluorescence-secondary antibody. Cell layers of control and thrombin stimulated cells are shown after 120 min.(C) Electron micscopy, shown are gold-labelled anti-caveolin-1 antibodies.

Results

4.2.1.5 Thrombin-induced albumin transport in caveolin-1 containing vesicles

To investigate transcellular transport of albumin; HMVEC-L cells were stained with gold labelled antibodies for caveolin-1 and albumin. Thrombin-induced albumin transport was directly visualized by electron-microscopy (Fig. 4.21). Remarkably, albumin was found close proximity to caveolin-1 after incubation with thrombin. These findings indicated that albumin was transported in caveolin-1 containing vesicles. Electron microscopy was performed in cooperation with M. Mühlfeld and M. Ochs as described [294].



Figure 4.19: Thrombin-induced albumin transport in caveolae. Electron microscopic images, shown are gold-labeled anti-caveolin-1 antibodies (small, particle with diameter 1nm) and gold-labeled albumin antibodies (large, particle with diameter 15nm large) in untreated (a) and thrombin-treated (b) HMVEC-L cells. Thrombin (50U/ml) was added for 60min.

4.2.2 Thrombin regulates caveolin-1 content

4.2.2.1 Inhibition of ASM blocks caveolin -1 increase

To investigate wether ceramide contributes to the increase of caveolin-1, we preincubated HMVEC-L cells with imipramine and D609, before thrombin was added. Figure 4.22. shows pretreatment of HMVEC-L cells with both inhibitors reduced the amount of caveolin-1 in lipid rafts. Representative immunoblots of anti-caveolin-1 in cytosol, membrane fractions 1-8 and pellet fraction of control cells (a), thrombin-treated cells (b) and imipramine and D609 preincubated cells (c) were shown in Figure 4.22.A. The content of caveolin-1 was elevated from 85.55±24.36 counts in the control to 192.0±40.58 counts after 120 min thrombin stimulation (Fig 4.22.B), but reduced more than 100% in imipramine and D609 pretreated HMVEC-L cells.We also investigated the content of caveolin-1 in whole cell ly-sate of endothelial cells. On the next page figure 4.23.a shows the characteristic caveolin-1 immunoblot of cell lysates under different conditions. Thrombin increased caveolin-1 and

Results

preincubation with D609 and imipramine decreased the content of caveolin-1. Figure 4.23.b shows the quantification of the protein bands and confirmed the findings that that thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 was reduced by imipramine and D609. The intensity of caveolin-1 protein band was reduced from 136.7±13.09 counts in thrombin stimulated cells to 86.30±6.82 counts in imipramine pretreaded cells and to 67.06±13.28 counts in D609 pretreated cells



Figure 4.20: Figure 4.20: Inhibitory effect of imipramine and D609 on thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 in HMVEC-L cells. 2.5 x 106 cells were pretreated with imipramine (10μ M) for 20h and D609 (300μ M) for 30 min before 500nM (50U/ml) thrombin was added for 120min and caveolae were isolated. Representative immunoblots of caveolin-1 in isolated fractions of cytosol (c), membrane fractions 1-8 and pellet (P) from control (a) thrombin treated cells (b) and imipramine (c) D609 (d) pretreated cells (A). The caveolin-1 content in caveolae was significantly lower than thrombin; imipramine p<0.006 (n=10) and D609, p<0.04 (n=10) and higher than to control, thrombin p<0.04 (B). Data are mean±SEM and analysed by unpaired Students t-test. P-valus were corrected by fdr procedure. Frame shows caveolar fractions; imi (imipramine).



Figure 4.21: Caveolin-1 content in whole cell-lysate. 2.5 x 10⁶ HMVEC-L cells were preincubated for 20h with imipramine (10 μ M) or for 30 min with D609 (300 μ M) before 500nM (50U/ml) thrombin was added for 120min. Representative immunoblots stained with anti-caveolin-1 antibody (a). Quantification of caveolin-1 protein bands in the whole cell-lysate (b). Compared to thrombin stimulates cells the content of caveolin-1 signifigantly lower than in controll cells and in cells pretreat with imipramine p<0.03 (n=3) or D609 p<0.02 (n=3) to p<0.009. Data are mean±SEM and are analysed by unpaired Students t-test and corrected by fdr procedure. Imi (imipramine), thr (thrombin).

4.2.2.2 Blocking transcription and translation during thrombin stimulation

To investigate whether thrombin stimulated the protein synthesis of caveolin-1, we blocked the transcription with actinomycin D (ActD) [56] or the translation with cycloheximide (CHX) [155] during thrombin stimulation. Figure 4.24. shows that both inhibitors attenuated the content of caveolin-1 in the whole endothelial cells lysate. Subsequently, we examined the effect of protein synthesis inhibition on caveolin-1 content only in caveolae of endothelial cell membrane. Figure 4.25.A shows the characteristic distribution of caveolin-1 in cytosol, membrane fraction 1-8 and pellet fraction of control cells (a), thrombin stimulated cells (b), ActD pretreated cells (c) and CHX pretreated cells (d). The content of caveolin-1 inside caveolae enhanced by thrombin stimulation (Fig. 4.25.B). In the present of both inhibitors, the content of caveolin-1 was attenuated by CXH about 30%, but not completely and effectively as on transcription levels (Fig. 4.25.B). These findings suggest that thrombin could be involved in *de novo* synthesis of caveolin-1.



Figure 4.22: Effect of protein biosynthesis inhibition by actinomycin D or cycloheximide on the thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 in whole endothelial cell lysates. 2.5 x 10⁶ HMVEC-L cells were incubated simultaneous with 500 nM (50U/ml) thrombin and ActD (2 μ g/ml) or thrombin and CHX (1 μ g/ml) for 180 min. Representative immunoblot of caveolin-1 in the whole cell lysate (a).Caveolin-1 content in caveolae of whole cell * significantly lower to thrombin; ActD (p<0.03) and CHX (p<0.03) and higher than control, thrombin p<0.009. Data are mean±SEM from 5 independent experiments. Data analysed by unpaired Students t-test and corrected by the fdr procedure. ActD (actinomycin D), CHX (cycloheximide, thr (thrombin)



Figure 4.23: Effect of protein biosynthesis inhibiton by actinomycin D or cycloheximide on the thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 in caveolae of endothelial cell membrane. 2.5×10^6 cells were incubated simultaneously with 500nM (50U/ml) thrombin and ActD (2µg/ml) or thrombin and CHX (1µg/ml). (A) Caveolae were isolated from endothelial cell membranes of control cells (a), thrombin-treated cells (b), trombin/ActD-treated cells (c) and thrombin/CHX-treated cells (d). (B) Caveolin-1 content in the membrane fractions (1-4). * Significant lower than thrombin; ActD p<0.002 (n=3), CHX p<0.02 (n=3) and higher than control, thrombin p<0.0006 (n=3). Data are mean±SEM analysed by unpaired Student's t-test and corrected by the fdr procedure. Frame shows caveolar fractions, ActD (actinomycin D), CHX (cy-cloheximide), c (cytosol), p (pellet)

Results

4.2.3 Thrombin contributes transport in intact vessels

To show that thrombin contributes transytosis also in intact vessels were performed in cooperation with W.Kübler in isolated rat lungs. Vascular endothelial cells were labelled with the highly fluorescent, calcium-sensitive dye, fura-2 (green). Microscopic investigation of FITC-albumin diffusion in aortic endothelial cells is shown in figure 4.26. In control endothelium FITC-albumin (red) was observed on the outside, but not in the inside of the endothelial cells (Fig. 4.26, left). In thrombin-treated cells FITC-albumin was located in vascular endothelial cells as is indirected by red fluorecence the signal in the green marked cell wall. These findings indicate that thrombin-induces transcellular transport of albumin in also in intact vessels.



Figure 4.24: Representative fluorescence images of vascular endothelail cells in rat lungs. Endothelial cells stained with Fura-2 fluorecent dye (green colour) and albumin labelled with FITC fluorescent dye (red colour). Endothelial cells of vessels under control and after thrombin stimulation are shown (n=2)

4.2.4 Extracellular acid sphingomyelinase

Endothelial cells can secrete lysosomal acid sphingomylinase in the subendothelial space after incubation with inflammatory cytokines (IL 1 β , INF γ) [273]. In was observed that inhibition of this enzyme reduces the mortality in sepsis models and the extent of pulmonary edema in acute lung injury [290]. Therefore we investigated the effects of extracellular acid sphingomylinase (ASM) in HMVEC-L cells.

4.2.4.1 Ceramide measurement after extracellular ASM treatment in cells

To investigate whether extracellular ASM generates ceramide from sphingomyelin (which is located in the outer leaflet of the cell membrane) HMVEC-L cells were treated with ASM or thrombin. Figure 4.27.a shows that both lipids, C_{16} ceramide and C_{18} ceramide were located in lysates from control, thrombin- and ASM-treated HMVEC-L cells. Compared to control cell lysate (2.76±0.281nM), the amount of ceramide in ASM-treated cell lysate (2.887±0.1803 nM) was almost equal (fig.4.27.b). In the presence of thrombin the content of both lipids, C_{16} ceramide and C_{18} ceramide, was elevated from 2.76±0.281nM (control level) to 3.583±0.393 nM. Figure 4.27.c shows the percentages of ceramide. The amount of ceramide after thrombin stimulation was 25% higher that in the control cell lysate. These findings indicate that external administration of ASM did not change the content of ceramide in the cell lysate.



Figure 4.25: Ceramide content of HMVEC-L cells after stimulation with acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) (1 U/ml) and thrombin (50 U/ml). Cell number was 3×10^6 cells. Stimulation time for both mediators was 120min. Visualisation of lipid bands; C₁₆ ceramide (C₁₆) and C₁₈ ceramide (C₁₈), from control cells, thrombin or ASM-treated cells. Concentration of ceramide in control, thrombin and ASM-treaded cell lysat samples (a,b) and calculated increase of ceramide as precent (n=3) (c).

Results

4.2.4.2 External ASM increased caveolin-1

Next we investigated whether treatment with external ASM increases the caveolin-1 content in cells. We incubated HMVEC-L cells with ASM for 120 min and subsequently the caveolae were isolated from endothelial cell membranes. ASM increased the content of caveolin-1 in the caveolae fractions 1-4. Characteristic immunoblots of cytosol (c), membrane fractions and pellet (P) from control (a) and ASM-treated cells (b) are shown in figure 4.28.A. Figure 4.28.B shows the content of caveolin-1 in caveolar membrane fraction 2 isolated from ASM or thrombin stimulated cells in comparison to control cells. The caveolin-1 content was stronger elevated in response to thrombin.



Figure 4.26: Extracellular ASM increases caveolin-1. 2,5 x 10^6 HMVEC-L cells were incubated with thrombin (50U/ml) or ASM (1U/ml) for 120min. (A) Representative immunoblots of cytosol, membrane fractions and pellet were isolated from control cells (a) and ASM-treated cells (b). (B) Caveolin-1 content in caveolar fraction 2 * significantly higher than in control, ASM p<0.02 (n=3) and thrombin p<0.03 (n=3). All data are mean±SEM analysed by unpaired students t-test and corrected by the fdr procedure. Frame shows caveolar fraction and dashed frame the caveolar membrane fraction 2. ASM (acid sphingomyelinase), c (cytosol), pellet (P)

4.2.4.3 External ASM increase FITC-albumin diffusion

Next we examined if administration of extracellular ASM increased the transport of albumin across endothelial cells. We measured FITC-albumin diffusion rate across HMVEC-L cell monolayers in the Transwell insert system. Figure 4.29.a shows that the FITC-albumin concentration was elevated by ASM from 80.56 ng/ml (control level) to 128.33 ng/ml in ASM-treated cells. Figure 4.29.b shows that ASM increased FITC-albumin diffusion by more than 100%. However, compared to thrombin the effect by ASM was lower.



Figure 4.27: External ASM increases FITC-albumin diffusion across HMVEC-L cell monolayers. The FITC-albumin diffusions rate was measured in control, thrombin or ASM stimulated endothelial cell monolayers (a) Concentration of albumin, * significantly higher than control, thrombin p<0.001 and ASM p<0.004. (b) Permeability index: 0% denotes intact untreated monolayers and 100% denotes cell-free monolayers: >100% indicates transcellular transport. * significantly increased vs. control; thrombinp<0.0003 and ASM p<0.0338 (n=6). Data are mean \pm SEM from 6 independent experiments. Data analysed by unpaired Students t-test and corrected by the fdr procedure

5.1 PAF in isolated perfused rat lung

Platelet-activating factor (PAF) is a potent proinflammatory mediator that elevates vascular permeability and leads to edema formation in pulmonary inflammation. Recently our group has shown that PAF-induced edema formation is partly mediated by acid sphingomy-elinase (ASM)-derived ceramide [96]. The mechanisms by which ceramide alters vascular permeability are poorly understood.

The presence of sphingolipids in caveolae is well documented, where they contribute to the enhanced rigidity of membrane, but may also assume signalling functions [8]. Caveolae are enriched in caveolin-1 and endothelial NO synthase (eNOS), to the effect that eNOS is bound and thereby kept in its inactive state by caveolin-1 [54, 70, 91]. The alleged role of sphingolipids in caveolae, the localisation of eNOS within caveolae and the potential role of NO in the regulation of vascular permeability let us to investigate whether PAF administration in the lungs would alter the composition of caveolae and affect NO synthesis.

5.1.1 Regulation of caveolin-1 by PAF

Here we provide direct and indirect evidence that PAF causes translocation of caveolin-1 to the caveolae of endothelial cells.

- PAF increased the amount of caveolin-1 in Triton X-100-resistant membrane fractions isolated from PAF treated lungs (Fig. 4.2). According to previous studies these fractions most likely represent caveolae [10, 124, 125, 126, 181]. This conclusion is further supported by the presence of flotillin-1 (another marker of caveolae [19] in these fractions and by the absence of lysosomal, nuclear and microsomal markers (Fig. 4.1, Tab. 4.1).
- Indirect evidence for the recruitment of caveolin-1 in response to PAF is provided by the fact that PAF decreased endothelial NO production (Fig. 4.6). Caveolin-1 inhibits eNOS activity by a direct interaction with eNOS through its "scaffolding domain," located between amino acids 82 and 101 within endothelial plasmalemmal caveolae

[77, 84, 183, 256].

 While the present study did not demonstrate a link between caveolin-1 activation and edema formation, such a mechanism seems still feasible given the fact that inhibition of ASM does prevent not only caveolin-1 recruitment, but also edema formation induces by PAF (Fig. 4.4). Future studies will have to clarify the underlying mechanisms.

Recruitment of caveolin-1 to the plasma membrane has also been described for rat pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells in response to shear stress [229]. In that study caveolin-1 redistribution was associated with an increased number of cell surface caveolae. Whether this is true in our model as well remains to be shown. The fact that caveolin-1 increased while eNOS did not (Fig 4.2, 4.5) which is in contrast to the effect of shear stress [229], suggests that if new caveolae were recruited to the plasma membrane they contained more caveolin-1 than eNOS protein. The alternative explanation is that caveolin-1 was recruited to sphingolipid rich membrane regions produced by the ASM. Such a scenario would be supported by the finding that pretreatment with two pharmacological agents, which disrupt the hydrolysis of sphingomyelin by ASM (D609 and imipramine) also reduced the amount of caveolae are controlled requires more investigations.

5.1.2 Caveolin-1 regulates eNOS activity

Since caveolin-1 is well known to inhibit eNOS, the increased caveolar levels of caveolin-1 explain the reduction of endothelial NO production in response to PAF. A similar mechanism has been suggested in models of portal hypertension [33, 320] and liver cirrhosis [255] where elevated caveolin-1 levels were associated with reduced NO-synthesis. Under these conditions caveolin-1 competes with Ca²⁺-calmodulin (Ca²⁺/CaM) for eNOS binding and accordingly the block by caveolin-1 can be overcome by providing extra calmodulin [254]. The calcium independent activation of eNOS can occur through phosphorylation of the eNOS by PKB/Akt-kinase which in turn is activated by phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K). The influence of caveolin on the PI3K/Akt pathway is not well investigated. However, PI3K was found in caveolae from fibroblasts [159], myeloid-derived cells [319] and endothelial cells [163] and this suggests that PI3K activity might be controlled by cave-

olin under certain conditions. In support of this, we also identified PI3K and Akt in caveolae and observed that both were attenuated after PAF stimulation (Fig. 4.8). This finding suggests that the increased amount of caveolin-1 in caveolae may have blocked PI3K activity and the subsequent activation by Akt-kinase in response to PAF. Interestingly, it has been shown that ceramide may inactivate PI3K by caveolin-1 overexpression [321, 322]. A similar effect of caveolin-1 overexpression was described for the downstream effector molecule Akt in fibroblasts and epithelial cells [159]. Both studies indicate a possibility of how ASM activity may diminish NO activity. Thus inhibition of PI3K should not attenuate PAF induced pulmonary edema, which is exactly what we observed (Fig. 4.9).

In other studies it was observed that PAF-induced anaphylactic shock depended on PI3K signaling and on NO produced by the constitutive enzyme eNOS [40] and that PAF activated the PI3K/Akt pathway on binding to its transmembrane receptor, a typical G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) [41, 190], which can interact with the regulatory subunit (p85) of PI3K [319]. This interaction causes an increase in the activity of Akt (downstream effector molecule of PI3K activation) and a direct phosphorylation of eNOS followed by increased NO production [84]. In comparison to this, our findings suggest that PAF reduced NO-production mediated by caveolin-1, maybe by binding the downstream effector molecules PI3K/Akt in the pathway of the eNOS activation. This could be an explanation for the fact that Ly294002, a potent and specific inhibitor of PI3K [300], had no effect in our model.

Taken together, our findings suggest (i) that caveolin-1 plays a major role in the PAFtriggered reduction in endothelial NO levels, (ii) the increase of caveolin-1 by PAF-induced recruitment of caveolin in ASM-ceramide dependent manner, (iii) reduced the NO production through direct binding of eNOS and (iv) indirectly through inhibition of the downstream signal molecules PI3K/Akt from the Ca²⁺-independent pathway of eNOS activation.

5.1.3 Role of NO in edema formation

The role of NO in the development of pulmonary edema is still controversial. While in the systemic circulation most, but not all of the evidence indicates that increased NO production mediates vascular hyperpermeability [185, 186], this situation is more confusing with respect to the lungs. Unspecific inhibition of NO synthesis did on the one hand attenuate pulmonary edema induced by PMA [238]; ischemia/reperfusion [135] and IL-2 [12, 206, but

on the other hand it aggravated or had no effect against pulmonary edema induced by LPS [45, 113] or pancreatitis [274]. One possible conclusion from these studies is that both too much and too little NO can increase vascular permeability [218]. However, it should also be noted that many studies assessed vascular permeability by tracers [136, 260] or indirectly by methods such as the Landis technique [151]), but not edema formation. This may not be the same as is illustrated by the eNOS knock-out-mice that do not show pulmonary edema despite an altered tracer distribution [218]. The question of how to interpret tracer studies is also highlighted by the fact that the result of such studies may even depend on the fluorescence dye to which the tracer (in that case albumin) is coupled [306]. In the lungs, edema formation is not only a function of vascular permeability, but also of hydrostatic pressure, lymphatic drainage and alveolar fluid clearance which are all differentially regulated by nitric oxide. Thus, nitric oxide may have pro- and anti-edematous effects depending on rate, site, and duration of NO synthesis as well as on activation of interrelated signalling pathways. It should also be noted that in many models the mode of action is difficult to dissect, because NO does not only regulate vascular permeability but in addition also attenuates leukocytes activation/adhesion and reduces vascular pressure and hence hydrostatic edema [113, 165, 194]. Therefore, we would like to emphasize that our isolated perfused lung model was designed to exclude extrapulmonary leukocytes and hydrostatic edema. The former is achieved by blood-free perfusion and through rinsing of the lungs at relatively high perfusion rates (> 25 ml), the latter by using constant pressure perfusion [294, 295]. Thus, this model is well suited to study PAF-induced alterations in pulmonary vascular permeability independent of many confounding factors. Using this model, in the past we have shown that PAF increases vascular permeability by the concomitant action of PGE₂ and ceramide [94, 96]. While PGE₂ is not known to stimulate NO synthesis, for ceramide this has been described [121. However, in those cases where ceramide did stimulate NO production, the ceramide was generated by the neutral sphingomyelinase (NSM) in response to shear stress [148]. In our model PAF activates the acid (ASM) rather than the neutral sphingomyelinase [96] and the experiments with imipramine indicate that this is causally related to decreased endothelial NO levels (Fig 4.10). Taken together we propose that in endothelial cells depending on the stimulus either ASM or NSM are activated leading to decreased or increased NO synthesis respectively. This hypothesis shall be tested by contrasting the effects of PAF-induced NO decrease to that of stretch increase NO.

Recently it was shown in eNOS-deficient or L-NAME-treated mice that NO is critical to maintain endothelial junctional permeability [218]. From these findings, a drop in endothelial NO, as reported here, would be expected to enhance vascular permeability. And in fact, if the PAF-induced drop in endothelial NO levels was prevented by imipramine (Fig. 4.6), the PAF-induced edema was reduced (though not completely, because this treatment did not affect the PGE₂-dependent pathway [305]). In the study of Predescu and colleagues [218] however, L-NAME increased junctional permeability only after 30 min rather than within a few minutes, suggesting that along the PAF-ASM-axis additional mechanisms such as increased intracellular calcium levels are likely to come into play as well [121]. Such an additional mechanism appears also likely on the grounds that eNOS deficiency alone does not cause pulmonary edema. In addition to the observation of Predescu et al. [218], other have observed that inhibition of NO synthesis with L-NAME or L-NMMA increases vascular permeability dependent on changes in the endothelial cytoskeleton [247]. These findings are in line with our observation that perfusion with L-NAME or L-NMMA in isolated rat lungs did not prevent the PAF-induced edema formation (Fig. 4.7). To exclude the possibility that PAF induced edema through inducible NOS (iNOS) generated NO, we pretreated rat lungs with 1400W, a potent inhibitor of iNOS, but a reduction of edema formation was not detected (Fig 4.7) [287]. Previous studies had show that PAF activates the inducible form of NOS in response to cytokines (e.g. TNFa, IL 1β, IFy) in cell culture of immortalized astrocytes (DITNC) [302]. Peng et al. showed in the mice model of ventilator-induced lung injury (VILI) that iNOS rather then eNOS gene expression and activity was significantly upregulated by mechanical high ventilation (HV_T, 20 ml/kg for 2 hours) and that this contributes to pulmonary edema in wild type mice [213]. Taken together these findings, in caveolae isolated from pulmonary endothelial cells of isolated perfused rat lungs we made the novel observation that PAF increases caveolin-1 levels within minutes, suggesting that PAF causes reorganization or formation of new caveolae in endothelial cells. Because caveolin-1 is well known to block eNOS activity, we conclude that PAF treatment reduces NO production. Pretreatment with the ASM-inhibitor imipramine prevented the PAF-induced decrease in endothelial NO levels and reduced edema formation indicating that both effects are mediated by ASM. Inhibition of NOS with L-NAME, L-NMMA or 1400W had no effect on PAF-induced edema, suggesting that along the PAF-ASM axis

additional mechanisms such as increased intracellular calcium levels are likely to come into play as well. Future investigations to examine employing perfusion C₂ ceramide in isolated lungs and experiments with ASM-knockout mice and caveolin-1-deficient mice will provide further insights into this novel pathway.

5.1.4 Role of the mitogene-activated protein kinase (MAPK)

A variety of extracellular stimuli can target transmembrane molecules to activate intracellular signal transdruction. These signals are then transduced through the cell by signalling cascades to regulate cellular processes such as differention, proliferation, apoptosis and inflammation. One specific intracellular event is the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) which are divided into four distinctly regulated groups : extracellular signal-related kinases (ERK)-1 and 2, c-Jun amino-terminal kinases (JNK 1,2 and 3), p38 MAPK and ERK-5. Since in previously it was observed that ERK-1/2 activation regulates PAF-induced hyperpermeability [317, we investigated the ERK-1/2 pathway in this thesis. The presence of MAPK, particular ERK-1/2, in caveolae is well established [79, 137, 316]. In keeping with this we identified the native unphosphorylated form of ERK-1/2 (Fig. 4.14.a) in caveolae from pulmonary endothelial cells. Interestingly we detected only a slightly increase of the native form of ERK-1/2 in caveolae in response to PAF (Fig. 4.14.a).

The essential events in the regulation of MAPK are phosphorylation and dephosphorylation on amino acid residues of threonine, tyrosine and serine. Phosphorylation is catalyzed by various specific protein kinases, whereas phosphatases dephosphorylate. The activation of the ERK-pathway is well established and is illustrated by the following example: epidermal growth factor (EGF) induced ERK activation (next page Fig. 5.1). The binding of EGF induces receptor dimerisation and autophosphorylation (P) on tyrosine residues (1). These phosphotyrosines function as docking sites for signalling molecules including the Grb2-SOS complex, which activates the small G-protein Ras by stimulating the exchange of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) for guanosine triphosphate (GTP) (2). This exchange elicits a conformational change in Ras, enabling it to bind to Raf-1 and recruit it from the cytosol to the cell membrane, where Raf-1 activation takes place. Raf-1 activation is a multi-step process that involves the dephosphorylation of inhibitory sites by protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) as well as the phosphorylation of activating sites by PAK (p21*rac/cd*-

c42-activated kinase), Src-family and yet unknown kinases (3). Activated Raf-1 phosphorylates and activates MEK (MAPK/ERK kinase), which in turn phosphorylates and activates extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK) (4). Activated ERK has many substrates in the cytosol e.g. cytoskeletal proteins, phospholipase A2, signalling proteins including tyrosine kinase receptors, SOS, signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins (STATs) and others (5). ERK can also enter the nucleus to control gene expression by phosphorylating transcription factors (6) such as ETS-like protein-1 (Elk-1), activation protein-1 (AP-1) or others, which are involved in inflammation, proliferation and cell survivale.



Figure 5.1:The organisation and function of the ERK pathway in response to epidermal growth factor. For more details see text. EGF (epidermal growth factor), MEK (mitogen activating protein kinase/ERK kinase), ERK (extracellular signal-regulated kinases), ELK-1 (ETS-like protein-1). Adapted from Kolch W. et al [143]

Here we detected the phosphorylated form of ERK-1/2 in caveolae and its amount was decreased in response to PAF (Fig 4.14.b). These findings suggest PAF inhibites the ERK-1/2 signalling pathway, maybe by dephosphorylation. Other groups discovered that overexpression of caveolin-1 dramatically inhibits the ERK-1/2 signalling pathway [62] whereas targeted downregulation of caveolin-1 increased basal ERK-1/2 activity [79]. It has been speculated that caveolin inhibits ERK-1/2 by stabilising the molecules in an inactive conformation within caveolin [137, 204]. This is in line with our own data that PAF induced an increase of caveolin-1 (Fig 4.2) and decrease of P-ERK-1/2 in caveolae (Fig. 4.14.b). Therefore we assume that caveolin might act as a negative regulator for the ERK-1/2 signalling in response to PAF.

Furthermore, administration of U0126, which inhibits both active and inactive MEK1/2, (phosphorylates ERK-1/2) showed no effect on PAF-induced edema formation in rat lungs indicating that ERK-1/2 is not involved in this process (Fig. 4.15). In contrast to our own data, other investigators have documented that the effect of PAF increased microvascular permeability in mouse mesenteric fat tissue by the ERK-pathway [317]. In future studies it will be important to study whether different mechanisms are operation in lungs and the gut.

5.1.5 Caveolae are sites of calcium entry

We demonstrated that PAF increases endothelial calcium levels *in situ* (Fig.4.10) and also the amount of caveolin-1 (Fig.4.2). Both effects were blocked by imipramine (Fig 4.4, 4.10). Thus, we surmised that the calcium response must be evoked by PAF-derived ASM-metabolites and calcium.

The important role of calcium for edema formation is well established. In previous studies our group observed that PAF-induced edema formation is partly dependent on an increase in intracellular calcium concentration and also on extracellular calcium [95]. In that case the rise of intracellular calcium is controlled by IP₃ dependent Ca²⁺ release from intracellular stores (e.g. endoplasmic reticulum; ER). This is supported by the findings that inhibition with L-108 (inhibit PI-PLC, which in turn activates IP₃) and Xestospongin C (specific IP₃R antagonist) attenuated PAF-induced edema formation [95]. Since edema formation in the IPL is also dependent on extracellular Ca²⁺, this argues for an important role of a capacitive Ca²⁺ entry (CCE) through store operated calcium channels (SOC's) [122] or receptor activation of Ca²⁺ channels. This is also supported by the finding that PAF-induced edema formation is reduced by lanthanum chloride, an unspecific calcium channel blocker [95]. These findings are further corroborated by the observation that thapsigargin, an inhibitor of the endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase, which to emptied intracellular Ca²⁺ stores and activation of SOC's, induces edema formation in isolated rat lungs which is dependent on extracellular Ca²⁺ [44].

In the present context it is important to note that IP₃R, Ca²⁺-ATPase have been described in the plasma membrane and especially in caveolae [70, 75, 246]. In many reports it is also described that IP₃R, Ca²⁺-ATPase, PLC β , G_{aq/11} and SOCs are found in a multicomplex with caveolin-1 in membrane microdomains. These observation confirme our assumption, that caveolae and SOC's are involved in PAF increased vascular permeability [164, 196].

The mammalian homologues of the *Drosophila* transient receptor potential (TRP) gene family of channels are expressed in the plasma membrane of endothelial cells, function as SOC's and are involved in the regulation of vascular permeability [30, 72, 162, 164, 196, 279, 280]. Here we identified TRPC-1 and TRPC-4 in caveolar fractions of pulmonary endothelial cells (Fig. 4.11). These findings support our hypothesis, that in response to PAF caveolae act as calcium entry ports and that might be regulated through TRPC-1 and/or TRPC-4.

The role of TRPC in store-operated entry has studied in reports of TRPC-4 being activated by G-Protein receptor coupled (as is the PAF-receptor) [30, 237]. A direct evidence for this and the TRPC-dependent Ca²⁺ entry, which is a key determinant of increased microvascular permeability, was provided in studies with TRPC4-knockout (TRPC4^{-/-}) mice and lung vascular endothelial cells (LECs) [279].

To examine the role of TRPC-1 and TRPC-4 for PAF-induced edema formation, the extracellular calcium entry through transient calcium channels in isolated perfused rat lungs was blocked with SKF 96365 (Fig 4.12). Recent studies have reported that the lanthanides lanthanum (La³⁺) and gadolinium (Gd³⁺), which are commonly used to block non-selective cation channels and other Ca²⁺-permeable channels, have a differential effect on TRPC subtypes [237]. Unlike most other TRP-related channels, which are inhibited by La³⁺ and Gd³⁺ currents, TRPC-4 is potentiated by La³⁺ in a concentrations-depend manner [288]. Therefore we used SKF 96365, a relatively new non-specific blocker of TRPC, whose application in vivo has not be described so far, that was effectively used in cell culture [235, 236. However, SKF 96365 had no effect on PAF-induced edema formation in isolated perfused rat lungs (Fig. 4.12). In several studies it has been observed that the inhibitory effect of SKF 96365 differs in magnitude depending on the cell type and concentration [127, 149]. Whereas a concentration of SKF 96365 between 3 and 10 µM is responsible for inhibition of Ca²⁺ entry in cells, it has been observed that concentrations above 10 µM induce apoptosis or activate a novel cation entry pathway. In contrast to these findings it was found in human microglia cells that PAF induced entry of Ca²⁺ was attenuated in the presence of 20 µM SKF 96365 [236]. Neverthess, the action of SKF 96365 is poorly un-

derstood and this our findings should be interpreted with caution.

The calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR) plays an important role for sensing local changes in the extracellular calcium concentration and has emerged as an important mediator of a wide range of Ca²⁺-dependent physiological responses Ca²⁺ signalling in various tissues. Therefore we examined the functions of CaSR in pathophysiological processes in lungs. However inhibition with NSP 2390 had no effect on PAF induced edema formation in lungs. This finding indicates that CaSR may not be important in this animal model of pulmonary edema (Fig. 4.13).

Taken together, our data demonstrate that PAF increases endothelial calcium levels and that this response is prevented by imipramine. This provides evidence for ASM-dependent ceramide mediating increased calcium levels. Whether the extracellular calcium entry is regulated through TRPC-1 and TRPC-4, remains to be shown. Further studies are required to clarify the role of TRP-channels in PAF-induced edema formation. To study the effects of PAF on permeability and endothelial calcium transients one could used various TRP-channel-deficient mice or pretreat the lungs with antibodies against TRP-channels.

5.1.6 Hypothetical mechanism of how PAF reduces NO production and increases calcium by the ASM-ceramide pathway

Figure 5.2 gives a schematic overview of the hypothetical mechanisms of how PAF attenuates NO-production by eNOS inhibition and increases calcium levels in pulmonary endothelial cells by ASM-dependent recruitment of caveolin-1 into caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells.

PAF treatment recruits caveolin-1 into caveolae of pulmonary endothelial cells. This action is regulated by acid sphingomyelinase generated ceramide. Ceramide mediates an increase of caveolin-1 either by reorganization of present caveolae or formation of new caveolae in endothelial cells. The overexpression of caveolin-1 reduces NO production by direct binding of eNOS and indirectly through inhibition of downstream signal molecules PI3K/Akt from the Ca²⁺-independent pathway of the eNOS activation. Whether the PAF-mediated NO reduction promotes or aggravates edema formation remains to be shown. Pretreatment of the lungs with the ASM inhibitor imipramine prevented the PAF-induced increase in endothelial calcium levels and caveolin-1 indicating that caveolae could act as

a calcium entry port. Furthermore, transient receptor potential channels (TRPC-1 and TRPC-4) which regulates Ca²⁺ entry dependent on intracellular store depletion of Ca²⁺ are present in caveolae. Activation of TRPC possibly by IP₃ triggered release of Ca²⁺ out from intracellular stores may enhance the calcium signal. Enhanced Ca²⁺ concentration then leads to increased MLCK activity and hence to MLC phosphorylation, which leads to endothelial cell contraction thus enhancing vascular permeability. The role of TRPC in this hypothetical mechanism remains elusive.

Figure 5.2: Hypothetical mechansims of how PAF reduces NO production and increases calcium levels in pulmonary endothetial cells. For details see text. ASM (acid sphingomyelinase, Ca^{2+} (calcium, Ca-ch. (Ca^{2+} channel, cav-1 (caveolin-1), cer (ceramide), eNOS (endothetial NO synthase, NO (nitric oxide), IP₃ (inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate, MLCK (myosin light chain kinase, PAF (platelet-activating factor, P-Akt (phosphorylated Akt kinase, PI3K (phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase



5.2 Thrombin mediated transcytosis

Previous studies demonstrated that an increase of albumin diffusion is not only the result of barrier "leakiness" but, rather, also an active process occurring primarily an endothelial vesicular pathway, named transcytosis [91, 185, 186]. In this study we report the novel observation that thrombin induced albumin transport in human microvascular endothelial cell (HMVEC) is mediated by sphingomyelinase-induced caveolin-1 recruitment into lipid rafts.

5.2.1 Thrombin activates albumin transcytosis

Thrombin is widely used to study the mechanisms of increased endothelial cell (EC) monolayer permeability in vitro [154, 168, 168]. Most of these data were obtained by measuring the transendothelial electrical resistance (TER) of monolayers as a measure of permeability [53]. This method provide a high temporal resolution but disregards transcellular transport [283]. The present study differs from these studies to thrombin-induced endothelial cells permeability in two aspects. First we used FITC-albumin diffusion rather than TER to detect changes in permeability and second, we measured albumin diffusion at time points (3-4 h) considerably later than usual (< 2 h). These modification enabled us to differ between thrombin increased albumin diffusion rates either by transcellular transport or paracellular leakage. These mechanisms are important in the development of permeability edema, because increased protein concentration on one side of the endothelial barrier lead to fluid flux driven by the oncotic gradient. Since albumin is essential for maintaining the oncotic pressure, it is important to clarify whether transcytosis can be activated in response to inflammatory mediators. Furthermore albumin is the major plasma protein of blood (composition of plasma protein: 60% albumin and 40% globulins) and has also an important cargo chaperone function. It binds to many water-insoluble substances (hormone, ions, fatty acid) in the plasma and facilitates their delivery across the vessel wall barrier. Albumin also plays an important role in the transport of drugs.

Using FITC-albumin diffusion to investigate endothelial monolayers permeability, we discovered that thrombin raised albumin diffusion to an extent that largely exceeds that of empty, i.e. cell-free, membranes. Note, that in these experiments FITC-albumin diffusion induced by thrombin was 230% of the diffusion rate across empty membrane (Fig. 4.17). This elevation of albumin diffusions rates across confluent endothelial monolayers by

thrombin to levels above the diffusion rate of an empty membrane could only be explained by active transcellular albumin-transport. Albumin transcytosis has been visualized before in mouse diaphragm [185] and in perfused lung capillaries [222] where transcellular goldlabelled-albumin transport was directly shown in electron microscopic images. Various studies of the endothelial barrier to define the transport pathway at an ultrastructural level showed the involvement of vesicles or vesicle-derived structures, particularly caveolar vesicle (caveosome), in the transport of macromolecules through continuous endothelial cells under physiological conditions [90, 91, 185, 187, 222, 208, 217]. In this thesis we report for the first time albumin transport under influence of inflammatory mediator, in this case thrombin. Thrombin-induced transcytosis was directly visualized by immune-electron microscopy (Fig. 4.21). Remarkably, albumin was found in close proximity to caveolin-1, indicating that albumin was transported in caveolin-1 containing vesicles by thrombin treatment of the cells (Fig 4.21). Fluorescence microscopy images of FITC-albumin diffusion in aortic endothelial cells showed that in thrombin treated cells FITC-albumin was in the inside of the vessel and also within endothelial cells. But in control cells FITC-albumin was detected only on the outside indicating that thrombin induced transcytosis (Fig. 4.26). These results demonstrate that albumin transcytosis is activated in response to the inflammatory mediator thrombin.

The mechanism of thrombin-induced permeability in endothelial cells that have been commonly defined depend on paracellular leakage by endothelial cell contraction and stress fibre formation [27]. Thrombin activates myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and inactivates myosin phosphatase (through the Rho/Rho-kinase pathway) leading to stress fibre formation and actomyosin contraction and this results in endothelial gap formation by cytoskeleton rearrangement and increase permeability [82, 178]. Similar responses have also been observed in human pulmonary artery and human microvascular endothelial cells of the lungs (HMVEC-L) [138]. However, our findings show that endothelial contraction is not involved in thrombin-induced increases in albumin transcytosis. This is suggested by observation in HMVEC-L cells that simultaneous pretreatment with pharmacological inhibitors of Rho-kinase (Y-27632) signalling pathway and the ASM-ceramide pathway (imipramine, antibodies against ceramide) show an addition and completely inhibition of the thrombininduced albumin translocation (Fig. 4.19.b). Therefore we propose that thrombin on the one hand induces cell contraction by Rho-kinase pathway, and on the other hand activates albumin transcytosis possibly per ASM mediated activation of downstream signalling molecules.

5.2.2 Thrombin activates ASM and causes ceramide production

The sphingolipid ceramide is an important second messenger involved in apoptosis [142, 144], regulation of differentiation, growth suppression and cell senescence [145]. A new functional role of ceramide was observed by investigation of downstream signalling pathways mediateing changes in transendothelial permeability in HMVEC cells [88]. Lindner et al characterised the effects of ceramide on endothelial cells with the respect to endothelial cell permeability, apoptosis and necrosis [156]. It was demonstrated that the permeabilityenhancing effects of ceramide is a non-apoptotic mechanism, which is independent of cytoskeleton rearrangements and which is mediated by unidentified PLC and Ser/Thr kinase isoenzymes in confluent EC-monolayers [156]. Furthermore, it is established that ceramide can be generated from sphingomyelin (SM, 90% are present in the outer leaflet of cell membrane) by ASM as a consequence of cell stimulation in membrane microdomains (caveolae) [25]. These findings and the findings, described below, supported our hypothesis that ceramide might be involved in thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis. Former our findings proposed a role of ceramide in the mediation of thrombin-induced transendothelial albumin diffusion: (i) ASM activity in the cell pellet was elevated after 30 min of thrombin stimulation which was accompanied by an increased ceramide content in cells (Fig 4.18) and (ii) the two pharmacological inhibitors of the ASM pathway, D609 [121, 177] and imipramine [1, 118], strongly attenuated thrombin induced transcellular albumin transport (Fig 4.19.a). The xantogenate D609 is an agent that was shown to inhibit ceramide production [167, 252], although its mechanism is discussed controversially [146, 166]. Imipramine is structurally unrelated to D609 and also described to inhibit ASM by destabilizing the enzyme [1, 118]. The only known common effect of both substance is to downregulate ceramide generation. Both substances reduced thrombin-induced albumin diffusion to 100%, but not below (Fig.4.19.a) in HMVEC-L cells. Simultaneous pretreatment with imipramine and Y-27632 (Rho-kinase inhibitor) inhibited the thrombin-induced increases in FITC-albumin translocation to far below 100% (Fig. 4.19.b). We also observed that (i) pretreatment with an antibody against ceramide alone and in combination with Y-27632 inhibited thrombin mediated albumin translocation in HMVEC-L cells (Fig 4.19.b).

The effect of the antibody indicated that an extracellular form of ASM may be existent. In the last few years a lot of evidences for a secretory form of ASM, called S-ASM was described in the literature. Tabas et al characterised a S-ASM which is derive from the ASM gene and which under certain conditions can operate at neutral pH [240, 273]. A wide variety of cell types e.g. peritoneal macrophages, skin fibroblast, murine microglia cells, human monocytes, are established to secrete lysosomal ASM in the subcellular space [241]. The first evidence that endothelial cells secrete ASM was reported by Marathe et al [172]. He and his co-workers observed in human coronary artery and umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) after incubation with inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β and INF γ) an increase of S-ASM secretion, whereas lysosomal ASM activity was decreased. Our findings are some what different from this observation. In HMVEC-L cells ASM activity was not found in the supernatant of thrombin-stimulated cells, but only in the cells themselves together with enhanced ceramide production (Fig. 4.18). Thus with respect to the role of extracellular ASM the present data are somewhat conflicting: The effectiveness of the ceramide antibody and the increased albumin translocation by external ASM (Fig.4.29) speak in favour of a contribution of extracellular ASM in mediating thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis. On the other hand, the absence of extracellular ASM following thrombin and the absence of increased ceramide levels after addition of external ASM (Fig. 4.27) argue against a role of external ASM in this model. Possible explanations - that need to be further investigated - to reconcile these findings are that ASM is extracellular active, but is not released from the cells, and that the effect of extracellular ASM is too local to result in a detectable increase of ceramide. Taken together, our data demonstrated thrombin induced activation of sphingomyelinase (ASM), ceramide production and activates albumin transcytosis in a ASM-ceramide dependent fashion.

5.2.3 Thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis via caveolae

5.2.3.1 Caveolae and albumin transcytosis

Transcytosis was one of the first functional roles proposed for caveolae. In this process, caveolae transport macromolecules in caveosomes (caveolar vesicles) from the luminal side of the capillary endothelial cells to the subendothelial space. The functional role of caveolae in transcytosis is established. Transcytosis by caveolae was proven by (i) inhibition of caveolae formation, (ii) the use of caveolae-specific tracer molecules, such as gold-la-

belled-albumin, ratio-iodianted albumin, (iii) the development of caveolin-1 knockout mice. For example: it was observed that methyl- β -cyclodextrin, a caveolae disrupting agent, inhibits albumin transport through pulmonary microvascular endothelial monolayers, evidence for the fact that caveolae are involved in the transport process [128]. Caveolin-1 knockout mice, which lack detectable caveolae in endothelial cells, show no interstitial accumulation of gold-labelled albumin in contrast to wild type mice [250]. Similarly, when incubated with ratio-iodianted albumin, isolated aortic rings from caveolin knockout mice showed no uptake of this tracer, while aortic rings from wild-type animals showed temperature- and time-dependent albumin uptake [250]. The first clues that albumin was internalized via receptors came from morphological studies where albumin association with endothelial cells was concentrated in caveolae open to the blood vessel lumen [90, 91, 185]. Four groups of albumin-binding proteins (ABP) were identified (molecular mass 18, 31, 60, and 72 kDa) which specifically bind to albumin and are expressed on the endothelial cell surface [89, 128, 187, 244, 259]. Further biochemical and functional studies have shown that the glycoprotein gp60 is the albumin-binding receptor and mediates albumin-internalization in caveolae: (i) gp60 association with caveolin-1, (ii) depletion of gp60 reduced albumin uptake, (iii) activation of gp60 by cross-linking using an antibody against gp60 caused up to a threefold increases in uptake and transcellular transport of albumin [182]. Thus it now seems clear that caveolae do indeed mediate transcytosis (i.e. transcellular transport) of specific macromolecules in endothelial cells. The mechanism how transcytosis of albumin is regulated is shown in figure 5.3 [33]. In brief: clustering of gp60 and albumin (1), induced G_i-protein coupled activation of Src (2), Src in turn phosphorylates caveolin-1, dynamin-2 (3), indicating caveolae formation and endocytosis of albumin (4), trafficking of caveolae by interaction with $v_{vesicle}$ -SNARE (5), interaction of caveolae with t_{target} -SNARE on target membrane (6) induced albumin exocytosis (7). But the signalling pathways that regulate formation and release of caveolae from the plasma membrane are poorly understood. Therefore, a major aim in this study was to investigate the regulation of these pathways by proinflammatory mediators.



Figure 5.3: Signalling mechanisms regulating albumin transcytosis. For detail see text. Adapted from Minshall et al. [187]

5.2.3.2 Thrombin increase caveolin-1

Some biochemical properties of membrane microdomains such as (i) resistance to Triton X-100 solubilisation at 4°C, (ii) richness in glycosphingolipids and cholestrol as well as (iii) enrichment with lipid anchored membrane proteins are useful for their isolation from endothelial cell membranes [8]. We successfully isolated membrane microdomains from endotheilal cell membranes by methods described from Melkonian et al. and Arni et al. [10, 108]. First the whole membrane is seperated and then caveolae from the membrane itself are from the cytosol isolated. So we were able to quantify both caveolin-1 content in the cytosol, membrane and within membrane microdomains. The abudance of caveolin-1 in the isolated membrane microdomains suggests that caveolae and not lipid rafts were isolated form HMVEC-L cells [30]. The content of caveolin-1 within caveolae of HMVEC-L cells significantly increased within 2 h after thrombin treatment (Fig 4.20.A). The increased amount of caveolin-1 in the plasma membrane was confirmed by immune histochemistry as well as by electron microscopy (Fig. 4.20.B, C). Electron microscopy further indicated that in untreated cells caveolin-1 resided dispersed in the cytoplasm, whereas in thrombintreated cells it was found clustered in the membrane (Fig.4.20.C) These findings demonstrated that thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 in endothelial cell membrane.

5.2.3.3 Thrombin-induced activation of caveolin-1 de novo synthesis

Measurements of cav-1 in whole cell lysates show an elevation of caveolin-1 in thrombin treated cells in comparison to control cell lysates (Fig.4.23). Therefore, we examined if thrombin-induced this increase of caveolin-1 either through activation of *de novo* synthesis or by translocation of present caveolin. We blocked the protein biosynthesis by inhibition of transcription with actinomycin D (ActD, a commonly used blocker [56]) and disrupted the translation-step of protein biosynthesis with cycloheximide (CHX) [155]. With both inhibitors, we observed a reduction of the cav-1 content in membranoes caveolae fraction (Fig. 4.25) as well as in the whole cell lysates (Fig. 4.24) in thrombin treated HMVEC-L. These findings and the fluorescence- and electron microscopic images from the caveolin-1 protein distributation in cells (Fig. 4.20.B, C) let as assume that thrombin-induced the activation of *de novo* synthesis of caveolin-1 in cells and thereafter cav-1 translocation to the cell membrane. Evidence for thrombin-induced de novo synthesis was reported in HUVECcells by Huang et al [117]. He and his co-workers also used actinomycin D to block the expression of angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2, necessary for remodeling in angiogenesis) and demonstrated that the thrombin-mediated Ang-2 mRNA synthesis was blocked by actinomycin D [56]. It has been reported that endothelial cells, when stimulated by thrombin via protease-activated receptors (PAR), express various mediators and proteins including cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and adhesion molecules, therefore it seems likely that thrombin stimulates protein biosynthesis. In any can, mechansim of thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 in caveolae from cell membrane require further investigation.

5.2.3.4 Thrombin-induced increase of caveolin-1 is mediated by ASM-ceramide pathway

Our data suggest a role for ASM in the mediation of increased albumin transcytosis induced by thrombin: (i) ASM and ceramide synthase activity were increased within 30 min of thrombin stimulation, which was accompanied by an increased ceramide content (Fig. 4.18), (ii) two structurally inhibitors of the ASM pathway, D609 [137, 252] and imipramine [1, 118], attenuated thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis (Fig. 4.19.a), (iii) external addition of ASM activated transcytosis and increased cav-1 in caveolae isolated from cell membranes (Fig. 4.29, 4.28), (iv) ceramide antibodies did block the effect of thrombin-induced transcytosis (Fig. 4.19.b), indicating a role for extracellular ASM. How exactly sphin-

gomyelinase activates transcytosis remains unknown. Our findings suggest that ASM somehow leads to de novo synthesis of cav-1 (Fig. 4.22, 4.23), which is known to be involved in albumin transcytosis. Pretreatement of HMVEC-L cells with D609 and imipramine reduced the thrombin-induced increase of cav-1 in caveolar fractions and in whole cells (Fig. 4.22, 4.23). Blocking protein synthesis with ActD and CHX had a similar effect (Fig. 4.24, 4.25), suggesting *de novo* synthesis of caveolin-1. Subsequently cav-1 is moved to the plasma membrane where it forms clusters in what presumably are caveolae, as demonstrated by the histological figures togehter with the immunoblots from membrane fractions (Fig. 4.20, 4.22). Similar mechanism was proposed by Rizzo et al. He and his group reported in bovine arortic endothial cells (BAEC) that chronic shear stress stimulates caveolae formation by cav-1 translocation from the Golgi apparatus to the luminal plasma and alters cell signalling responses [229]. Other groups observed in cultured HUVEC cells by using indirect immunofluorescence and double fluorescence labelling that in control cells, cav-1 was primarly localized on the cell surface, but also inside the cells. And in cells, which was exposed to laminar flow, an increase of cav-1 expression was observed [270, 271]. It is also important to note that cav-1 binds different lipids (or proteins) and this protein-lipid interaction is described as the driving forces for caveolae fromation [69]. Taken together, a potential mechanism for increase caveolin-1 in plasma membrane could be that thrombin mediates recruitment of newly formed caveolin-1 ceramide production, it froms new caveolae. Since caveolae are required for transcytosis of albumin [217], this hypothesis explain how thrombin manages to increase albumin transcytosis.

5.2.4 (Patho)physiological importance of thrombin activates albumin transcytosis

In the past years publication of several systematic reviews assessed the effect of albumin (or synthetic colloids) versus various crystalloids on mortality of critically ill patients. An overview of this studies is shown in table 5.1. There are several choices of colloid and there is an ongoing debate about the relative effectiveness of colloids compared to crystalloid fluids. Our study adds to this controversial discussion. We describe a mechanism which may explain why albumin administration does not fails to decrease the risk of acute lung injury or to improve survival.

For 70 years albumin solutions are widely used in fluid resuscitation of critically ill patients

(such as severe burns, sepsis, trauma, acute circumstances (ARDS)) to treat low serum albumin concentrations. The advantages of albumin are (i) it has effectively replaces volume and supports colloid oncotic pressure (COP), (ii) unlike synthetic colloids (dextran, hydroxyethylstarch (HES or HAES), gelantine), it has transport functions and binds reversibly to anions, cations, and some substances that are active or toxic only in the free form, (iii) it has anticoagulant properties, inhibiting platelet aggregation and enhancing the inhibition of factor Xa by antithrombin III [129, 130]. However, albumin is pooled from human donors, is in short supply and remains expensive compared to synthetic colloids, thus it should be used with caution.

Based upon Starling's equation, a reduced colloid osmotic pressure gradient between the intravascular space and the interstitium can promote edema formation, a characteristic feature of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). Re-establishment of this gradient through colloid administration might serve to diminish edema. Increasing osmotic pressure with colloidal products has remained an attractive theoretical premise for volume resuscitation. However, clinical studies demonstrated that infusion of albumin alone, indeed increased colloid osmotic pressure in clinical practice, but did not improve the critical situation of patients [129, 130]. The main drawback to colloid therapy lies in the pathological states with endothelial injury and capillary leak, in other words the clinical scenario where colloids are commonly given. The colloid solution may leak into the interstitium and remain there exerting an oncotic gradient, pulling additional water into the interstitium, particulary if the capillary walls become much more permeable under the influence of inflammatory mediators. Another plausible explanation results from the findings in this thesis. We observed that an added inflammatory mediator, i.e. thrombin, induced an increase of transcellular albumin transport via caveolae in human pulmonary endothelial cells. This transcellular transport of albumin, also referred to as transcytosis, could increase COP. For the first time we demonstrated that inflammatory mediators may activate albumin transport through the endothelium suggesting that transcytosis via caveolae may play an important role in the development of pulmonary edema. Whether caveolae will also transport HES and gelantine, synthetic colloids, is not esthablished. But, dextran, another commonly used synthetic colloid, is found in caveolae, although it is unknown whether caveolae meditate transcytosis of dextran. To clarify the possibility of dextran transcytosis, Measurements of FITC-labelled dextran diffusion, in the established EC monolayer system, would be helpful.

Another possible significance of transcytosis activated by inflammatory mediators becomes clear by the following exemplary considerations. It is established that neutrophils are adhering to the injured capillary endothelium, and imigrate through the interstitium into the air space. Activated neutrophils release various cytokines (TNF) and other proinflammatory mediators, such as platelet-activating factor. Here we have shown that PAF increases cav-1 in caveolae isolated from pulmonary endothelial cells. Thus PAF-induced edema formation may be also involve transcytosis of albumin. Further studies are required to study this hypothesis in *in vivo* model of inflammation (administration of LPS, TNF α and subsequent purification of caveolae from pulmonary EC to measure the cav-1 content in comparison to control animals). To investigate the importance of transcytosis in inflammation one could also use our established *in vitro* model (FITC-albumin diffusion in EC-monolayer) under influence of LPS or TNF α .

Table 5.1: Summary of randomised trials comparing colloid and crystalloid fluid resuscitation that met criteria for inclusion.

Author	Critical illness	Number of trials (Patients)	Treatment	Conclusions
Velanovich (1989) [298]	Trauma	8 (826)	Colloid vs cry- stalloid (?)	In trauma patients colloid resuscitation is equal to cry- stalloid In non-trauma patients treatment with colloids is effica- cious.
<i>Bisonni</i> et al. (1991) [22]	Surgery, hypovole- mia, and ARDS	7 (354)	Colloid vs cry- stalloid (?)	No significant mortality-rate advantage in using colloids; the cost-effectiveness ratio for crystalloids is much lower compared to colloids; crystalloids should always be used in resuscitation efforts.
Wade et al. (1997) [304]	Trauma	13 (1233)	HDS vs HS	Treatment with HSD resulted in a survival until discharge of 37.9% compared with 26.9% with standard care
Schierhout and Roberts (1998) [239]	Trauma, Surgery, Burns, Sepsis, ARDS	19 (1315)	HA vs HC, IC	Resuscitation with colloids was associated with an in- creased absolute risk of mortality of 4% or 4 extra deaths for every 100 patients resuscitated
Cochrane In- juries group (1998) [48]	Heterogeneous, seriously ill; Surgery, Trauma, Sepsis (Hypovole- mia) Burns	24 (1204) 13 (534) 3 (163)	HA vs RL	No evidence that HA administration reduces mortality in critically ill patients with hypovolaemia, burns, or hypo- albuminaemia and a strong suggestion that it may in- crease mortality
Choi et al. (1999) [46]	Hypoalbuminemia Trauma	8 (507) 17 (814)	HA vs IC	No difference was observed between crystalloid and colloid resuscitation with respect to mortality and pul- <i>monary edema</i> ; but crystalloid resuscitation associated

Author	Critical illness	Number of trials	Treatment	Conclusions
		(Patients)		
				with a lower mortality in trauma patients.
Wilkes and	Burns, Hypoalbumi-	55 (2958)	HA* vs RL	No effect of albumin on mortality was detected; this fin-
Navicks	naemia, premature			ding supports the safety of albumin.
(2001) [312]	infant			
Boldt et al.	Heterogeneous,	40 (2454)	HA vs HES	HA is the preferred first-line volume therapy in patients
(2003) [28]	seriously ill;			at risk for coagulation disorders. With respect to platelet
	Trauma, cardiac	35 (2341)		function, volume replacement with low-molecular-
	surgery, ICU			weight HES solutions can be recommended in this si-
	non-trauma	5 (113)		tuation without any risk.
<i>Rizoli</i> et al.	Trauma	6 (?)	Colloid vs cry-	The choice of fluid may have a small or no effect on
(2003) [227]			stalloid (?)	mortality.
				Trauma; use of colloids is associated with a trend to-
				ward increased mortality, patients should continue to be
				resuscitated with crystalloids.
Lang et al	Surgery	1 (36)	HES vs RL	Replacement with HES compared to crystalloid solu-
(2003) [152]				tions reduces the inflammatory response in patients un-
				dergoing elective major abdominal surgery.

Abbreviations: ARDS (acute respiradory destress syndrome), HA (human albumin), HC (hypertonic crystalloid), HES (hydroxyethylstarch), HSD (hypertonic saline/dextran), HS (hypertonic saline (7.5 % NaCl), IC (isotonic crystalloid), ICU (intensive care unit), RL (Ringer lactate solution), (?) no statements of particulars, * used concentration of albumin 2.0-20 %, fat-marked; studies include data from patients with lung injury, pulmonary edema or ARDS.

5.2.5 Hypothetical mechanism of thrombin induced transcytosis

Next page figure 5.4. summarises a hypothetical mechanism of thrombin-induced transcytosis in endothelial cells. Taken together our findings demonstrated that albumin transcytosis can be activated by thrombin. We have described a novel functional role of thrombin and explain how thrombin manages to increase albumin transport through the sphingomyelinase pathway, including activation of sphingomyelinase (ASM) and which generating of ceramide. Increased ceramide levels may lead to enrichment of caveolae with caveolin-1, the moving from the cytosol into the cell membrane, were its may form new caveolae. Inhibition of ASM with two structurally dissimilar inhibitors (D609 and imipramine) attenuated both cav-1 recruitment and albumin transport. This mechanism appears to depend on protein synthesis, because cav-1 recruitment was also prevented by blocking transcription with actinomycin and translation with cycloheximide.



Figure 5.4: Hypothetical mechanism of thrombin-induced transcytosis. For details see text. ASM (acid sphingomyelinase), cav-1 (caveolin-1), cer (ceramide), PAR (protease-activated receptors)

6 Summary

In the present study, the mechanisms of increased vasculary permeability were investigated in isolated perfused rat lungs and in endothelial cell monolayers. In particular, the role of membrane microdomains (caveolae) was investigated. Our data indicate that caveolae and caveolin-1 play an important role in PAF-induced edema formation in the lungs. In addition, the activation of transcytosis by the inflammatory mediator thrombin represents a novel potentially pro-edematogenous mechanism.

To investigate the role of caveolae and caveolin-1 in PAF-induced pulmonary edema, we established a method to isolate caveolae from pulmonary endothelial cells from intact rat lungs. Subsequently, these caveolae were analysed by immunoblotting. PAF treatment increased the expression of caveolin-1 in caveolae of endothelial cells within five minutes. Imipramine and D609, two structurally dissimilar inhibitors of the ASM-pathway, reduced the PAF-induced increase of caveolin-1 and also the development of pulmonary edema. Because of the widely discussed role of NO in the regulation vascular permeability and because of the established negative regulation of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) by caveolin-1, PAF-induced NO-production of the pulmonary vasculature was investigated in isolated rat lungs by *in situ* fluorescence-microscopy. PAF reduced NO-production in pulmonary endothelial cells and this was blocked by imipramine. In addition, PAF attenuated the activation of Akt kinase, another possible activator of eNOS. These findings suggest that PAF inhibits eNOS by recruitment of caveolin-1 to caveolae, and by interfering with the Ca²⁺-independent eNOS activation, i.e. the Akt kinase pathway. Our pharmacological data further suggest that all these effects of PAF do depend on the activation of ASM.

Based on the important role of intracellular calcium in the regulation of vascular permeability, we used *in situ* fluorescence microscopy to demonstrate that PAF increases intracellular Ca²⁺-concentrations in pulmonary endothelial cells. Inhibition of ASM with imipramine largely prevented the PAF-induced Ca²⁺ rise. Taken together with the other effects of imipramine, in particular its effects on caveolin-1 recruitment and edema formation, and in view of the presence of TRPC1 and TRPC4 Ca²⁺-channels in caveolae we hypothesize that in PAF-induced permeability changes caveolae may serve as Ca²⁺-entry ports and that this process is initiated by ASM activation. In summary, the PAF-activated ASM-pathway leads to enrichment of caveolin-1 in caveolae, downregulation of eNOS and upregulation of cytosolic Ca²⁺.

In another major part of this thesis we showed that thrombin increases FITC-albumin transfer across confluent human microvascular endothelial cell (HMVEC-L) monolayers to an extent that largely exceeds that of empty layers, suggesting active transcellular transport. Thrombin-induced albumin transcytosis was directly shown by immune-electron microscopy. Thrombin induced activation of ASM, ceramide production and enrichment of lipid rafts with caveolin-1. The latter was observed to move from the cytosol into lipid rafts. Inhibition of ASM with two structurally dissimilar inhibitors (D609, impriamine) attenuated both cav-1 recruitment and albumin transport. This mechanism appears to depend on protein biosynthesis, because cav-1 recruitment was also prevented by blocking transcription with actinomycin D and translation with cycloheximide. Our findings indicate that thrombin stimulates transcellular albumin transport in a sphingomyelinase-dependent fashion by inducing *de novo* synthesis of cav-1, which is then transferred to lipid rafts. This mechanism may be important for edema development, because increased protein concentrations on the basolateral side of the endothelial barrier may lead to fluid flux driven by the oncotic gradient.

The present work describes the critical role of caveolae and caveolin-1 in PAF-induced pulmonary edema formation. We also show for the first time that inflammatory mediators like thrombin may induce albumin transcytosis. Apparently, ASM plays a central role in the initiation of these processes. Possibly, ASM may serve as a novel therapeutic agent in the treatment of pulmonary edema.

7 Deutsche Zusammenfassung

In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden Mechanismen der erhöhten vaskulären Permeabilität in isoliert perfundierten Rattenlungen und kultivierten Endothelzellen untersucht. Insbesondere wurde die Rolle von Membranmikrodomainen (Caveolaen) überprüft. Die erhalten Daten unterstützen die Hypothese, daß Caveolen und Caveolin-1 eine wichtige Rolle bei der Ödembildung in der Lunge (ausgelöst durch den Plättchen-aktivierenden Faktor) spielen. Ebenfalls konnte die Aktivierung der Transzytose durch den Entzündungsmediator Thrombin, als ein neuer potentiell pro-ödematogen wirksamer Mechansimus aufgezeigt werden.

Um die Rolle von Caveolen/Caveolin-1 beim PAF-induzierten Lungenödem zu untersuchen, wurde eine aufwendige Methode zur Aufreinigung von Caveolen aus Endothelzellen intakter Rattenlungen etabliert. Anschließend wurden mittels Immunoblots die Veränderungen in den Caveolen unter dem Einfluß von PAF analysiert. PAF erhöhte die Expression von Caveolin-1 in den Caveolen pulmonärer Endothelzellen. Imipramin und D609, zwei chemisch verschiedene Hemmstoffen der Saure Sphingomyelinase (ASM) reduzierten sowohl die PAF-induzierte Erhöhung von Caveolin-1 also auch das Lungenödem. Da die negative Regulation der endothelialen NO-Synthase (eNOS) durch Caveolin-1 gut bekannt ist und NO auch die vaskuläre Permeabilität reguliert, wurde die PAF-induzierte NO-Bildung in Endothelzellen im intakten Organ mit Hilfe der *in situ* Fluoreszenzmikroskopie untersucht. Unsere Daten legen nahe, daß PAF die NO-Bildung in pulmonalen Endothelzellen durch direkte Bindung von eNOS an Caveolin-1 und indirekt durch die Blockade der Downstream-Signalmoleküle PI3K/Akt (Ca²⁺ unabhängigen Signalweg der eNOS Aktivierung) unterdrückt. Auch diese Wirkung von PAF ist abhängigt von der Aktivierung der ASM.

In weiteren Experimenten konnte mittels *in situ* Flureszenzmikroskopie ein Anstieg der intrazelluläre Ca²⁺ Konzentration nach PAF-Gabe demonstriert werden. Vorbehandlungen der Lunge mit Imipramin reduzierte den PAF-induzierten endothelialen Ca²⁺ Anstieg. Da Imipramin auch den Caveolin-1 Gehalt von Caveolen reduzierte und die TRP-Kanäle 1 und 4 (Ca²⁺ Kanäle) in Caveolen nachgewiesen wurden, stellen wir die Hypothese auf daß Caveolen als Ca²⁺ "Eintrittspforte" fungieren können. Zusammengefaßt, zeigen diese Befunde, daß der durch PAF-aktivierte ASM-Weg zur Anreicherung von Caveolin-1 in Caveolen führt, zur herrunterregulierung der eNOS und zur Heraufregulierung des zytosolischen Kalzium.

Unsere in vitro Untersuchungen an Zellen zeigen eine ganz neue Funktion von Thrombin. In konfluenten Endothelzellmonolayern beobachteten wir, daß Thrombin die FITC-Albumin Diffusion so starkt erhöht, daß nur ein aktiver Albumin-Transport in Frage kommt. In immuno-elektronenmirkoskopischen Aufnahmen konnte der Thrombin-induzierten Transport von Albumin durch die Endothelzelle direkt gezeigt werden. Thrombin induzierte die Aktivierung von ASM, die Bildung von Ceramid und Caveolin-1 in pulmonären Endothelzellen. Fluoreszenz- und elektronenmikroskopischen Aufnahmen zeigten , daß Thrombin den Transfer von Caveolin-1 aus dem Zytosol in die Zellmembran induzierte. Hemmung des ASM-Weges mit Imipramin und D609 verringerte sowohl den Caveolin-1 Gehalt als auch den Albumintransport. Dieser Mechansimus scheint abhängig von der Caveolin-1 de novo Synthese zu sein, da die Caveolin-1 Rekrutierung durch Actimomycin D und Cycloheximide (Hemmstoffe der Proteinbiosynthese) blockiert wurde. Unsere Daten zeigen, daß Thrombin den transzellulären Transport von Albumin stimuliert, indem es ASM-abhängig die Caveolin-1 Neubildung und dessen anschließenden Transfer in die Caveolen der Endothelzelle vermittelt. Da die Transzytose von Albumin den onkotischen Druck erhöhen kann, kann es auch über den Mechanismus zu einer verstärkten Ödembildung kommen.

In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurde die zentrale Rolle von Caveolen und Caveolin-1 im Hinblick auf die PAF-induzierte Ödembildung in der Lunge dargelegt. Weiterhin zeigen wir erstmals, daß ein Entzündungsmediator wie Thrombin auch Transzytose auslösen kann. Eine zentrale Rolle bei der Vermittlung der hier beschrieben (patho)physiologischen Mechansimen in der Zelle spielt dabei die ASM. Möglicherweise bietet daher die ASM einen therapeutischen Ansatz für die Behandlung von Lungenödemen.
8 References

- Albouz S, Le Saux F, Wenger D, Hauw JJ, Baumann N. Modifications of sphingomyelin and phosphatidylcholine metabolism by tricyclic antidepressants and phenothiazines. *Life Sci*.38(4):357-63. 1986
- Amano M, Chihara K, Kimura K, Fukata Y, Nakamura N. Formation of Actin Stress Fibers and Focal Adhesions Enhanced by Rho-Kinase. *Science* 275, 1308-131, 1997
- Ambudkar IS. calcium signaling microdomains:platforms for the assembly and regulation of TRPC channels. *Trend Pharma Sci* 27: 25-32 2006
- Anderson BO, Bensard DD, Harken AH; The role of PAF and its antagonists in shock, sepsis and multiple organ failure. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* :172, 415-24, 1991
- Anderson HA, Chen Y, Norkin LC Bound simian virus 40 translocates to caveolin-enriched
 membrane domains and its entry is inhibited by drugs that selectively disrupt caveolae. *Mol Biol Cell* 7: 1825-1834, 1996
- Anderson RG, Kamen BA, Rothberg KG Lacey SW. Potocytosis: sequestration and transport of small molecules by caveolae. *Science (Wash DC)* 255: 410-411 1992
- 7 Anderson RG. Multiple endocytic pathways. J Invest Dermatol. 99(5):7S-9S., 1992
- 8 Anderson RG. The caveolae membrane system. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 67, 199-225, 1999

Armstrong RA, Matthews JS, Jones RL, Wilson NH. Characterisation of PGE₂ receptors mediating increased vascular permeability in inflammation. *Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot Res*; 21A:375–378, 1991.

Arni S, Keilbaugh SA, Ostermeyer AG, Brown DA, Asociation of GAP-43 with detergent-resistant membranes requires two palmitoylated cysteine residues, *J Biol Chem*, 273-43, 28478-28485, 1998

Ashbaugh DG, Bigelow DB, Petty TL, Levine BE. Acute respiratory distress in adults. Lancet

11 2(7511):319-23, 1967

Assier E, Jullien V, Lefort L, Moreau JL, Di Santo JP, Vargaftig BB, Lapa e Silva R, Thèze J.

- 12 NK Cells and Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils Are Both Critical for IL-2-Induced Pulmonary Vascular Leak Syndrome. *J. Immun* 172: 7661-7668, 2004
- Balsinde J, Balboa MA, Dennis EA. Inflammatory activation of arachidonic acid signaling in murine P388D1 macrophages via sphingomyelin synthesis. *J Biol Chem*.272 (33):20373-7, 1997.

Baluk P, Fine NW, Thomas HA, Wei ET, Mcdonald DM. Anti-inflammatory Mystixin Peptides In-

- hibit Plasma Leakage Without Blocking Endothelial Gap Formation. J. Pharma and ExpT 284 (2),
 693-699, 1998
- Bar-Shavit R, Kahn A, Wilner GD, Fenton JW. Monocyte chemotaxis: stimulation by specific exosite region in thrombin. *Science* 220: 728-31, 1996;184:883

Bendayan M, Rasio EA. Transport of insulin and albumin by the microvascular endothelium of the rete mirabile. *J Cell Sci.* 109 (7): 1857–1864, 1996

Benveniste J, Henson PM, Cochrane Ch. Leukocyt-dependent histamine release from rabbit platelets *J. Exp med* 136: 1356-77, 1972

Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL, Carlet J, Falke K, Hudson L, Lamy M, Legall JR, Morris A, Spragg R. The American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechan isms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 1994;149:818-24

Bickel PE, Scherer PE, Schnitzer JE, Oh P, Lisanti MP, Lodish HF Flotillin and epidermal surface antigen define a new family of caveolae-associated integral membrane proteins. J Biol Chem 272: 13793-13802, 1997

- Bielawska A, Crane HM, Liotta D, Obeid LM, Hannun YA. Selectivity of ceramide-mediated biology. Lack of activity of erythro-dihydroceramide. *J Biol Chem*. 268(35):26226-32, 1993.
- Bielawska A, Crane HM, Liotta D, Obeid LM, Hannun YA. Selectivity of ceramide-mediated biology. Lack of activity of erythro-dihydroceramide.J Biol Chem. 1993 Dec 15;268(35):26226-32.
- Bisonni RS, Holtgrave DR, Lawler F, Marley DS Colloids versus crystalloids in fluid resuscitati on: an analysis of randomize controlled trials. *J Fam Pract.* 32(4):387-90. 1991

Bizios R, Lai L, Fenton JW, Sonder SA, Malik AB. Thrombin - induced aggregation of lympho cytes: non - enzymic indruction by hirudin - blocked thrombin exosite. *Thromb Res* 38: 425-31.
 1985

- **Bligh EG, Dyer WJ,** A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Can J Med Sci* 37: 911-917, 1959
- **25** Blitterswijk WJ. Luit A. Veldman RJ. Verheij M. Borst J. Ceramide: second messanger or modulator of membrane structure and dynamics? *Biochem J.* 369: 199-211. 2003
- Blum MS, Toninelli E, Anderson JM, Balda MS. Cytoskeletal rearrangement mediates human
 microvascular endothelial tight junction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.*; 273: 286-294, 1997
- **27 Bogatcheva NV, Garcia JGN, VerinD**. Molecular Mechanisms of Thrombin-Induced Endothelial Cell Permeability, *Biochemistry (Mosc)*. 67 (1): 75-84, 2002
- **Boldt J**. Fluid choice for resuscitation of the trauma patient: a review of the physiological, pharmacological, and clinical evidence *Anest Analg*, 51: 500-13, 2003
- 29 Boss N, Wörterbuch der Medizin. Munich: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 1994
- Bouly G, Zhu X, Peyton M, Jiang M, Hurst R, Stefani E, Birnbaumer L. Cloning and expression of a novel mammalian homolog of Drosophila transient receptor potential (Trp) involved in calcium entry secondary to activation of receptor coupled by the Gq class of G protein. *J Biol Chem.* 272. 29672-680. 1997
- Bowers RE, Ellis EF, Brigham KL, Oates JA. Effects of prostaglandine cyclicenodperoxides on
 the lung circulation of unanesthetized sheep. *J Clin Invest* 63: 131-137, 1979

33 Bucci M, Gratton JP, Rudic RD, Acevedo L, Roviezzo F, Cirino G, Sessa WC. In vivo delivery

Bruns RR, Palade GE, Studies on blood capillaries. I. General organization of blood capillaries in muscle. *J Cell Biol*. 37(2):244-76. 1968

of the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain inhibits nitric oxide synthesis and reduces inflammation. *Nat Med.* 6: 1362–1367, 2006

- Bundschuh DS, Uhlig S, Leist M, Sauer A, Wendel A. Isolation and characterization of rat
 primary lung cells. *In vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 31:9 684-91, 1995
- Bussolino F, Gremo F, Tetta C, Pescarmona GP, Camussi G. Production of platelet activating
 factor by chick retina. *J Biol Chem 261*: 16502-16508, 1986
- Carbajal JM., Gratrix LM, Yu CH, Schaeffer RC. ROCK mediates thrombin's endothelial barrier
 dysfunction. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 279:C195–C204, 2000
- Carlson LH, Roberts VHJ, Hamark B, Powell T. Store-operated Ca2+ entry in first trimester and term human placenta. *J Physiol.* 550: 515-528. 2003
- Carmeliet P, Jain RK.Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. *Nature*. 14;407(6801):249-57, 2000
- **Casey PJ.** Protein lipidation in cell signalling, *Science* 268(5208):221-5, 1995
- Cauwels A, Janssen B, Buys E, Sips P Brouckaert P. Anaphylactic shock depends on PI3K and
 eNOS-derived NO.*J Clin Invest* ;116(8):2244-51, 2006
- Chao W, Olson WS. Platelet-activating factor: receptor and signal transdruction. *Biochem. J.* 292:
 617-29. 1993
- Chen J, Braet F, Brodsky S, Weinstein T, Romanov V, Noiri E, Goligorsky MS. VEGF-induced
 mobilization of caveolae and increase in permeability of endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 282: C1053–C1063. 2002
- **43 Chen LB, Buchanan JM**. Mitogenic activity of blood components.I. Thrombin and prothrombin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 72. 131-135, 1975
- Chetham PM, Guldemeester HA, Mons N, Brough GH, Brighes JP, Thompson WJ, Stevens
 T. Ca(2+)-inhibitable adenylyl cyclase and pulmonary microvascula permeability. *Am J Physiol* 273: L22-30, 1997
- Chlopicki S, Walski M, Bartus JB. Ultrastructure of immediate microvascular lung injury induced
 by bacterial endotoxin in the isolated, no-deficient lung perfused with full blood. *J Physiol Pharmacol.* 56 Suppl 4:47-64, 2005
- **46 Choi P, Yip G, Quinonez L, Cook D.** Crystalloids vs. colloids in fluid resuscitation: a systematic review. *Crit Care Med.* 27:200–210; 1999
- 47 Cioffie D, Wu S. Stevens T, On the endothelial cell I_{soc} . Cell Calcium 33: 323-336. 2003
- **48 Cochrane Injuries Group Albumin Reviewers** . Human albumin administration in critically ill patients: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ.* 317:235-240. 1998
- 49 Cohen AW, Hnasko R, Schubert W, Lisanti MP. Role of caveolae and caveolins in health and disease. *Am Physiol Rev* 84: 1341-1379. 2004
- Corada M, Mariotti M, Dejana E., Vascular endothelial-cadherin is an impotant determinant of microvascular integrity in vivo . *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96: 9815-9820, 1999
- 51 Corten I, Peters FA, Rampart M, Bult H, Buyssens N, Hermann AG. Ridogrel prevents the thromboxane mediated pressure response and oedema induced by hydrogen peroxide in isol-

ated lungs. Eur J Pharmacol 201: 83-90, 1991

- Couet J, Belanger M, Roussel E, Drolet MC. Cell biology of caveolae and caveolin. Advanc
 Drug Delivery Rev 49: 223-235, 2001
- Crone C. Olesen SP. Electrical resistance of brain microvascular endothelium. *Brain Res.* 241:1
 49-55, 1982
- 54 Daniel EE, Jury J, Wang YF. nNOS in canine lower esophageal sphincter: colocalized with Cav-1
 54 and Ca2+-handling proteins. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 281: G1101-G1114, 2001
- Dejana E, Bazzoni G, Lampugnani MG. Vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin: only an intracellular
 glue? *Exp Cell Res* 252:13-19, 1999
- **56 Delepierre M.** Reassessment of structural characteristics of the d(CGCG)2:actinomycin D complex from complete 1H and 31P NMR. *J Biomol Struct Dyn.* 7(3):557-589, 1989
- **Dobrowsky RT** Sphingolipid signalling domains floating on rafts or buried in caves?*Cell Signal*.12(2):81-90, 2000
- Dodam JR, Olson NC, Friedman Differential effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and platelet activating factor on bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cells in vitro. *Exp Lung Res* 20 (2):131-41, 1994

Drab M, Verkade P, Elger M, Kasper M, Lohn M, Lauterbach B, Menne J, Lindschau C,
 Mende F, Luft FC, Schedl A, Haller H, Kurzchalia TV. Loss of caveolae, vascular dysfunction, and pulmonary defects in caveolin-1 gene-disrupted mice. *Science.* 293: 2449–2452, 2001

- Dudek SM, Garcia JG. Cytoskeletal regulation of pulmonary vascular permeability. J. Appl.
 Physiol. 91:1487–1500, 2001
- Dvorak AM, Feng D. The vesiculo-vacuolar organelle (VVO): a new endothelial cell permeability
 organelle. J Histochem Cytochem. 2001; 49: 419–432, 2001
- Engelman JA, Chu C, Lin A, Jo H, Ikezu T, Okamoto T, Kohtz DS, Lisanti MP Caveolin-mediated regulation of signaling along the p42/44 MAP kinase cascade in vivo. A role for the caveolin-scaffolding domain. *FEBS Lett* 428: 205-211, 1998a
- Essler M., Amano M, Kruse HJ, Kaibuchi K, Weber PC, Aepfelbacher M.. Thrombin inactivates myosin light chain phosphatase via Rho and its target Rho kinase in human endothelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:21867–21874, 1998
- Falk S, Göggel R, Heydasch U, Brasch F, Müller KM, Wendel A, Uhlig S. Quinolines attenuate
 PAF-induced pulmonary responses and edema formation. *Am J respir Crit Care Med* 160: 1734-42, 1999

Fan JY, Carpentier JL, van Obberghen E, Grundfeld C, GordenP, Orci L. Morphological
 changes of the 3T3-L1 fibroblastplasma membrane upon differentiation to the adipocyte from. *J Cell Sci* 61: 219-30, 1983

 Fanzo JC, Lynch MP, Phee H, Hyer M, Cremesti A, Grassme H, Norris JS, Coggeshall KM,
 Rueda BR, Pernis AB, Kolesnick R, Gulbins E. CD95 rapidly clusters in cells of diverse origins. Cancer Biol Ther. 2(4):392-5, 2003

Feng Y, Venema VJ, Venema RC, Tsai N, Behzadian MA, Caldwell RB VEGF-induced per meability increase is mediated by caveolae. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 40: 157-167, 1998

Ferrara N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the regulation of angiogenesis. *Kidney Int*.56(3):794-814, 1999

- Fra AM, Masserini M, Palestini P, Sonnino S, Simons K, De novo Formation of Caveolae in Lymphocytes by Expression of VIP21-Caveolin, *FEBS Lett* 375, 11-14, 1995
- Frank PG, Woodman SE, Park DS, Lisanti MP. Caveolin, caveolae, and endothelial cell function.
 Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.; 23: 1161–1168, 2003
- Franklin RA, Mazer B, Sawami H, Mills GB, Terada N, Lucas JJ, Gelfand EW. Platelet- activating factor triggers the phosphorylation and activation of MAP – 2 kinase and S6 peptide kinase activity in human b – cells lines. *J Immunol* 151: 1802-10, 1993
- Freichel M, Schweig U, Stauffberger S, Freise D, Schorb W, Flockerzi V. Store operated cation
 channels in the heart and cells of the cardiovascular system. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 9. 270-83, 1999
- Frohlich JC, Ogletree M, Peskar BA, Brigham KL. Pulmonary hypertension correlated to pulmonary thromboxane synthesis. *Adv Prostaglandin thromboxane Res;* 7:745-50, 1980
- Fujimoto T, Kogo H, Ishiguro K, Tauchi K, Nomura R Caveolin-2 is targeted to lipid droplets, a new "membrane domain" in the cell. *J Cell Biol* 152: 1079-1085, 2001
- **Fujimoto T, Nakade S, Miyawaki A, Mikoshiba K, Ogawa** K. Localization of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor-like protein in plasmalemmal caveolae. *J Cell Biol.*; 119: 1507–1513, 1992.
- Fukumura D, Gohongi T, Kadambi A, Izum Y, Ang J, Yun CO, Buerk DG, Huang PL, Jain RK.
 Predominant role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. *PNAS* 98: 2005-09, 2001
- **Fulton D, Gratton JP, Sessa W,** Post-translational control of eNOS, Why isn's calcium/calmodulin enough? *J. Pharma Exp Therap* 299:818-824, 2001
- Galbiati F, Razani B, Lisanti M, Emerging Themes in Lipid Rafts and Caveolae.Cell; 106,4,403 411, 2001
- Galbiati F, Volonte D, Engelman JA, Watanabe G, Burk R, Pestell RG, Lisanti MP. Targeted
 downregulation of caveolin-1 is sufficient to drive cell transformation and hyperactivate the p42/44
 MAP kinase cascade. *EMBO J.* 7(22): 6633–6648, 1998
- Garcia JG, Fenton JW, Natarajan V. Thrombin stimulation of human endothelial cell phospholipase D activity: regulation by phospholipase C, protein kinase C, and cyclic adenosine 3'5'-monophosphate. *Blood* 79:2056-2067, 1992.
- Garcia JG, Patterson C, Bahler C, Aschner J, Hart CM, English D. Thrombin receptor activating peptides induce Ca2+ mobilization, barrier dysfunction, prostaglandin synthesis, and platelet-derived growth factor mRNA expression in cultured endothelium. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 156:541–549, 1993.
- Garcia JG, Verin AD, Schaphorst K, Siddiqui R, Patterson CE, Csortos C, Natarajan V. Regulation of endothelial cell myosin light chain kinase by Rho, cortactin, and p60(src). *Am. J. Physiol.* 276:L989–L998, 1999.
- Garcia RC, Mari M, Morales A, Colell A, Ardite E, Fernandez-Checa JC. Human placenta sphingomyelinase, an exogenous acidic pH-optimum sphingomyelinase, induces oxidative stress, glutathione depletion, and apoptosis in rat hepatocytes.Hepatology. 32(1):56-65, 2000
- 84 Garcia-Cardena G, Fan R, Stern D, Liu J, Sessa WC. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is regu-

lated by tyrosine phosphorylation and interacts with caveolin-1. *J Biol Chem*. 271: 27237–27240, 1996

Garcia-Cardena G, Martasek P, Masters BS, Skidd PM, Couet J, Li S, Lisanti MP, Sessa WC.
 Dissecting the interaction between nitric oxide synthase (NOS) and caveolin. Functional significance of the nos caveolin binding domain in vivo. *J Biol Chem*. 272(41):25437-40, 1997

Garcia-Cardena G, Oh P, Liu J, Schnitzer JE, Sessa WC. Targeting of nitric oxide synthase to endothelial cell caveolae via palmitoylation: implications for caveolae localization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 93: 6448–6453, 1996

Garcia, JG., Siflinger-Birnboim A, Bizios R, Del Vecchio JP, Fenton JW, Malik AB. Thrombin induced increase in albumin permeability across the endothelium. J. Cell. Physiol. 128:96–10, 1986.

Garvey EP, Oplinger JA, Furfine ES, Kiff RJ, Laszlo F, Whittle BJ, Knowles RG 1400W is a slow, tight binding, and highly selective inhibitor of inducible nitric-oxide synthase in vitro and in vivo *J Biol Chem*, 272(8) 4959-63, 1997

Ghinea N, Fixman A, Alexandru D, Popov D, Hasu M, Ghitescu L, Eskenasy M, Simionescu
 M, Simionescu N. Identification of albumin-binding proteins in capillary endothelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 107: 231–239, 1988

- **Ghitescu L, Bendayan M.** Transendothelial transport of serum albumin: a quantitative immunocytochemical study. *J Cell Biol* 117: 745-755, 1992
- Ghitescu L, Fixman A, Simionescu M, Simionescu N. Specific binding sites for albumin restricted to plasmalemmal vesicles of continuous capillary endothelium: receptor-mediated transcytosis. *J Cell Biol.* 102: 1304-1311, 1986
- Gilbert-McClain Ll, Verin AD,Shi S., Irwin RP,Garcia JG. Regulation of endothelial cell myosin
 light chain phosphorylation and permeability by vanadate *J Cell Biochem*, 70 (1), 141-155, 1998
- Glenney J.; Tyrosine phosphorylation of a 22-kDa protein is correlated with transformation by Rous sarcoma virus. *J Biol Chem.* 264(34):20163-6, 1998
- Göggel R, Hoffman S, Nüsing R, Narumiya S, Uhlig S: Platelet-Activating Factor–induced Pulmonary Edema Is Partly Mediated by Prostaglandin E₂, E-Prostanoid 3-Receptors, and Potassium Channels Am J Respir and Crit. Care Med, 166. 657-662, 2002
- Göggel R, Uhlig S. The inositol trisphosphate pathway mediates platelet-activating-factor-induced
 pulmonary oedema. *Eur Respir* J.5:849-57, 2005

Göggel R, Winoto – Morbach S, Vielhaber G, Imai Y, Lindner K, Brade L & H, Ehler S, Slut sky AS, Schütze S, Gulbins E, Uhlig S. PAF-mediated pulmopnary edema: a new role for acid sphingomyelinase and ceramide. *Nat Med* 10 (2), 155-160 2004

- Gorin AB, Stewart Differential permeability of endothelial and epithelial barriers to albumin flux. *JAppl Physiol* 47: 1315-1324, 1979
- Grand RJ, Turnell AS Grabham PW. Cellular consequences of thrombin-receptor activation. *Biochem J.* 313 (Pt 2):353-68, 1996
- Grassme H, Jekle A, Riehle A, Schwarz H, Berger J, Sandhoff K, Kolesnick R, Gulbins E.
 CD95 signaling via ceramide-rich membrane rafts. *J Biol Chem.* 276(23):20589-96, 2001

- Grassme H, Jendrossek V, Bock J, Riehle A, Gulbins E.Ceramide-rich membrane rafts mediate
 CD40 clustering.J Immunol.168(1):298-307, 2002
- Grassme H, Jendrossek V, Riehle A, von Kurthy G, Berger J, Schwarz H, Weller M, Koles nick R, Gulbins E. Host defense against Pseudomonas aeruginosa requires ceramide-rich membrane rafts. *Nat Med.* 9(3):322-30. 2003
- **Grassme H, Schwarz H, Gulbins F.** Molecular mechanisms of ceramide-mediated CD95 clustering. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*.284(4):1016-30. 2001
- Griffoni C, Spisni E, Santi S, Riccio M, Guarnieri T, Tomasi V. Knockdown of caveolin-1 by antisense oligonucleotides impairs angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*; 276: 756-761, 2000
- **Gulbins E, Grassme H.** Ceramide and cell death receptor clustering. *Biochem Biophys Acta*. 1585(2-3):139-45, 2002
- Hagen TJ. Bergmanis AA, Kramer SW, Fok KF, Schmelzer AE, Pitzele BS, Swenton L, Jerome GM, Kornmeier CM, Moore WM, Branson LF, Connor JR, Manning PT, Currie MG, Hallinan EA. 2-Iminopyrrolidines as potent and selective inhibitors of human inducible nitric oxide synthase. *J Med Chem.* 41(9), 3675 -83, 199
- Hannun YA. The sphingomyelin cycle and the second messenger function of ceramide. *J Biol Chem*.269(5):3125-8, 1994
- He X, Miranda SR, Xiong X, Dagan A, Gatt S, Schuchman EH, Characterization of human acid
 sphingomyelinase purified from the media of overexpressing Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1432(2):251-64, 1999
- Held HD, Uhlig S. Endotoxin-induced airway and pulmonary vascular hyperreactivity is mediated
 by the thromboxane/endoperoxide-receptor in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 162. 1547-52, 2000
- Henley JR, Krueger EW, Oswald BJ, McNiven MA. Dynamin-mediated internalization of caveolae. *J Cell Biol.*; 141: 85–99, 1998
- **Henrikson KP, Salazar SL, Fenton JW, Pentecost BT** Role of thrombin receptor in breast cancer invasiveness. *Br J Cancer.* 79. 401-6, 1999
- Henson PM, Cocharne CH. Immunological induction of increased vascular permeability. II me chanisms of histamine release rabbit platelets involving complement. *J Exp. Med.* 129: 167, 1969
- Henson PM, Release of vasoactive amines from rabbit platelets induced by sensitized mononuclear leukozytes and antigen. *J Exp. Med.* 131: 287-306, 1969
- **Hinder F, Stubbe HD, Van Aken H, Waurick R, Booke M, Meyer J.** Role of nitric oxide in sepsisassociated pulmonary edema. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 159(1):252-58 1999
- Hirafuji M, Mencia-Huerta JM, Benveniste J. Regulation of PAF-acether (platelet-activating factor) biosynthesis in cultured human vascular endothelial cells stimulated with thrombin. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 930 (3), 359-6, 1987
- Honda Z, Takano T, Gotoh Y, Nishida E, Ito K, Shimizu T. Transfection platelet activating factor
 receptor actives mitogen actived protein (MAP) kinases and Map kinasein Chiniese hamster ovary cells. *J Biol Chem* 269: 2307-15, 1994
- Huang Q. Yuan Y. Interaction of PKC and NOS in signal transduction of microvascular hyperper meability. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 273/5: H2442-H2451, 1997

Huang YQ, Li J, Hu L, Lee M, Karpatkin S. Thrombin induces increased expression and secreti on of angiopoietin-2 from human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Blood*, 99:5, 1646-1650, 2002

Hurwitz R, Ferlinz K, Sandhoff K. The tricyclic antidepressant desimpramine causes proteolytic
 degeneration of lysosomal sphingomyelinase in human fibroblasts. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler*. 375, 447-50 1995

- Huwiler A, Johansen B, Skarstad A, Pfeilschifter J, Ceramide binds to the CaLB domain of cytosolic phospholipase A₂ and facilitates its membrane docking and arachidonic acid release, *FASEB*. 15:7-9. 2001
- Huwiler A, Kelter T, Pfeilschifter J, Sandhoff K, Physiology and pathophysiology of sphingolipid
 metabolism and signaling. *Biochem Biophys Act*a.1485: 63-99, 2000
- Igarashi J., Hemant S. Thatte Prabhakar P, Golan DE., Michel T.Calcium-independent activation
 of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by ceramide. *Cell Biol* 96:22, 12583-12588, 1999
- Isshiki M, Anderson R. Function of caveolae in Ca2+ entry and Ca2+ dependent signal transduction *Traffic* 4: 717-723. 2003
- **123** Isshiki M, Anderson RG. Calcium signal transduction from caveolae. *Cell Calcium*. 26: 201–208, 1999

Jacobson , BS. Schnitzer JE. Mc Caffery. Pallade GE. Isolation and partial characterisation of

124 the luminal plasmalemma of microvascular endothelium from rat lungs. *Eur J. Cell. Biol* 58, 296-306, 1992

Jacobson BS, Branton D. Plasma membranes: Rapid isolation and exposure of the cytoplasmic
 surface by use positively charged beads. *Science* 195. 302-304, 1977

Jacobson, S. Chaney, L. Coating cells with colloidal silica for high yield isolation of plasma mem brane sheets and identification of transmembrane proteins"; *J. Biological Chemistry*; Vol 258; No 16, 10062-72, 1983

Jayadev S, Petranka JG, Cheran SK, Biermann JA, Barrett JC, Murphy E, Reduced Capacitat-

127 ive Calcium Entry Correlates with Vesicle Accumulation and Apoptosis, *J Biol Chem*, 274, (12), 8261-8268, 1999

JohnTA, Vogel SM, Tiruppathi C, Malik AB, Minshall RD. Quantitative analysis of albumin up-

- 128 take and transport in the rat microvessel endothelial monolayer. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 284: L187-L196, 2003
- **Jorgensen K, Stoffersen E**. Heparin like activity of albumin. *Thromb Res*, 16:573, 1979.
- Jorgensen K, Stoffersen E. On the inhibitory effect of albumin on platelet aggregation. *Thromb* Res ;17:13, 1980
- **131** Ju H, Venema VJ, Liang H, Harris MB, Zou R, Venema RC. Bradykinin activates the Janus-activated kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathway in vascular endothelial cells: localization of JAK/STAT signalling proteins in plasmalemmal caveolae. *Bio*-

chem J. 351: 257-264, 2000

132 Ju H, Zou R, Venema VJ, Venema RC. Direct interaction of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase and caveolin-1 inhibits synthase activity. *J Biol Chem*.;272(30):18522-5, 1997

Jung SY. Kwak Jo. Kim HW. Kim DS. Ryu SD. Ko CB. Cha SH. Calcium sensing recptor forms

133 complex with and is upregulated by caveolin -1 in cultured human osteosarcoma (Saos-2) cells. *Exp.Ml.Med*.37:2, 91-100 2005

Kamen B, Smith A, Anderson RGW The folate receptor works in tandem with a probenecid sensitive carrier in MA 104 cells in vitro. *J Clin Investig* 87: 1442-1449, 1991

- Kao SJ, Peng TC, Lee RP, Hsu K, Chen CF, Hung YK, Wang D, Chen HI. Nitric oxide mediates
 lung injury induced by ischemia-reperfusion in rats. *J Biomed Sci.*;10(1):58-64, 2003
- Karnovsky MJ. The ultrastructual basis of capillary permeability studied with peroxidase as tracer.
 J Cell Biol. 35, 213-236, 1967
- Kawabe J, Okumura M, Lee MC, Sadoshima J, Ishikawa Y "Translocation of caveolin regulates
 stretch-induced ERK activity in vascular smooth muscle cells" *2. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 286: H1845-H1852, 2004;
- Kawkitinarong K. Linz-McGillem L. Birukov KG. Garcia JG. Differential regulation of human
 lung epithelial and endothelial barrier function by thrombin. *Am J Respir. Cell Mol Biol* 31: 517-22, 2004

Kevil CG, Payne DK, Mire E, Alexander JS. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial cell
 growth factor-mediated permeability occurs through disorganization of endothelial junctional proteins. *J Biol Chem* 273: 15099-103, 1998

- Kim MJ, Dawes J, Jessup W. Transendothelial transport of modified low-density lipoproteins.
 Atherosclerosis. 108: 5–17, 1994
- Kimura K, Ito M, Amano M, Chihara K, Fukata Y, Kaibuchi K, Regulation of myosin phosphatase by Rho and Rho associated kinase (Rho-kinase) *Science* 273: 245-48, 1999

Kogo H, Ishiguro K, Kuwaki S, Fujimoto T. Identification of a splice variant of mouse caveolin-2
 mRNA encoding an isoform lacking the C-terminal domain. Arch Biochem Biophys.;401(1):108-14, 2002

- **143** Kolch W, Kotwaliwale A, Vass K, Janosch P., The role of Raf kinases in malignant transformation. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine Cambridge University* press, 2002
- **Kolesnick R, Fuks Z**, Ceramide: a signal for apoptosis or mitogenesis? *J Exp Med*.181(6):1949-52, 1995
- Kolesnick RN, Haimovitz-Friedmann A, Fuks Z. The sphingomyelin signal transduction pathway
 mediates apoptosis for tumor necrosis factor, Fas, and ionizing radiation. *Biochem Cell Biol.* ;72(11-12):471-4, 1994
- Kolesnick RN. Goni FM. Alosono A. Compartimentalization of ceramide signaling: physical foundations and biological effects. *J Cell Physiol* 184: 285-300, 2000
- Koval M, Pagano R. Intracellular transport and metabolism of sphingomylin. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1082 (2) 113-25, 1991

Kuebler WM, Uhlig U, Goldmann T, Schael G., Kerem A., Exner K., Martin C., Volkmer E. Uh Iig S. Stretch activates nitric oxide production in pulmonary vascular endothelial cells in situ. Am *J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 1391-1398, 2003

- **149 Kunzelmann-Marche C, Freyssinet JM, Martínez MC**, Regulation of phosphatidylserine transbilayer redistribution by store-operated Ca²⁺ entry *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, (7), 5134-5139, 2001
- Kurzchalia TV, Dupree P, Monier S. VIP21-Caveolin, a protein of the trans-Golgi network and ca veolae.*FEBS Lett.* 346(1):88-91, 1994
- Landies EM. Pappenheimer JR. Exchange of substances through the capillary walls. *Handbook* of *Physiology*. Circulation., 2:II, 961-1034, 1963

Lang K, Suttner S, Boldt J, Kumle B, Nagel D. Volume replacement with HES 130/0.4 may reduce the inflammatory response in patients undergoing major abdominal surgery. *Can J Anaesth.* 50(10):1009-16, 2003

Lang PA, Kempe DS, Tanneur V, Eisele K, Klarl BA, Myssina S, Jendrossek V, Ishii S, Shimizu T, Waidmann M, Hessler G, Huber SM, Lang F, Wieder T. Stimulation of erythrocyte ceramide formation by platelet-activating factor. *J Cell Sci* 118 (6):1233-43, 2005

- **154 Laposata M, Dovnarsky DK, Shin HS**., Thrombin-induced gap formation in confluent endothelial cell monolayers in vitro. Blood. 62(3):549-56, 1983
- **155** Lin W, Hsu, Y., Cycloheximide-induced cPLA(2) activation is via the MKP-1 down-regulation and ERK activation., 12(7):, 457-461, 2000
- Lindner K, Uhlig U, Uhlig S. Ceramide alters endothelial cell permeability by a nonapoptotic
 mechanisms. *Brit J Pharma* 145: 132-40, 2005
- Liou JY, Deng WG, Gilroy DW, Shyue SK, Wu KK Colocalization and interaction of cyclooxy genase-2 with caveolin-1 in human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 276: 34975-34982, 2001
- Lisanti MP, Scherer PE, Vidugiriene J, Tang Z, Hermanowski-Vosatka A, Tu YH, Cook RF,
 Characterization of caveolin-rich membrane domains isolated from an endothelial-rich source: implications for human disease. *J Cell Biol*, 126: 111-126, 1994
- Liu J, Lee, F. Galbiati, R. N. Kitsis, and M. P. Lisanti. Caveolin-1 expression sensitizes fibroblastic and epithelial cells to apoptotic stimulation. *Am. J. Cell Physiol.* 280:C823-C835, 2001
- Liu J, Oh P, Horner T, Rogers RA, Schnitzer JE. Organized endothelial cell surface signal transduction in caveolae distinct from glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored protein microdomains. *J Biol Chem.* 272: 7211-7222, 1997
- Liu P, Anderson RG, Compartmentalized production of ceramide at the cell surface. J Biol Chem.;270(45):27179-85, 1995
- Liu X, Wang W, Sing BB, Lockwich T, Jadlowiec J, O`Connel B, Wellner R, Zhu MX, Ambud kar IS. TRP 1, a candidate protein for the store-operated Ca 2+ influx mechanism in salivary gland cells. *J Biol Chem*. 275. 3403-11, 2000
- Liu, P., Y. Ying, Y. G. Ko, and R. G. Anderson. Localization of platelet-derived growth factor-stimulated phosphorylation cascade to caveolae. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:299-310, 1996.
- Lockwich TP, Liu X, Singh BB, Jadolwiec J, Weiland S, Ambudkar IS. Assembly of Trp 1 in a signaling complex associated with caveolin scaffolding lipid rafts domains. *J Biol Chem.* 275, 11934-42, 2000

Lu YT, Hellewell PG. Evans TW. Ischemia-reperfusion lung injury: contribution of ischemia, neutrophils, and hydrostatic pressure . *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 273: L46-L54, 1997

Luberto C, Hannun YA. Sphingomyelin synthase, a potential regulator of intracellular levels of ceramide and diacylglycerol during SV40 transformation. Does sphingomyelin synthase account for the putative phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C? *J Bio Chem* 273: 14550-14559, 1998

- Machleidt T, Kramer B, Adam D, Neumann B, Schütze S, Wiegmann K, Krionke M. Function
 of the p55 tumor necrose factor , death domain" mediated by phosphatidylcholine-spezific phospholipase .*C. J Exp Med* 184: 725-733
- **168** Malik AB, Fenton JW. Thrombin-mediated increase in vascular endothelial permeability. Seminars thrombosis hemostatsis; 18: 193-199, 1992
- Malik AB, Lo Sk., Bizios R., Thrombin-induced alterations in endothelial permeability *Ann N Y Acad Sci.*;485:293-309, 1986
- Malik AB, Perlman MB, Cooper JA, Noonan T, Bizios R. Pulmonary microvascular effects of arachidonic acid metabolites and their role in lung vascular injury. *Fed Proc*;44:36-42, 1985
- Marathe S, Schissel SL, Yellin MJ, Beatini N, Mintzer R, Willians KJ, Taba I. Human vascular
 endothelial cells are a rich and regulatedable source of secretory sphingomyelinase. *J Biol Chem* 273, 4081-88, 1998

Marathe S. Schisslel SL. Yellin MJ. Beatini N. Mintzer R. Williams KJ. Tabas I. Human vascular endothelial cells are rich and regulatable source of secretory sphingomylinase. Implications of early atherogenesis and ceramide-mediated cell signaling. *J Biol Chem* 273: 4081-8, 1998

- Martin C, Göggle R, Ressmeyer AR, Uhlig S: Pessure responses to platelet-activating factor and thromboxane are mediated by Rho-kinases. *Am J Pphysiol Lung Cell mol Physiol*, 287, L250, 2004
- Martin GS Fluid balance and colloid osmotic pressure in acute respiratory failure: emerging clinical
 evidence. *Crit Care.* 4, S21-25, 2000
- Matsumoto K, Taki F, Kondoh Y. Platelet activating factor in bronchalveolar lavage fluid of patients with adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Clin exp pharmacol physiol* 19: 509-15, 1992
- 176 Matthay MA. Conference summary: acute lung injury. *Chest;* 116:Suppl: 119S-126S, 1999
- Mayor S, Sabharanjak S, Maxfield FR Cholesterol-dependent retention of GPI-anchored proteins in endosomes. *EMBO (Eur Mol Biol Organ) J* 17: 4626-4638, 1998
- McDonald DM, Thurston G, Baluk P. Endothelial gaps as sites for plasma leakage in inflamma tion. *Microcirculation*. 6(1):7-22, 1999
- McIntosh DP, Tan XY, Oh P, Schnitzer JE, Targeting endothelium and its dynamic caveolae for tissue-specific transcytosis in vivo: a pathway to overcome cell barriers to drug and gene delivery. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99(4):1996-2001, 2002

McNamara CA, Sarembock IJ, Gimple LW, Fenton JW, Coughlin SR, Owens GK. Thrombin stimulates proliferation of cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells by a proteolytically activated receptor. *J Clin Invest* 91. 94-98, 1993

- **181** Melkonian KA, Ostermeyer AG, Chen JZ, Roth MG, Brown DA. Role of lipid modifications in targeting proteins to detergent-resistant membrane rafts. *J Biol Chem*, 274 (6): 3910-17, 1999
- 182 Metha D, Malik AB. Signalling mechanisms regulating endothelial permeability. *Physiol Rev.* 86:

280-367, 2006

- **183** Michel JB, Feron O, Sacks D, Michel Th, Reciprocal regulation of endothelial Nitric-oxide synthese by Ca²⁺-calmodulin and caveolae. *J. Bio Chem* 272: 155583-15586, 1997
- Michel RP, Hakim TS, Chang HK.Pulmonary arterial and venous pressures measured with small catheters in dogs. *J Appl Physiol.* ;57(2):309-14, 1984
- Milici AJ, Watrous NE, Stukenbrok H, Palade GE. Transcytosis of albumin in capillary endothelium. *J Cell Biol* 105: 2603–2612, 1987
- Mineo C, James GL, Smart EJ, Anderson RGW. Localization of EGF-stimulated Ras/Raf-1 inter action to caveolae membrane. *J Biol Chem* 271: 11930-11935, 1996
- Minshall RD, Tiruppathi C, Vogel SM, Niles WD, Gilchrist A, Hamm HE, Malik AB. Endothelial
 cell-surface gp60 activates vesicle formation and trafficking via G(i)-coupled Src kinase signaling pathway. *J Cell Biol* 150: 1057-1070, 2000
- **188 Miolta JM, Jeffery PK, Hellewell PG**, platlet-activating factor plays a pivotal role in the induction of experimental lung injury. *Am Respir Cell mol Biol* 18: 197-200, 1998
- Montesano R, Roth J, Robert A, Orci L Non-coated membrane invaginations are involved in binding and internalization of cholera and tetanus toxins. *Nature (Lond)*296: 651-653, 1982
- Montrucchino G, Alloatti G, Camussi G. Role of platelet- activating factor in cardiovascular
 pathophysiology. *Physiol. Rev* 80: 1669-1699, 2000
- Moore TM, Chetham PM, Kelly JJ, Stevens T. Signal transduction and regulation of lung en dothelial cell permeability: interaction between calcium and cAMP. *Am J Physiol* 275:L203-L222, 1998

Murray JF, Matthay MA, Luce JM, Flick MR. An expanded definition of the adult respiratory dis-

- **192** tress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis. 138(3):720-723, 1988
- Nakors G., Kitsiouli EL, Tsangaris I, Lekka ME. Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid characteristics of early intermediate and late phases of ARDS. Alteration in leukocytes, proteins, PAF and surfactant components. *Intensiv Care Med* 24: 296-303, 1998
- **Naseem KM.** The role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular diseases. *Mol Aspects Med*;26(1-2):33-65, 2005
- **Nicholson GL, Singer SJ,** The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. *Science,* 175(23), 720-731, 1972
- **196** Nilius B, Droogmans G. Ion channels and their functional role in vascular endothelium. *Physiol Rev.* 81: 1415-1459, 2001

197 Ninio E, Tregouet D. Carrier JL, Stengel D, Perret C, Rupprecht HJ, Cambien F, Blankenberg
 S, Tiret L. Platelet-activating factor-acetylhydrolase and PAF-receptor gene haplotypes in relation to future cardiovascular event in patients with coronary artery disease Human molecular genetics 13: 1341-51, 2004

 Nishiyama K, Trapp BD, Ikezu T, Ransohoff RM, Tomita T, Iwatsubo T, Kanazawa I, Hsiao
 KK, Lisanti MP, Okamoto T. Caveolin-3 upregulation activates beta-secretase-mediated cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci.*;19(15):6538-48, 1999.

O'Brien PJ, Prevost N, Molino M, Hollinger MK, Woolkalis MJ, Woulfe DS, Brass LF Thrombin Responses in Human Endothelial Cells Contributions from receptors other than PAR1 include the transactivation of PAR2 by thrombin - cleaved PAR1. J Biol Chem, 275 (18), 13502-13509, 2000

Obeid LM, Hannun YA. Ceramide: a stress signal and mediator of growth suppression and apoptosis. J Cell Biochem. 58(2):191-8, 1995

Oh P, McIntosh DP, Schnitzer JE. Dynamin at the neck of caveolae mediates their budding to form transport vesicles by GTP-driven fission from the plasma membrane of endothelium. *J Cell Biol.* 141: 101-114, 1998

Oh P, Schnitzer JE. Segregation of heterotrimeric G proteins in cell surface microdomains. G_q
 binds caveolin to concentrate in caveolae, whereas G_i and G_s target lipid rafts by default. *Mol Biol Cell.* 12: 685-698, 2001

Ohanian J, Ohanian V, Sphingolipids in mammalia cell signalling. *Cell Mol Life Sinc.* 58: 2053-68, 2001

Okamoto T, Schlegel A, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP. Caveolins a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing `preassembled signaling complexes`at the plasma membrane. *J Biol chem* 273: 5419-22, 1998

Olivera A, Buckley NE, Spiegel S .Sphingomyelinase and cell-permeable ceramide analogs stimulate cellular proliferation in quiescent Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem. 267(36):26121-7, 1992

 Orucevic A. Lala PK. NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester, an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis, ameliorates interleukin 2-induced capillary leakage and reduces tumour growth in adenocarcinomabearing mice. *Br J Cancer*,73(2):189-96, 1996

- 207 Padron JM, Sphingolipids in anticancer therapy. Curr Med Chem.;13(7):755-70, 2006
- Palade GE, Simionescu M, Simionescu N. Structural aspects of the permeability of the mi crovascular endothelium. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 463: 11-32, 1979
- **Palade GE**. An electron microscope study of the mitochondrial structure. J Histochem **209** Cytochem.1(4):188-211, 1953

Pappenheimer JR, Soto-Rivera A.. Effective Osmotic Pressure of the Plamsa Proteins and other
 Quantities Associated with the Capillary Circulation in the Hindlimbs of Cats and Dogs. *Am. J. Physiol.* 152: 471-491, 1948.

- 211 Parton R. Life without caveolae. Science, 293: 2404-05, 2001
- **Parton RG, Joggerst B, Simons K**. Regulated internalization of caveolae. *J Cell Biol*.127(5):1199-215, 1995

Peng X, Abdulnour RE, Sammani S, Ma SF, Han EJ, Hasan Ej, Garcia JG, Hasoun PM. Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase Contributes to Ventilator-induced Lung Injury. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* 172(4) 470-9, 2005

Piper PJ, Stewart AG. Coronary vasoconstriction in the rat, isolated perfused heart induced by platelet-activating factor is mediated by leukotriene C4. *Br J Pharmacol.* 88 (3):595-605, 1986

Pittet JF, MacKersie RC, Martin TR, Matthay MA. Biological markers of acute lung injury: pro gnostic and pathogenic significance. *AM J Resprir Crit Care Med*;155:1187-205, 1997

Portanova JP, Zhang Y, Anderson GD, Hauser SD, Masferrer JL, Seibert K, Gregory SA,
 Isakson PC. Selective neutralization of prostaglandin E₂ blocks inflammation, hyperalgesia, and interleukin 6 production in vivo. *J Exp Med* 184:883-891, 1996

Predescu D, Vogel SM, Malik AB. Functional and morphological studies of protein transcytosis in continuous endothelial. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 287: L895-L901, 2004

Predescu D., Predescu S., Shimizu S., Miyawaki-Shimizu K, Malik AB. Constitutive eNOS-de rived nitric oxide is a determinant of endothelial junctional integrity. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 289: L371-L381, 2005

Predescu SA, Predescu DN, Palade GE. Plasmalemmal vesicles function as transcytotic carriers
 for small proteins in the continuous endothelium. *Am J Physiol*. 272(2 Pt 2):H937-49, 1997

Prescott SM, Zimmermann GA, McIntry TM. Human endothelial cells in culture produce platelet activating factor when stimulated with thrombin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 81: 3534-38, 1997

Qiao RL, Bhattacharya J. Segmental barrier properties of the pulmonary microvascular bed. *J Appl Physiol.* 71(6):2152-9, 1991

Qiao RL, Ying X, Battacharya J. Effects of hyperoncotic albumin on endothelial barrier properties
 of rat lung. *Am J Physiol*. 265: H198-H204, 1993.

Razani B, Engelman JA, Wang XB, Schubert W, Zhang XL, Marks CB, Macaluso F, Russell RG, Li M, Pestell RG, Di Vizio D, Hou H Jr, Kneitz B, Lagaud G, Christ GJ, Edelmann W, Lis-

- **223** anti MP. Caveolin-1 null mice are viable but show evidence of hyperproliferative and vascular abnormalities. *J Biol Chem.* 276: 38121-38138, 2001
- Razani B. Woodmann SE, Lisanti MP. Caveolae: from cell biology to animal physiology. *Pharma Rev.* 54:431-467, 2002
- **Reddan JR, Dziedzic DC, McGee SJ.** Thrombin induced cell divison in rabbit lenses cultured in a completelydefined serum-free medium. *Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci* 22. 486-93, 1992

 Renooij W, Snyder F. Biosynthesis of 1-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycero-phosphocholine (platelet activating factor and a hypotensive lipid) by cholinephosphotransferase in various rat tissues. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 663: 545-556, 1989

Rizoli, SB. Crystalloids and Colloids in Trauma Resuscitation: A Brief Overview of the Current Debate. *JTrauma* 54(5) S82-S88, 2003.

 Rizzo V, McIntosh DP, Oh P, Schnitzer JE. In situ flow activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase
 in luminal caveolae of endothelium with rapid caveolin dissociation and calmodulin association. J Biol Chem. 273: 34724-34729, 1998

Rizzo V. Morton C. De Paola N. Schnitzner JE . Davies PF. Recruitment of endothelial caveolae
 into mechanotransduction pathways by flow conditioning in vitro. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 285(4):H1720-9, 2003

Romiti E, Vasta V, Meacci E. Farnararo M. Linke T. Ferlinz K. Sandhoff K. Bruni P. Character isation of sphingomylinase activity released by thrombin stimulated platelets. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 205: 75-81, 2000

Rothberg KG, Heuser JE, Donzell WC, Ying YS, Glenney JR, Anderson RG. Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats. *Cell.* 68(4):673-82, 1992

232 Rothberg KG, Ying YS, Kolhouse JF, Kamen BA, Anderson RG The glycophospholipid-linked

folate receptor internalizes folate without entering the clathrin-coated pit endocytic pathway. *J Cell Biol* 110: 637-649, 1990

- Royall JA, Berkov RL, Beckmann JS, Cunningham MK, Matalon S, Freemann BA. Tumor
 necrose factor and interleukin 1 alpha increase vascular permeability. *Am J Physiol* 257: L399-410, 1989
- **Rustenbeck I, Lenzen S**, Quantification of hexadecylphosphocholine by high-performance thinlayer chromatography with densitometry. *J Chromatogr* 525: 85-91, 1990
- Sang YJ, Kwak JO, Hyun-Woo K, Kim DS, Ryu SD, Ko CB, Cha S Calcium sensing receptor forms complex with and is up-regulated by caveolin-1 in cultured human osteosarcoma (Saos-2) cells. *Exp and Mol Med.* 37: 91-100, 2005
- Sattayaprasert P, Choi B, Chongthammakun S, McLarnon J. Platelet activating factor enhancement of calcium influx and interleukin 6 expression, but not production, in human microglia. *J Neuroinflam* 2-11, 2005
- Schaefer M, Plant AG, Obukhov T, Hoffmann T, Gundermann T, Schultz G. Receptor-mediated regulation of the non-selective cation channels TRPC4 and TRPC5, *J Biol. Chem.* 275, 17517-17526, 2000
- **238** Scheid P. Atmung . In: Lehrbuch der Physiologie, edited by Klinke R., Silbernagel S. Stuttgart: Georg Thieme Verlag, 218-272, 2001
- Schierhout G, Roberts I. Fluid resuscitation with colloid or crystalloid solutions in critically ill patients: a systematic review of randomised trials. *BMJ*. 316:961–964, 1998

Schissel SL, Jiang X, Tweedie-Hardman J. Jeong T. Camejo EH., Najib J. RappJH, Williams
 K. Tabas I. Secretory sphingomyelinase , a product of the acid sphingomyelinase gene, can hydrolyze atherogenic lipidproteins at neutral pH. Implications for artherosclerotic lesion development. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273 2738-2746, 1998

Schissel SL. Schuchman EH. Williams KJ. Tabas I. Zn²⁺-stimulated sphingomyelinase is secreted by many cell types and is a Product of the acid sphingomyelinase gene. *J Biol Chem* 271:31. 18431-18436, 1996

Schlondorff D, Satriano JA, Hagege J, Perez J, Baud L. Effect of platelet-activating factor and serum-treated zymosan on prostaglandin E2 synthesis, arachidonic acid release, and contraction of cultured rat mesangial cells. *J Clin Invest.* 73(4): 1227–1231, 1984

Schnitzer JE, Carley WW, Palade GE. Albumin interacts specifically with a 60-kDa microvascular
 endothelial glycoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A.;85(18):6773-7, 1988

- Schnitzer JE, Carley WW, Palade GE. Specific albumin binding to microvascular endothelium in culture. *Am J Physiol*. 254(3 Pt 2):H425-37, 1988
- Schnitzer JE, Liu J, Oh P. Endothelial caveolae have the molecular transport machinery for ves icle budding, docking, and fusion including VAMP, NSF, SNAP, annexins, and GTPases. J Biol Chem. 270: 14399–1440, 1995

 Schnitzer JE, Oh P, Jacobson BS, Dvorak AM. Caveolae from luminal plasmalemma of rat lung
 endothelium: microdomains enriched in caveolin, Ca²⁺-ATPase, and inositol trisphosphate receptor. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. 92: 1759-1763, 1995

247 Schnitzer JE, Oh P, Pinney E and Allard J, Filipin-sensitive caveolae-mediated transport in endothelium: Reduced transcytosis, scavenger endoctytosis and capillary permeability of select macromolecules. J Cell Biol 127: 1217-1232, 1994

Schnitzer JE, Oh P. Albondin-mediated capillary permeability to albumin. Differential role of receptors in endothelial transcytosis and endocytosis of native and modified albumins. *J Biol Chem.* 269(8):6072-82, 1994

Schnitzer JE. Gp60 is an albumin-binding glycoprotein expressed by continuous endothelium involved in albumin transcytosis. *Am J Physiol* 262: H246-54, 1992

Schubert W, Frank PG, Razani B, Park DS, Chow CW, Lisanti MP, Caveolae-deficient en dothelial cells show defects in the uptake and transport of albumin in vivo. *J Biol Chem.* ;276(52):48619-22, 2001

 Schubert W, Frank PG, Woodman SE, Hyogo H, Cohen DE, Chow CW, Lisanti MP. Microvascular hyperpermeability in caveolin-1 (-/-) knock-out mice: treatment with a specific nitric-oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NAME, restores normal microvascular permeability in Cav-1 null mice. *J Biol Chem.* 277: 40091-40098, 2002

Schütze S, Potthoff K, Machleidt T, Berkovic D, Wiegmann K, Kronke M TNF activates NF kappa B by phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C-induced "acidic" sphingomyelin break down. *Cell.* 71(5):765-76, 1992

Schwab W, Galbiati F, Volonte D, Hempel U, Wenzel KW, Funk RH, Lisanti MP, Kasper M;
 Characterisation of caveolins from cartilage: expression of caveolin-1, -2 and -3 in chondrocytes and in alginate cell culture of the rat tibia.Histochem. *Cell Biol*.112(1):41-9, 1999

Shah V. Cao S. Hendrickson H. Yao J. Katusic ZS. Regulation of hepatic eNOS by caveolin and calmodulin after bile duct ligation in rats. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 280: 6, G1209-G1216, 2001

 Shah V. Toruner M. Haddad F. Cadelina G. Papapetropoulos A. Choo K. Sessa WC. Groszmann RJ. Impaired endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity associated with enhanced caveolin binding in experimental cirrhosis in the rat . *Gastroenterology* 117:5. 1222-8, 1999

Shaul PW, Smart EJ, Robinson LJ, German Z, Yuhanna IS, Ying YS, Anderson RGW, Michel
 T. Acylation targets endothelial nitric-oxide synthase to plasmalemmal caveolae. *J Biol Chem.* 271: 6518-6522, 1996

Shulka SD. Inositol phospholipid turnover in PAF transmembrane signalling. *Lipids* 26, 1028-33, 1991

Sibbald WJ, Driedger AA, Wells GA, Myers ML, Lefcoe M: The short-term effects of increasing plasma colloid osmotic pressure in patients with noncardiac pulmonary edema. Surgery, 93:620-633, 1983

Siflinger-BirnboimA, Schnitzer J, Lum H, Blumenstock FA, Shen CP, Del Vecchio PJ, Malik
 AB. Lectin binding to gp60 decreases specific albumin binding and transport in pulmonary artery endothelial monolayers. *J Cell Physiol* 149: 575–584, 1991

Simionescu N. Enzymatic tracers in the study of vascular permeability. *Histochem Cytochrom.* (8):1120-30, 1979

Simionescu N. The microvasculae endothelium: segmental differentiations; transcytosis, selective distribution of anionic sites. In: advances in inflammatory research, edited by Weissmann G, Samuelson B, and Paoletti R, *New York: Raven*, 61-70, 1979

262 Singer SJ. Molecular organisation of biological membranes, In: Structure and function of biological

membranes. Ed. L.i. Rothfield, New York. Academic Press: 145-222, 1971

- Siraganian RP, Olser AG. Destruction of rabbit platelets in the allergic response of sensitized
 leukozytes. Demonstration of a fluid phase intermediate . *J Immunol* 106: 1244, 1971
- **Siskind LJ, Colombini M**. The lipids C2- and C16-ceramide form large stable channels. Implications for apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*. 275(49):38640-4, 2000.
- Smith PK, Krohn RI, Hermanson GT, Mallia AK, Gartner FH, Provenzano MD, Fujimoto EK,
 Goeke NM, Olson BJ, Klenk DC Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. *Anal Biochem*; 150(1):76-85, 1985
- Stang E, Kartenbeck J and Parton RG. Major histocompatibility complex class I molecules mediate association of SV40 with caveolae. *Mol Biol Cell* 8: 47-57, 1997
- 267 Staub N. The pathogenesis of pulmonary edema. *AM Rev. Resp. Di*s 109:358, 1974
- Sugimoto Y, Narumiya S, Ichikawa A. Distribution and function of prostanoid receptors: studies
 from knockout mice. *Prog Lipid Res*, 39:289-314, 2000

Sun FF, Czuk CI, Taylor BM. Arachidonic acid metabolism in guinea pig eosinophils: synthesis of thromboxane B2 and leukotriene B4 in response to soluble or particulate activators. *J Leukoc Biol.* ;46(2):152-60, 1989

- 270 Sun RJ. Muller S. Stoltz JF. Wang X. Shear stress induces caveolin-1 translocation in cultured endothelial cells. *Eur Biophys J*. 30:8, 605-11, 2002
- Sun RJ. Muller S. Zhuang Fy. Stoltz JF. Wang X. Caveolin-1 redistribution in human endothelial cells induced by laminar flow and cytokine. *Biorheology* 40(1-3): 31-39, 2003
- **Suttorp N, Weber U, Welsch T, Schudt C**. Role of phosphodiesterases in the regulation of endothelial permeability in vitro. *J Clin Invest* 91: 1421-28, 1993
- **Tabas I.** Secretory sphingomyelinase. *Chem Phys Lipids*: 102:123-30, 1999
- Takacs T, Czako L, Morschl E, Laszlo F, Tiszlavicz L, Rakonczay Z Jr, Lonovics J. The role of nitric oxide in edema formation in L-arginine-induced acute pancreatitis. *Pancreas*.25(3):277-82., 2005
- Takei K and Haucke V Clathrin-mediated endocytosis: membrane factors pull the trigger. *Trends Cell Biol* 11: 385-39, 2001
- **Taylor AE, Martin D, Parker JC**. The effects of oxygen radicals on pulmonary edema formation. *Surgery* 94: 433-38, 1983
- Teixeira CF, Farmer P, Laporte J, Jancar S, Sirois P. Increase permeability obf bovine aortic en dothelial cell monolayers in response to a thromboxane A2-mimetic. *Agents actions Suppl* 45:47 52,1995
- Tinsley JH, De Lanerolle P.,Wilson E., Ma W.,Yuan SY. Myosin light chain kinase transference
 induces myosin light chain activation and endothelial hyperpermeability. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 279: C1285-C1289, 2000

Tirumppathi C, Feichel M, Paria BC, Vogel SM, Metha D, Flockerzi V, Malik AB. Impairment of
 SOC Ca²⁺ entry in TRPC4^{-/-} mice interferes with increase in lung microvascular permeability. *Circ Res.*, 91, 70-76, 2002

280 Tirumppathi C, Minshall RD, Paria BC, Vogel SM, Malik AB. Role of Ca 2+ signaling in the reg-

ulation of endothelial permeability. Vascul Pharmacol. 39(4-5):173-85, 2002

- Tiruppathi C, Song W, Bergenfeldt M, Sass P Malik AB. GP60 activation mediates albumin transcytosis in endothelial cells by tyrosine kinase-dependent pathway. *J Biol Chem* 272: 25968-25975, 1997
- Trouet D, Nilius B, Jacobs A, Remacle C, Droogmans G, Eggermont J. Caveolin-1 modulates
 the activity of the volume-regulated chloride channel. *J Physiol.* 520 (1): 113-119, 1999
- **Tschugguel W, Zhegu Z, Gajdzik L, Maier M, Binder B, Graf J.** High precision measurement of electrical resistance across endothelial cell monolayers. *Europ J Physiol*, 430: 145-147, 1995
- Tsymbalov S, Hagen TJ, Moore WM, Jerome GM, Connor JR, Manning PT, Pitzele BS, Hal linan EA. 3-Hydroxy-4-methyl-5-pentyl-2-iminopyrrolidine: a potent and highly selective inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor. *Bioorg Med Chem LETT*. 12(22) 3337-9, 2002
- Ugele B, Lange F. Isolation of endothelial cells from human placental microvessel: Effect of different proteolytic enzymes on releasing endothelial cells from villous tissue. In Vitro Cell Dev Bio Animal: 37. 408-413, 2001
- 286 Uhlig S, Featherstone RL, Wilhelms OH, Wendel A. Effect of urodilatin on platelet-activating factor-induced bronchoconstriction, vasoconstriction and edema formation in isolated rat lung. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 354: 684–688, 1996.
- 287 Uhlig S, Göggel R, Engel S; Mechanisms of platelet-activating factor PAF-mediated responses in the lung. *Pharma Reports* 57: 206-221, 2005
- **288 Uhlig S, Heiny O**., Measuring the weight gain of the isolated perfused rat lung during negative pressure ventilation, *J. Pharmacol Toxicol Methods.* 33: 147-152, 1995
- Uhlig S, Nüsing R, von Bethmann A, Featherstone RL, Klein T, Brasch F, Müller KM, Ullrich
 V, Wendel A. Cyclooxygenase-2-dependent bronchoconstriction in perfused rat lungs exposed to endotoxin. *Mol Med* 2: 373-383, 1996
- **290** Uhlig S, Reppien E, Die Bedeutung von Sphingolipiden für die Pathophysiologie der Lunge. *Intensivmed* 43:247-251, 2006
- **291 Uhlig S, von Bethmann AN**. Determination of vascular complince, interstitial compliance and capillary filtrations coefficient in isolated perfused rat lungs. *J Pharm Tox Meth* 32. 119-27, 1997
- Uhlig S, Wolllin L, Wendel A. Contributions of thromboxane and leukotriene to PAF-induced
 impairment of lung function in the rat. *Am Physol Society*. 262-69 1994
- **293** Uhlig U, Haitsma JJ, Goldmann T, Poelma DL, Lachmann B, Uhlig S. Ventilation-induced activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Eur Respir J*. 20(4):946-56, 2002
- **294** Uhlig, S. Wollin, L. An inproved septum for the isolated rat lung; *J Pharmacol Toxicol Method*, 1994
- 295 Uhlig, S., Tayler AE, The isolated perfused lung, *Methods in pulmonary pharmacology*;1998
- Vasile E, Qu H, Dvorak HF, Dvorak AM. Caveolae and vesiculo-vacuolar organelles in bovine capillary endothelial cells cultured with VPF/VEGF on floating Matrigel-collagen gels. J *Histochem Cytochem*. 47: 159-167, 1999
- Vasile E, Simionescu M, Simionescu N. Visualization of the binding, endocytosis, and transcytosis of low density lipoprotein in the arterial endothelium in situ. *J Cell Biol.* 96: 167-1689, 1983
- Velanovich V. Crystalloid versus colloid fluid resuscitation: a meta-analysis of mortality, *Surgery* ;105(1):65-71, 1989

Venema VJ, Ju H, Zou R and Venema RC) Interaction of neuronal nitric-oxide synthase with ca veolin-3 in skeletal muscle. Identification of a novel caveolin scaffolding/inhibitory domain. *J Biol Chem* 272: 28187-28190, 1997

Vlahos CJ, Matter WF, Hui KY, Brown RF. A specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). *J Biol Chem* 269:5241-5248, 1994

Volonte D, Galbiati F, Li S, Nishiyama K, Okamoto T, Lisanti MP. Flotillins/cavatellins are differentially expressed in cells and tissues and form a hetero-oligomeric complex with caveolins in vivo. Characterization and epitope-mapping of a novel flotillin-1 monoclonal antibody probe. *J Biol Chem* 274: 12702-12709, 1999

- Wang JH, Sun GY. Platelet activating factor (PAF) antagonists on cytokine induction of iNOS and sPLA2 in immortalized astrocytes (DITNC). *Neurochem Res.* 25(5) 613-9, 2000
- Wakerlin GE Jr, Benson GV, Pearl RG.A thromboxane analog increases pulmonary capillary
 pressure but not permeability in the perfused rabbit lung. *Anesthesiology Sep*;75(3):475-80, 1991
- Wade CE, Kramer GC, Grady JJ, Fabian TC, Younes RN. Efficacy of hypertonic 7.5% saline
 and 6% dextran-70 in treating trauma: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical studies. *Surgery* 122: 609-16, 1997

Wang W, Danielsson A, Svanberg E, Lundholm K. Lack of effects by tricyclic antidepressant and serotonin inhibitors on anorexia in MCG 101 tumor bearing mice with eicosanoid-relation cachexia. *Nutrition.* 19(1) 47-53, 2003

- **306** Ware LB, Matthay MA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 342:1334-49, 2000
- **307** Watanabe K. Nakagawa H. Tsurufuji S. A new sensitive fluorometric method for measurement of vascular permeability. *J Pharmacol Methods*. 3. 167-76, 1984:
- **308** Waypa GB, Vincent PA, Morton CA, Minnear FL, Thrombin increases fluid flux in isolated rat lungs by a hemodynamic and not a permeability mechanism. *J Appl Physiol* 80: 1197-1204. 1996
- **Webber, RK. Metz S, Moore WM, Connor JR, Currie MG.** Substitued 2-Iminopiperidines as Inhibitors of Human Nitric Oxide Synthase Isoforms. *J Med Chem*, 41(1):, 96-101, 1998
- Wei Z, AI Mehdi AB, Fisher AB. Signaling pathway for nitric oxide generation with simulated
 ischemia in flow-adapted endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 281(5):H2226-32, 2001
- 311 Wiegmann K, Schutze S, Machleidt T, Witte D, Kronke M. Functional dichotomy of neutral and acidic sphingomylinases in tumor necrosis factor signaling. *Cell* 78: 1005-1015, 1994
- **312** Wilkes MM, Navickis RJ. Patient survival after human albumin administration. A meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Ann Intern Med.*135: 149-64, 2001
- Wysolmerski RB., Lagunoff D. Regulation of permeabilized endothelial cell retraction by myosin
 phosphorylation, *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 261: C32-C40, 1991
- Yamada E. The fine structure of the gall bladder epithelium of the mouse. *J Biophys Biochem* 314 *Cytol.* 1(5):445-58, 1955
- Yang J, Yu Y, Sun S, Duerksen-Hughes PJ. Ceramide and other sphingolipids in cellular responses. *Cell Biochem Biophys*. 40(3):323-50, 2004
- **316** Yang N, Huang Y, Jiang J, and Stuart J. Frank. "Caveolar and lipid raft localization of GH receptor and its signaling elements: impact on GH signaling " *J. Biol. Chem*, 10.1074-78, 2004

Yu P, Hatakeyama T, Aramoto H, Miyata T, Shigematsu H, Nagawa H, Hobson RW, Duran
 WN. Mitogen-activated protein kinases regulate platelet-activating factor-induced hyperpermeability. *Microcirculation* 12(8), 637-43, 2001

- Young JM, Maloney PJ, Jubb SN, Clark JS. Pharmacological investigation of the mechanisms of platelet-activating factor induced mortality in the mouse. *Prostaglandins*. 30 (4):545-51, 1985
- Yu W, Cassara J, Welle PF. Phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase localizes to cytoplasmic lipid bodies in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes and other myeloid-derived cells *Blood*, 95 (3). 1078-1085, 2000

Zhu L, Schweiger-Berry D, Castranova V, He P. Internalization of caveolin-1 scaffolding facilitated by Antennapedia homeodomain attenuates PAF-induced increase in microvessels permeability. *Am J Physiol Heart Cic Physiol* 286:H195-H205, 2003

Zundel W, Giaccia A. Inhibition of the anti-apoptotic PI(3)K/Akt/Bad pathway by stress. *Genes Dev.*12 (13) 1941-1946, 1998

Zundel W, Swiersz LM, Giaccia A Caveolin 1-mediated regulation of receptor tyrosine kinaseassociated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity by ceramide. *Mol Cell Biol* 20: 1507-1514, 2000

EIKE REPPIEN

Gerichtstr.45

22765 Hamburg

Telefon: 040-38699396

Persönliche Angaben	
Geburtstag:	23.10.1972
Geburtsort:	Rostock, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
Staatsangehörigkeit:	deutsche Staatsbürgerschaft
1979-1989	10. Klassige Allgemeinbildende Polytechnische
	Oberschule, in Rostock
1989-1992	Höhere Medizinische Berufsfachschule, Ausbildung
	zur Medizinisch-technischen Laborassistentin
	(Note: "gut"), in Greifswald
1992-1995	Abendgynasium, Abitur, in Rostock
1995-1998	Universität Rostock
	Studium der Biologie/Vordiplom
1998-2002	Freie-Universität Berlin
	Studium der Biologie/Diplom (Note: "gut")
08/01-03/02	Diplomarbeit am Robert Koch-Institut
	bei Prof. Dr. R. Burger, Abteilung "Zelluläre
	Infektabwehr",
	Thema: "Charakterisierung von
	Differenzierungsantigenen auf Leukozyten des
	Meerschweinchens mit Hilfe von monolklonalen
	Antikörpern" (Note: 1,8), in Berlin
seit 01/2003	Promotion bei Prof. Dr. S. Uhlig
	Abteilung Lungenpharmakologie
	Forschungszentrum Borstel, Leibniz Institut für
	Medizin und Biowissenschaften